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RACHEL WAS UNNECESSARY . 
By C. K. THOMPSON 

During the blitz in London it should h�ve been 
an easy matter to dispose of a body. Mr. Dobkin, 
however, had been a· bungler all his life and in 

this case it called for the extreme penalty. 

THROUGHOUT the centuries numerous opt1m1st1c evildoers 
have planned the perfect crime but as police records show, 

very few have got away with it. Students of crime have given up 
remarking that the crook always makes one mistake-it is so pa­
tently stressing the obvious. 

It was back in 1941, when London was taking it from the 
Luftwaffe, that Harry Dobkin, casting round for ways and means 
of ridding himself of a nuisance of a wife, hit on a scheme that, 
with the involuntary aid of Hitler's winged hordes, he had high 
hopes of bringing to a successful conclusion. And he nearly, but 
not quite, made it. 

In his early days, Dobkin, who was a Russian Jew not greatly 
endowed with brains, was a steward on small coastal boats trading 
around the British Isles, and doing all right for himself. In 1920 
he decided to get married, but not knowing any suitable girls he 
applied to a marriage broker who ran a thriving business among 
London's Jewish population. The broker had on his books a 
Jewish woman named Rachel Dubinski, and he asmred Dobkin 
that she would suit him fine. She was amiable, had a few pounds 
of her own, was not bad-looking, and wanted a husband. 

Glancing over these specifications, Dobkin considered that 
Rachel was just what the doctor ordered, so he instructed the 
broker to unleash her. A meeting was arranged and Dobkin was 
satisfied. So was Rachel, though there were certain ill-disposed 

· creatures who told her that she would be marrying beneath her to 

i 



:r . .uwrs DETECTIVE STORIES 

take on ship's steward Dobkin. Rachel told them to mind their 
own interference or words to that effect, and the Rabbi got busy 
with the prayer book, tying Rachel and Harry tightly and expedi­
tiously. 

It was not very Jong before Harry discovered that the knot was 
too darned tight. Rachel was all right during their brief courting 
days, but a brief experience of her as a spouse soo'n convinced him 
that the marriage brok-er was a liar and guilty of false pretences. 
The erstwhile \fiss Dubinski was a bad-tempered harridan who 
gave Mr. Dobkin the rounds of the kitchen so much that after a 
bare six weeks of marital bliss, he dumped her. .Mrs. Dobkin went 
home to mother and Dobkin pursued his rounds of the British' 
coast on s)1ips, alternating between being a steward and a cook. 
The Jewish community, being very cla1my and stick-togetherish, 
deplored this parting ol the ways and endeavoured to bring the 
pair together again. They succeeded partially-meetings were 
arranged between Rachel and Harry, but they did not live together 
agai11. R.ichel ,,·otdd have pulled it on, but not Harry. He'd 
had married life. 

Now although the marriage had lasted only six weeks, it had 
proved that Dobkin ,,:as a man-Rachel had a son b�· him. The 
lad does not come into this ston·, so after that introduction we 
can dismiss him. 

The years rolled on and on. Dobkin continued his shipping 
duties and Rachel and he used to meet occasionallv on street 
corners and in cheap restaurants for a cup of cofl'ee and an 
acrimonious discussion. The subject mostly was about money. 
As soon as Harry dumped her six week after marriage.· she 
had sued him in court and had obtained a maintenance order 
against him for £1 a week. Dobkin paid a few quid and then 
passed it up, piling up a beautiful sum in arrears. Crook times 
befell him in the shipping world and the court obligingly reduced 
the maintenance order to 10/- a week. The magistrate could have 
reduced it to l /- a week without worrying Harry. Hr didn't pay 
in any case-or extremely rarely. 

When the war broke out in 1939, Dobkin was living with his 
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parents and married sister in the far trom salubrious London 
suburb of Kennington while Rachel was roosting in a fiat at 
Bethnal Green-another unprepossessing suburb. Dobkin's main 
source of income now was derived from hawking-bootlaces, boxes 
of matches, aprons and so on, and acting as a ki11d of middle­
man in the tailoring trade. His modus operandi was to buy odd 
articles such as trouser: pockets from a backroom workshop and 
sell them at a small profit. It was tough going. 

The war proved a bit of a godsend to Dobkin, however. He 
managed to land a _job as a fire-watcher and nightwatchman 
from a firm of London solicitors who had a small building at 
302 Kennington Lane, Kennington, in which they stored docu­
ment_s and legal records. Dobkin's job was to keep an eye on this 
store and if it got blown up in the blitz or set on fire, to take 

· appropriate steps. For this job he received H a week and he 
thought that he was in hettven. 

It was a dreary-enough neighbourhood. The store itself was 
intact when Dobkin took over, but its two adjacent buildings. a 
Baptist church and a school, had already been blitzed and were 
mere shells. 

Dobkin, armed with his metal scoop and bucket of sand. took 
over a comfortable armchair in the store on April 3, I 911, and 
waited for the Luftwaffe to give him some work to do. 

On Good Friday (April 11) a: policeman on duty near the 
Baptist Church noticed smoke coming from the ruined chapel and 
decided to investigate. He ran into Dobkin. 

"What goes on around here?" he asked. "There ain't been an 
air raicJ." 

"I don't know," exclaimed Dobkin. "I didn't do it." 
"\\Tho said you did," snorted the policeman. "\\'ho are you, 

anyway?" 
''I'm a fire-watcher over there at that building," replied Henry. 

"It's a terrible blaze, isn't it? ·1 saw flames coming out of the vestry 
and chucked .a bucket of water over it. Then I called the brigade." 

"Good work," said the bobby approvingly. 
The over-worked fire bngade put out the Hames without much 
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damage having been done: The Baptist parson came along and 
gave the place the once-over. He penetrated into the cellar 
beneath the vestry and was intrigued to see a straw mattress which 
had been ripped up. Strange thing to be there, he pondered, but 
no doubt sori1ebody had used it as a safe sleeping place away from 
the blitz. Later on the clergyman returned to the cellar and had 
another gander. ' This time he saw a heap ol earth on the floor . 
with a garden fork stuck in it. Possibly somebody had used it 
to clear away the rubbish, he· thought. Next morning he found 
Dobkin poking around the place and Harry told him a highly 
egotistical story of how he had seen the fire and tried to put it out; 
and when he had found it beyond him, had called the fire brigade. 
The parson congratulated Harry on his vigilance. 

One thing the parson did not.e was this-the garden fork had 
done the vanishing trick. 

On ·Easter Saturday-the day after the Baptist Church fire­
the Kennington police receiveda visit from :'vliss Polly Dubinski, 
who informed them that he1 si�ter, �rrs. Rachel Dobkin, had dis­
appeared. It was not a novel complaint. In war-torn London 
people were disappearing ·daily, some never to return, except 111 
�mall pieces. But there had not been an air raid for a day or 
two, so the police listened to �Iiss Dubinski's tale of ,,·oe with 
more than usual attention. 

It appeared that i\rrs. Dobkin and her sister were on the most 
affectionate terms. They lived ·near each other and Mrs. Dobkin 
was an almost daily visitor to the Dubinski menage, \vhere Polly 
lived with her mother. It had been arranged that Rachel should 
have lunch with them on Good Friday and stay the nigh_t. "J�he 
lunch came off and then Polly had to return to work. She did 
not get back home until 5.30 p.m. and when she did her mother 
told her that Rachel had gone out but would certainly be back. 
She waited in for her sister, but she did not return. Polly, rather 
concerned, went round to Rachel's flat early next morning and 
found that the place "·as empty and the bed had not been 
slept in. That was enough for Polly. She sa,\' the police. 

Polly told the listening cops that Rachel was suffering from an 
internal complaint which, she thought, had been caused by· her· 
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RACHEL WAS UNNECESSARY 

husband giving her a belting. Rachel's life had been wrecked 
by her husband and it was possible that she had lost her memory 
or had committed suicide. 

Now the police happened to know a bit about Dobkin, who 
. they regarded as a rather inoffensive customer. Certainly he had 
been summonsed by his wife on a number of occasions for assault, 
but in every instance the magistrate had tossed the case out because 
of the weak evidence. In fact it• had hen hinted more than once 
that i f  any punches had been thrown among the Dobkins, the 
recipient most likely would have been Harry, not Rachel. 

The pol i_ce told Pol ly not to worry about it. Tbey would look 
up friend Dobkin and see if he knew anything. They would 
also make the usual inquiries in regard to missing persons. 

They did so but their inquiries did not produce the missing 
Rachel ;  so on April 1 5  they dropped in to quiz Harry. No, he 
didn't know where Rachel was. He hadn't -seen her for a few days. 

"She lives in Bethnal Green in a flat," he said. "She gets it rent 
free, too, because the occupier is a friend of hers." 

The police were not - interested in any possible intrigues. They 
,\•,rnted to know when Harry last saw his wife and if she was in 
good order and condition at the time. 

" I t  was on Good Friday," said Harry. "I was walking along 
Navarino Road, going to sell some aprons, and I saw my wife at 
the corner of T\'avarino Road and Graham Road." 

"\\That time would this be?"' a5ked the detective. 
" I t  would be b"tween 2 o'clock and 3 o'clock." 
"Did you expect to see her there?" 
"\Vei l ,  no, but it was obvious that she was waiting for me." 
"What did you do?" 

\ " I  told her not to hang around there and cause trouble ·as my 
mother ,vas very i l l .  She then asked me where she could see me 
aqd I asked her to meet me in a couple of hours' time outside 
the i\Ietropol i tan Hospital in Kingsland Road. She said, 'All 
right. I ' l l  bring the boy along. He is home for the Passover.' " 

"What boy · did she refer to?" 
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"Our son. He was born about n ine months after our marriage." 
"\Vhere does he live?" 
"\Vell, as far as I know, he has always lived with his mother." 
"Did she turn up for the appointment?" 
"Yes, and she did not have the boy with her." 
"Well, wl1at did you do in between leaving your wife on the 

corner and meeting her outside· the hospi tal?" 
."After I left nw wife," said Dobki n, "I went to Chapel Street 

Markets and tried to sell some aprons. I also took nine sin�le 
pockets from 95 Liverpool Street, lsl i ngton, and a dozen l in ings. 
The woman at that address is an outdoor worker and I gave her 
I /6 for her work. l ,net my wife outside the l\fetropolitan Hos­
pi ta l  and she told me that her brothrr 1':athan was gett ing engaged 
to be married on Apri l 1 3; which is the Sunday of the Passover. 
She said I cou ld go to the invitation party i f  I made my peace 
with her. She also asked me to go back and l ive with her but I 
refused to do so." 

"\\That did she ·say to that?" 
"She told me that if I did not make peace with her, that she 

wou ld make trouble for me." 
"\\'J1ere did this conversation take place? In the street?" 
"No, we ·were sittmg in a tea shop opposite the hospi tal .  She 

spoke in low tones but was a bit hysterical. After she made her 
threat about mak ing trouble for me, I told her to calm down and 
'that I wou ld consider peace if she would cairn do,vn and go home. 
She drank her cup of tea and we left the shop. On the way out 
she said she did not feel well and was gorng ·to her mother's house 
to I isten to the wireless." . ' 

Dobkin added that as they walked up Kingsland Road, Mrs. 
Dobkii1 again complained of not feel ing well and told him that � 
i f  he wanted to, he could go to her flat any time· he l iked. 

"As she was sti l l  upset, I promised to consider returning . to 
· her," he went on. "Then she got on a 22 bus going to Shoredi tch 

and that was the last time I saw her. \Ve parted on qui te good 
terms." 
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"\Vere you serious about going back to her?" 
'. 'No, I was not," said Dobkin frankly. "I had no intention of 

making peace with her or going to her brother's engagement 
party. 1 have had too much trouble with my wife before. 1 
only met her to try to stop her coming round to Navarino Road 
upsetting my parents. I know nothing about my wife's disappear­
ance. I think she must have gone out of her mind. I f  1 get any 
information about her I will notify you at once." 

The pok·e had no reason to suspect Dobkin and let him go. 
They -checked up 011 his "·ork and learned of the Baptist Church 
fire. It looked a b i t  suspicious. so they examined the cellar under 
the chapel. Beneath the floor they made an interesting discovery · 
-a trench six feet long and two feet wide. But it was empty and · 
there was nothing else in the place to suggest that a murder had 
been committed. 

I t  must be admitted that the police were a bit unenthusiastic 
over the case: There was 1 10 evidence to suggest that l\ frs. Dobkin 
had been violently done :nray w i th and in any case, ·Britain was at 
war and the pol ice had a thousand other duties to perform without 
having to solve a seemingly mythical murder. 

But befqre they finally pigeon-holed the case, they decided to tie 
up the loose ends bv getting Dobkin to detail his movements from 
the time his wile boarded the bus to Shorl!ditch. 

Dobktn was quite open about it. He said that after his wire left 
him he boarded a bus ;ind went to the home of l\Ir. Shine in 
Artillery Lane where he mid a pocket with a zip fastener for l / 6  
to· i\frs. Shine. He J1ad made this himself. About G.30 p.m. he 
boarded a �o. 665 bus in Commercial Street and went to Chrisp 
Street :\ farket in Poplar to buy a coat and pair of trousers for his 

' father. The market was closed, so he caught a bus to Aldgate 
and from there went bv train to Victoria Station, ·where he boarded 
a tram to 302 Kennington Lane-the scene of his fire-spotting 
duties. He got there about 8. 1 0  p.m. and stayed there all night. 
Next morning he went back to Chrisp Sreet :\ farkets and duly 
bought his· old man the coat and pants. 

This second interview with the police took place on April 18  
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and dealt with Dobkin's movements on April 1 1 . On April 1 2  
a person picked u p  a handbag i n  the post office at Guildford in 
Surrey, not so far from London, and handed it to the police. I t  
was identified from its contents as belonging to ;\ [rs. Dobkin. 
Dobkin, without any visits from, or pr.omptings by · the . police, 
wrote them a letter detailing his movements on April 1 2  and 
asserting that he had never left London on that date. The pol ice 
had never asked him to tell them where he had been on April 1 2  
but Dobkin got i n  first, without knowing that the bag- had been 
found. It was an incident that helped a great deal in putting 
the rope round his neck. 

Another attempt by Dobkin to close up all gaps told heavily 
against him when the case for the prosecution was being prepared 
later. Right through his married life he had been the world's 
worst payer of maintenance to his wife, but since she disappeared, 
he never missed a week, trotting along to the courthouse and kick­
ing in his ten hob as regular as a clock. His aim was to sho;,· that 
he thought his wife was al_ive and would collect. 

N othing new was unearthed by the police _ so they tossed the 
matter aside. \ rrs. Dobkin, l ike a lot of other people, had vanish­
ed. Maybe she would turn up again; maybe not. In the meantime, 
there was a war to be fought. 

And so t ime pa•d. Dobkin's job as a fire-watcher finished in 
\lay, 1942, when the firm of solicitors made other arrangements , 
for the storage of their records. Henry did in H a week and had 
to exist on what he could make trom hawking. As against that, 

· t-here was no Rachel always getting on hi� back and snootering 
him around the place. 

During the war in London gangs of workers "·ere continually 
employed in clearing away wreckage, filling in bomb craters and 
generally tidying up the place after Hitler's minions had - been at 
work and in due course one of these gangs reached Kennington 
Lane, the scene of Dobkin's labors. 

\Vhen they reached the battered Baptist Church they set to 
work on the cellar and soon had it in shape aF,ain. But they were 
intrigued to find a large paving stone in  one corner. ,vhat the 
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heck was that doing there? The floor ol the cellar was boarded. 
The gang decided to throw the stone out. The floor boarding had 
gone in this particular spot and the stone was resting on the earth. 
It was heavy going but they raised the thing and then nearly had 
a blue fit. U nderneath the stone they found a partly-burned body, 
somewhat preserved in slaked lime. The gang was used to finding 

,. corpses in ru i ns, · but this one did not bear the earmarks of an 
air raid victim. 

The workmen dragged ttt'e bits of corpse and bones out on to 
the floor and let the police know. The police carted the remains 
away to the morgue and turned them over to a pathologist. He, 
i n  turn, turned in a report which the police found most interest­
ing. 

·n1e body was that of a woman aged between forty and fifty, 
about five feet and half an inch in height, dark brown hair going 
grey, the top jaw somewhat malformed. The bottom jaw was 
missing. The head and arms had been clumsily removed and the 
deceased had �uffered from a fibroid tumor. Death had occurred 
about twelve or eighteen months previously and the body had 
been partly burned . It had been packed in slaked lime which,· 
unlike quick-lime which ate �way flesh, had acted as a preservative. 

Checking up on \frs. Dobkin, the police learned that she was 
48 years old, was about five feet in height and had hair similar to 
that found on the body . .  -\ dentist who had. attended her proved 
from his written records that the_ malformed top jaw of the 
corpse undoubtedly belonged to Mrs. Dobki n. 

A police officer called upon Dobkin and before he could get 
a word out, Dobkin said, "What, have you found my wife?" 

"There is .enry reason to believe that her body has been dis­
covered i n  the chapel next to the building where you were once 
watchman," replied the officer formally. "I must ask you to ac­
company me to the police station . . .  " 

Dobkin did so and while there wrote a statement which, to say 
the least of it, was a triHe incoherent and rambling. It ran, "Dear 
sir,-In respect to what you say that my wife has been found 
dea<l or murderecl and that you say I know something that I'm 
holding back fr01� the police, I am sorry to say that I cannot say 
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anything different to the statements at Commercial Road Police 
Station. These statements are not false. Mv statements are the 
same to anyone who is concerned. Also I d/2 reckon I may have 
been stopped with a bundle of aprons ·  at Kennington Lane by 
Sergeant Fry of Kennington Lane Police. That I reported to l\ I r. 
Bulcraig and Davis, including Mr. Farmer of Post No. 7 Dorris 
Street, that 302 Kennington Lane is in disorder." 

The police took him along to Ken;nington Lane and questioned 
him about paving stones and mattresses. They reminded him that 
a mattress had been seen in the church cellar by the Baptist 
parson on the day of the fire and Dobkin admitted having seen 
two mattresses around 302 Kennington Lane. He denied, however, 
having ever seen any lime there. The police showed him two 
paving stones in the yard, similar to the one found over his wife's 
body and asked him to comment. Dobkin's comment was th4t he 
would never strangle a woman or hit one. Some men might, he 
sa id, but not him. The police noted silently that nobody had 
mentioned strangling to friend Dobkin. 

Dobkin was arrested and charged with having murdered his 
·wife. He was committed for trial and duly faced judge and j ur y  
a t  the Old Bailey. The Crown Prosecutor was the brilliant l\fr. 
L. A. Byrne, K.C. Dobkin's friends and relatives offered to finance 
leading counsel for his defence, but Dobkin, tough as he might 
be in some respects, declined to permit them to make the sacrifice. 
The Home Office, therefore, provided him with free legal assis­
tance, alloting a young barrister, Mr. F. H. Lawton , the brief. 

Evidence fm the defence rested almost entirely upon whether 
the body found in the Baptist chapel was, in fact, that of l\ Jrs. 
Dobkin and in this  connection, the famous case of Dr. Buck 
Ruxton was referred to freely and a ·book written by Professor 

_ John Glaister of Glasgow University and Professor Brash, noted 
Edinburgh anatomist, was often quoted from. 

(Dr. Buck Ruxton murdered his wife and maid servant, cu t up 
their bodies and threw them, in parcels, into a river in Scotland 
in 1 935. The bones of the two bodies were pieced together by 
Professor Brash and he and Professor Glaister proved anatomically 
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that they belonged to .Mrs. Ruxton and the maid Mary Rogerson. 
The experts achieved their greatest triumph when they photo­
graphed the two skulls  and by superimposing a studio portrai t  of 
l\Irs. Ruxton over each. identified one skull as that of Mrs. Ruxton. 
The full story of Dr. Ruxton's crime was published in "Famous 
DetectiYe Stories" New Series No. 4 as "l'he Doctor Who Talked 
Too :\I  uch.") 

l\ fain witness for the prosecution was the experienced London 
pathologist, Dr. Cedric Simpson, who had examined the remai ns 
found in the Baptist chapel.  Measurements, he said, showed that 
the body was that of a woman five Feet and ha l f  an inch in height. 
The state of the sku l l  and examination of the bones by x-ray, 
taking into consideration changes which wou ld occur in bone 
formatio,i over the years, placed the age of the deceased at between 
forty and fifty. The neck and the spine had been curved forward 
and as tl1is had not been caused by any disease, i t  was apparent 
that the body had been doubled up or bent to make it fit in to a 
confined space. There was an injury on the back of the head and 
this could have been caused in se,·eral ways-in a fall, by being 
struck or by being knocked against a wa l l  or a Aoor. A fracture 
of the voice box could have been caused by strangulation-in 
fact, the doctor sa id, such an injury was invariably presen t  in 
strangling cases. 

Dr. Simpson added that the head and arms had been cut off 
by somebody ignoran t  of surgery. 

" Instead of the head being cut off by somebody, could i t  not 
ha\'e been severed by, say, a workman's spack?" asked defence 
counsel. 

" I  cannot exclude that possibility. but I found nothing to suggest 
that tha t was so," replied the doctor. 

"Now, regarding this curved neck and spine to which you haYe 
referred. Is there not a possibility that the condition was a con­
genita l one existing in l ife?" 

" �o. I t  was possible to straighten the neck, whereas had i t  been 
a congenital condition, the neck wou ld ha\'e shown bone abnor­
ma lities," said Dr. Simpson. 
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"Take rheumatoid arthritis," said Mr. Lawton. "This condition 
admittedly causes some flattening and thickening of bone tissue 
and therefore would result in curvature of the upper spine and 
neck. If you got somebody who is slightly neurotic, shall we say, 
and makes a lot of a slight condition of rheumatoid arthritis, · 
would they not tend, more than a normal person, to carry their 
shoulders and neck in a bent position?" 

"The curvature would be in the opposite direction to this," 
replied the doctor. "That is to say, the head would be bent  back 
i n  order to keep the face up. In this case the curvature was 
forward." 

"A . person with that degree of curvature in life would be 
conspicuous?" 

"Yes." 
"Have a look at this photo of Mrs. Dobkin," said counsel, 

showing the doctor a print. "Anyone with a curved spine of the 
type you have described would certainly , not be looking like Mrs. 
Dobkin?" 

"That is so," agreed the doctor, "and that is why I have described 
i t  as occurring after death." 

Counsel then asked, "Do you think that perhaps you may have 
come to the conclusion on the ground that it could not possibly 
be Mrs. Dobkin if she had got a curved neck like that in life?" 

"No," said Dr. Simpson. "I examined the neck to establish 
whet.her or not it was present in life." 

"If it was, it would amount to this: if it were present in life . it 
could not have been :Mrs. Dobkin?" 

"But it was not present in life," exclaimed Dr. Simpson. 
"That," said Mr. Lawton, "is not the question I asked you. If it 

was present in life it could not be Mrs. Dobkin?" 
"But I am not prepared to consider the question whether it was 

present in life, because I found evidence to show that i t  was not," 
said the doctor. 
oc- ''Could not the head have been stripped of flesh by rats?" 

"I cannot exclude that possibility, of course." , J 
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Dr. Simpson told how, with the · a id' qf a photograph of l\frs . •  
Dobk in, which had been enlarged from a holiday snapshot, he had 
prm ed that the sku ll  belonged to i\frs. Dobkin. The enlarged 
photo 'had been fitted over a photograph of the skull and had 
ta l l iecl exactly. Be had used the method of Professor Glaister 
.and Brash in the Ruxton case . 

.. J ll their medico-legal book on that case, the two scientists hav<_; 
sta ted that there was never any intention of attempting to prove . 
identitv." said counsel. "Two bodies were found in the Ruxton 
case arid the photographic method was used only t<> 1:i_1ake certai n  
tha t the right skull was placed on each reconstructed skeleton. 
Yet ,·,ou say that the photograph of Mrs. Dobkin, which was an 
e1,1 la rgement of a hol iday snapshot, and the photograph of the 
skul l  together helped you to make a decision ·as to identity?" 

"Yes," said Dr. Simpson. 
" .-\nd a positive decision?" 
"Yes." 
"i.\'mr, may 1 turn again to a passage of Professor Glaister's 

, book and see what you have to say about that. It reads: 'Owing 
to the novelty of the method and the uncertainty of some parts 
ot the technique, a positive identification of the skulls, no matter 
how close a correspondence of sku lls and portraits were obtained, 
wou ld have been open to very grave objection.' Do you agree with 
tha t, Dr. Sir"pson?" 

" I  think i t  has an element of truth. It is open to objection. 
It is being used in order to give assistance in identification, not to 
J>ro,·e identification.'' 

" I t  is _just part of the circumstantia l  evidence?" 
" I t  · is not circumstantial." 
"You say it is direct?" asked counsel. 
"lt  is scientific evidence," answered Dr. Simpson. 
E\'idence of arrest and Dobkin's statements to the police was 

given and Mrs. Dobkin's sister Polly Dubinski related the story of 
her sister missing froin the Good :Friday celebration:-. 
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• Asked by defence counsel what the height of Mrs. Dobkin was, 
Miss Dubinski replied, "About five feet one inch." 

"I suppose you had to use the word 'about' because you were 
not quite sure?" asked Mr. Lawton. 
· Miss Dubinski replied that she was not quite positive, but Rachel 
was about h'er own height. 

"And your sister's hair had been very dark?" 
"Yes." 
"But not jet black?" 
"No." 

. 

The dentist who had done work for Mrs. Dobkin was called 
and_ readily identified the condition of the j aws found in the 
cellar as co�responding to the dental work he had carried out. 

Another link in the chain was supplied by th� woman who ran 
the cafe opposite the hospital in which Dobkin had met his wife 
on the last occasion they had been seen togetl)er. This woman 
identified Dobkin, and his wife by description. 

When Dobkin entered the witness box he did not make an 
impressive figure. His squat figure with i ts large bald head, black 
eyes, br.oad nose and big ears made him no entrant for a beauty 
competition. He told the court that the statements he had made 
to the police were true and that he did not know where his wife 
was. Also that he certainly had not murdered her. 

But under the smashing attack of the Crown Prosecutor, he 
retracted part of his evidence. He said that his statemen� in which 
he alleged that he was walking along Navarino Road to s�ll aprons 
was in.accurate. He was not selling aprons. 
' "I do not accept those statements," he informed Mr. Byrne. 

"Is the jury to accept these statements as containing the truth, 
or not?" demanded Mr. Byrne. 

"These statements are a mistake," said Dobkin. "The police 
told me under threats tlfat if I don' t  admit that I 'd killed my 
wife, or I'd taken my wife, or what I've done, they will  hang me ... 
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"And you ask the jury to bel ieve- that, do you?" asked the Crown 
Prosecutor. 

"I certainly do," said Dobkin. 
Dobkin also admitted under pressing cross-examination that 

although he was pai� as a fire-watcher, he had omitted to advise 
the nearest warden's post of the fire in the Baptist Church until � 
after the fire brigade was actually _ on the scene. 

Mr. Lawton asked that Miss Dubinski be . .recalled to the witness 
box and when this was done, he showed her an advertisement 
about l\frs. Dobkin which she had inserted in the '_'Missing Persons'' 
column of a newspaper. This said, am,mg other things, . . .  "height, 
about 5ft. 3ins." 

"Where did that come from?" he asked and Miss Dubinski said 
she didn't know. 

In reply to a cw_esti�n by the �rown Prosec�tor, , she s_aid th�t 
she was a very !rad Judge of height and must have given the 
newspaper description in ' error. 

Defence counsel made much of the fact that in bygone tears 
the site of the Baptist chapel had been used as a cemetery and i t  
was possible that a l l  o f  the bones found had not belonged t o  the 
one body. He also tried to cast doubt on the efficiency of the 
photo test as a means of identification, stressing ·the point that 
distortion was l iable to take place in the photographic process. 
The photo of the skul l  had been taken by the head of the photo. 
graphic department of. a _ famous London hospital, whereas the 
snapshot of Mrs. Dobkin had been taken casually  on the beach: 

The Crown endeavored to rule out the possibil i ty that the body 
found i n  the chapel was that of a stranger. Figures showed that 
nobody had been l isted as missing for 1 8  months prior to the 
discovery of the remains. 

The defence maintained that there was no positive evidence to 
show that the body was Mrs. Dobkin•s and even if there was, there 
was no proof that her husband had murdered her. 

The jury took only 25 minutes to find the map, guilty of murder 
and the death sentence was passed. In due course it was carried 
out. 
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The author tells the story of the most sensational 
gun battle in the history of Australian crime. 

Only a miracle prevented wholesale slaughter 
' 

on North Sydney's night of terror. 

JF Antonio Martin i 's grim ,  bitter struggle for freedom had been 
against an enemy oppressor. he would have deserved the acclaim 

and respect of a pati;iot. 
Had he been fighting an enemy of hi� country, he would have 

deserved military honors for the ruthless, c lear-thinking ferocity 
with which he fought those who threatened his freedom . • 

Time and aga in  he demonstrated that he was prepared to risk 
his life for his l iberty or to ruthless lv  destro, those who tr ied to 
take that liberty fron1 him. 

, , 

But Antonio l\fartim won no honors or tributes, for his fight 
was not against the enemie� of democrac\'-it \\',is against society 
and the forces of law and order. 
. And he had forfeited a l l  r ights to the l iberty for which he 

fought so violently and vic ious ly. But hefore he fina l l y  lost his 
liberty, one of the greatest gun batt les in the history of Au�tral ian 
crime was to rage through the st reels of :'\' orth Sydney.  

lTp to February, 1946, Mart ini  was just another cheap crook 
with a reputation for carrying a gun and a l ist of conv ict ions in­
cluding armed robbery, assau lting pol ice and consort ing with 
known criminals. 

He had been born in Melbourne �8 vears before: had led a l ife 
of crime since the age of 1 8. and h�d rece ived jail sentences 
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totalling more than 12 years for offences committed in Brisbane, 
Melbourne and Sydney. 

\fartini wasn't the big, tough bruiser type-just the opposite. 
He was small and deadly. He stood only 5ft. 3ins., was l ightly 
built and darkly handsome with sleek, black hair and snapping 
brown eyes. 

Two bullet scars · in his right leg testified to his initiation into 
gangland gunfights. Tattoos of a hand clasping a dagger, a ship, 
a flag, a harp and a woman's face adorned his arms. 

This then was the· man who in February, 1946, hit the headlines 
with his brazen and astounding attempt to cut his way out of a 
cell at Darlinghurst Court, Sydney. 

That this, his first attempt to escape, was unsuccessful was more 
a matter of good luck than good management on the part of the 
authorities. 

Martini had been brought to the court from Long Bay jail to 
plead to a charge of burglary. He had been thoroughly searched 
before . leaving the prison and had been searched on two more 
occasions before being placed in the cell at Darlinghurst Court. 

He had been in the cell about an hour when a constable heard 
the harsh, muted grating of metal on metal. 

Peering through a grill into the cell he · saw Martini-the centre 
of attraction of a grinning half circle of fellow prisoners-busily 
sawing away at one of the cell bars. 

The constable hurriedly caJJed for reinforcements, but when the 
police entered the cell, Martini was in innocent conversation with 
the other prisoners. 

A search of the cell, howe-ver, revealed that one of the bars had 
been almost cut through. Another five minutes' work would have 
severed it completely and enabled al l  the prisoners in the cell 
to escape. 

The hacksaw blade was discovered behind a cistern in the cell. 
No one ever discovered how Martini got hold of the blade. 
He pleaded not guilty to the charge of burglary and was re­

manded. 
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Five months later he was again brought from Long Bay Jail and 
placed in  a cell at  Queen's Square Courts, Sydney, prior to appear­
ing before the appeals court. 

In May, 1945, Martini  and another man, Arthur Gene Lovering, 
had been sentenced to two years jail on pistol charges. The Full 
Bench of the Criminal Court had upheld a contention that the 
sentence was not valid in  law and Martini  and Lovering were 
listed to appear at the appeals court on July 1 7, 1 946, to hear the 
pronouncement upholding their appeal. 
. They were placed in a cell at the court with another man named 
Smith. But Martini did not bother to wait to hear the pronounce­
ment. 

\\Then a constable came to the cell to take Smith before the 
court, there were' only two men present instead of three-Martini  
was missing. 

A mystified constable peered into the cell and asked: "Where's 
the third man?" 

Loveri ng ·grinned broadly and, using the advertising slogan of a 
well-known retail store, replied: "He's gone to Gowings." 

Then the police saw the severed bar in the cell window and 
one of the biggest manhunts in  the history of Australian crime 
commenced. 

Police, detecti,·es and scientific experts· swarmed into the area. 
A hacksaw blade was found in a cistern in the cell-and that was 
the end of the trail .  There were absolutely no other clues to how 
Martin i  had organis_ed his escape or where he had gone. 

He had been searched thoroughly on two occasions before enter- . 
ing the cell and i t  was considered practically impossible for him_ 
to have smuggled the blade in from the Long Bay jail workshops. 

Police also believed it was impossible for anyone to have passed 
the blade i n  to him th.rough the cell window. 

For hours the search continued and· then, in the late afternoon, 
the first of the l�uncireds of "tips" began rolling in. 

A police phone jangled and a voice said: "Don't ask who is 
speaking or try to trace from where this call i s  coming or I will 
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ring off. .\Iart ini is hid ing in the presbytery of St. i\ l ary's 
Cathedral." 

Forty hea,· ily armed police swept down on the cath�dral. By 
the light of torches they examined every shrub and bush in the 
grounds. Armed detectives moved among the devout kneel ing at 
prayer in the cathedral, scrutinising every worshipper and priest. 
They A ashed their torches into the dark recesses of the organ !oft 
and the high ceilings of the cathedral buildiugs. They peered into 
the choir gallery and challenged the occupants of every car moving 
out of the cathedral grounds. 

For an hour, the police cordon cut off all exits from the build­
ings a nu grounds while the search went on, but they found no sign 
of the missing i\fartini. 

Hardly had the search been abandoned when the police 1-,hone 
jangled again and a voice said: "Martini is hid ing in a Hat at  
Potts Point with a woman and another criminal." 

Squad cars packed with detectives roared out of the police 
y;-inls and armed men swooped on the flat. But it was another 
false lead-the flat was empty. 

1\Jessage a fter message came in suggesting possible hideouts 
"·h ich .\fartini might be using, but all were false leads and Mar­
tini "·as sti ll at large when morning dawned. 

Police did discover a few details which. made it appear that 
i\fartim had planned his escape well in advance. They discovered 
that an outfi t of clothes had been kept in readiness for him in a 
house in East Sydney and a woman friend was holding a large 
sum of money for him to use. But a watch on the house and the 
woman was of no avail, for M artini claimed neither the clothes 
nor the money. 

Members of Sydney's underworld stuck strictly to their code and 
refused 10 give the police any assistance in their search. 

A day and ni�ht watch was placed on ships anrl mai11 railway 
sta tions in case Martini attempted to leave the country or traYel 
interstate, but that too was fruitless. Martini hat! vanished with­
out trace. 

But the police did not stop searching. A fortnight after Martini 

23 



FAMOUS DETECTIVE STORIES 

had escaped they swooped on the steamer \Va ipori,  lying in Sydney 
Harbour. Twenty a rmed detectives swarmed over the vessel ,  
prying into every nook and cranny. 

Their tip tha t :\fart ini  ,\·as hiding on the vessel ap,peared to be 
another fahe lead and  then a shout went up as detectives haule(l 
a sl ightly bu i l t  young man out of his place of concealment 'tween 
decks. But it wa� ju�t  another of the endless false a larms. The 
young man had stowed away in an effort to reach New Ze.rland, 
but he was not \fart ini .  

The next t ip �;is that :\fartini was on the motor ship, Toulouse, 
bound from .\u�tr.i l i a  to :\·ew Zr.alanq. The New Zea land authori­
ties were :.l«-rted to �earch tl1e vessel ,,·hen it arrived, but Martini 
·� as not d1SC0-:ered nn board , A nd .  just in case the Austra l ian 
Jetect ives l• :tJ 0· ·erlooked ;i nv hid ing places on the vessel \Vaipori ,  
the New 7�•-ll l.tml-:r� •e1 rched that ship too, when i t  reached 
Wel l ington. \fa r ,  i 1 1 i  wa ,n"t a passenger. 

Ther"' w�re no funher ,!evclopments for the next few weeks, 
apart from :i:i ofli ci ;t l  ;rnd p;:in icularly inconcl usive Publ ic Service 
Board in,�u iry i :_1 t ,J how Mart ini obtained his hacksaw blade. 

The Roan! fou nd 1 !1:1 t  no 01ie was rea l ly to blame-they didn't' 
even say :-i n y  Lar,h words about Martini. 

Among 0:hcr th ing,, the Board found that there had been no 
fai lure 10  ��1rch tl i!:' pri�oners properly at Long Bay Ja i l .  The 
cel l bar m;i·; ha,·e l,f'en cut from the outside, because the window 
opened un io a tenn i-; court attached to Sydney Hospital. 

The Board sta ted tha t  i ts  1onh· doubt, in v iew of \ fart ini's record, 
and the fact that  the room for persons wa i ting hearing of_ their 
appeals  ,,·as not a cel l ,  ,ra -;  "·hether the officers in rharge should 
have removed the ha ndcu ffs when prisoners w·ere placed in  the 
room. 

The Board added that ,  in the l ight ,  of events, i t  was unwise to 
do so, but at the \\"orst i t  "·as an error of j udgment only .  and was 
not one ca l l ing- lor a ny action. And, fina l ly, Lhe Board did not 
propose Lo take any furt her act ion. 

24 



THERE'S NO ESCAPE 

That seemed to tidy up all the loose ends nice and officially. 
The only outstanding thing was: \\That had happened to Antonio 
Martini? 

Police believed, among other tlung, that he had got through to 
i\Ielbourne and wtis lying low down there. 

And then in September, ! !HG, police were alerted to watch for 
a gang of safe-blowers " ho were concentrating on robbing subur­
ban post offi.ces. The net was beginning to tighten on Martini. 

At I I p.m. on September 21 ,  Constable Waldock, patrolling in 
Surry Hills, Sydney, glanced through the window o[ the Crown 
Street post office and saw two men preparing to blow the safe. 

Constable Waldock illuminated the inside of the post office by 
turning on an outside light switch. Two men, later identified as 
,rartini and Edward Garland, ran to a window opening into a 
lane. 

As the men climbed through the window Constable \Valdock 
raced to a wooden gate which shut the lane off from the roadway. 
As he reached the gate the men opened fire on him. 

One bullet whizzed between his leg·s; another' smashed into the 
gate, a third shattered the plate glass window of a shop on the 
opposite side of the street. Constable \Valdock drew his revolver 
and opened fire on the two gunmen. He jumped for cover as 
another hail of bullets whistled around him. The two men ran 
to a cream sedan which was waiting with its engine running and 
roared off into the night. 

Later Martini and Garland were to be charged with having 
attempted to murder Constable \Valdock. And when he was 
finally caught, Martini showed another facet of his strange character · 
by expressing his apparent genuine pleasure at the fact that the 
constable had not been hit by any of the bullets. 

But, he told the police, shooting had been their <mly means 
of getting away. And apart from that, he insisted the co�htable 
had fired on them first. 

,1ar,1:ini steadfastly refused to break the code of the underworld 
and tell the police the name of the accomplice who had· been 
waiting in the getaway car. He told them not to be greedy and 
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added that the man wh� had waited in the car had only been a 
"bunny" who had not known that he and Garland were armed. 

But .those confessions were still to come. At the time :Martini 
and Garland escaped from the Surry Hills post office, they still 
had approximately 24 hours of freedom left-the last hours of 
freedom in their lifetime. 

And it was some time during that 24 hours that the police 
received the information which brought their criminal careers to 
an end. 

The information was that the two men were planning to rob 
the strong-room of Taronga Park Zoo, Sydney, the following night. 

At that stage the police did not know whether this was j ust 
another fa lse lead which would give them weary hours of watching 
and waiting and lead into another dead end. But they were pre­
pared to spend many weary hours waiting and watching-they were 
prepared to fol low up any possible lead that could bring l\Iartini 
to justice. 

At 7 p.m. on the evening of September 22, 1 946, a grimly silent 
squad of detectives, bristling with weapons, moved into the eerie, 
nervi chill ing atmosphere of the darkened zoo grounds. 

The detectives, armed with revolvers, automatic pistols, auto­
matic rifles and Thompson sub machine guns, were probably the 
most heavily armed squad of Australian police ever sent out after 
a criminal .  

From the cages and animal enclosure came the spine-tingling 
snarl s  of savage animals. - The wierd cries oE night birds, the 
coughing roars of the big cats and the howls, grunts and snorts of 
unknown creatures blended in a strange symphony as the curtain 
rose for the first act of the greatest running gun fight in the , 
history of crime in Sydney. 

l\Ioving to a pre-arranged plan, the detectives took up  their 
positions around the administrative buildings of the zoo and settled 
down to wait for the most dangerous of all savage beasts-rogue 
humans. 

The minutes t icked by and the tension grew. Detectives shifted 
silentl y  to ease cramped muscles. An hour passed, but still there 
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was nothing except the uncanny sounds of the sleeping zoo. 
Another hour crept by on leaden feet and still the detectives 
waited. 

Three hours passed; four · hours; five hours and still the silent 
watchers waited, straining their eyes into the darkness for a sight 
of their quarry: From across the harbor came the slow measured 
chimes of a clock striking midnight. Antonio Martini had two 
hours of freedom left. 

From the window of a small, darkened room in the aclministra­
t ive building, Detective-Sergea!}t William Allan Hargrave and 
Detective H . .J. Crowley peered intently into the night trying to 
probe the black patches of shadow surrounding them. 

They froze · into complete immobility as two figures suddenly 
moved noiselessly out of the darkness fbwards the administrative 
building-Martini and Garland had walked into the trap. 

The two gunmen moved slowly past the window behind which 
Dec-Sgt. Hargrave and Det. Crowley were watching. The detectives 
made no move to stop them and the men disappeared i n  the 
direction of the office where the zoo safe was kept . 

.\s soon as they had passed out of sight, Detective-Sergeant Har­
grave noiselessly raised the bottom half of the window a couple 
of inches and eased the barrel of his Thompson sub machine gun 
on to the window sill. Then he. and Detective Crmdey waited 
in readiness to cut off the gunmen's retreat if they succeeded i n  
breaking out o f  the cordon surrounding the other section o f  the 
building. 

Some sixth sense must have warned Mart ini  and Garland nt 
impending danger, for they suddenly came gliding back, their 
eyes searching everywhere as they came. 

lt was l\Iartini who spotted the slightly opened ,vindow. At  
first he thought watchmen were present in the building and the11 
he spotted the wicked snout of the Tommy gun resting on the � i l 1 • 

For one startled moment he stared at the deadly weapon and then 
came the blinding realisation that they had walked in to a police 
trap. 

He only had time to yell a warning. "Look out, Ted i'.' to his 
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con federate and then the fierce whi te beam of Detective Crowley's 
torch flashed through the window, i l luminating the scene. 

As he switched on his torch, Crowley shot1tecl : "Pol ice here! Put 
up your hands!" Garland swung round, whipped up a revol\'er 
and fired point  blank in to the bli nd ing l ight. The bul let shattered 
the window pane and ploughed a burning, agonis ing furrow across 
Detective-Sergeant  Hargrave's right temple. 

The sergean t  reoled s lightly under the glancing impact of the 
s lug. His fi nger t ightened on the trigger of his sub machi ne gun 
and a blast of bu l lets whined around Garland as he dived for 
cover around the side of the bui lding. Bul lets howled and whined 
through the n ight as Crowley Jo ined i n  the shooting. 

Mart in i  pul led a heavy revolver from his pocket, but before he 
could fire, a s lug h i t  him ! sledgehammer blow high i n  the centre 
of the chest and he went down. 

l\ lart in i  must have born a charmed l ife that n ight, for the 
bu l let pierced his heavy QVercoat, su i t  and vest, but only bruised 
his chest. 

He told pol ice la ter: "It lu t me so hard, it bowled me over. 1 
thought i t  "·ent right through me. It must have been a dud:· 

Dazed and shaken, Mart in i  staggered to his feet and he and 
Garland raced for the cover of the surrounding darkness. Pol ice 
and detectives broke from their hiding places, but could not locate 
the fugi t ives. They spread out, searchi ng desperately for the two 
gunmen with pistols and sub machine guns ready. 

Sudden ly .  l rom outside the wal l s  of the zoo, a car engine roared 
into l i fe and a powerfu l vehicle sped off through the n ight. 
l\Iart in i  and Garland had escaped aga in. , 

To every patrol car, pol ice station and pol i ceman on beat duty 
went the general a larm to watch for the missing men. And shortly 
after I a.m. the information came in that they had been seen in 
the North Sydney distr ict. 

Car loads of pol ice and detectives converged on the area. A 
cordon,  armed with tommy guns, au tomatic r i fles, pistols and tear 
gas apparatus, was thrown round premises i n  L ittle Arthur Street. 
l.\"orth Sydney. 
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At 1 .30 a .m.  detectives crept up to a window of the house a nd 
saw Ed¼;ard Garland a nd h i s  brother, Royce, i nside. \Vhen they 
cal led upon them to surrender the two men raced for the back 
door of· the cottage. 

As they ran down the sta irs leading to the back yard, detectives 
h idden in a fowlhouse and beh ind the back f�nce shouted at them 
to surrencler. Both the G:ir lands repl ied w i th a b last of revolver 
bu l lets fired into the ' darkness in the genera l d irection of the 
detectives. 

The detect ives aga i n  shouted at them ') surrender and prom ised 
that thev wou ld not be shot down if thev d id so. At that, the 
Garland '  brothers dropped their weapons a;1.d the pc l ice c losed i n  
o n  them and raced i n to the house. 

But  Mart i n i  had escaped again .  
On ly  a few moments before the pol ice trap snapped shut ,  :,ome 

uncanny  sense had warned him of danger and he had s l ipped out 
of the house i n to the darkness of the n ight. 

Under the very noses of the detectives, he s l i pped across the 
street and i nto  the backyard of a house facing on to Arth ur 
Street .  ' 

He dropped a su i tcase packed with gel igni te i n  the yard a nd 
c l imbed a H ight of I '.� sta i rs to the back verandah. 

He  en tered the dwe l l ing through an  open wi ndow and moved 
in to the fron t bedroom of the house ,,·here \Irs. E. Rough ley 
and her two ch i ldren were s leeping. 

\ [ rs Rough lev awoke and ca l led out Ill sudden a l arm: "\Vho 
is tha t?" when sl1e saw \ I art in i  standing near her bed. 

\ Ia rt in i ,  a lway� a q u ick thinker, smooth ta lker, and qu i te a 
l i tt le  gent leman i n  his way, whispered back. " I  don't want  to 
frighten you. There has been a sly grog raid at the back and I am 
just g�ing  through. I came i n  through a bathroom window." 

He apologised for u psetting her and her ch i ldren " and then a 
l\ l r. Ke l lv ,  who boarded at the house, entered the room and 
turned oi1 the l ight. 
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A lthough scores of police and ·detectives were combing the street 
outside, Martini  calmly assured l\fr. Kel l{ that there was nothing 
to worry about and told him the story of the sly grog ra id. 

He then asked for a drink and Kel ly took him out to the 
kitchen.  Martini had his drink and to the alarm of l\Ir. Kel lv, 
casual ly  produced two revolvers and placed them on the s ink .  

Taking bul lets trom one of his  pockets he commenced to load 
the revolvers. He warned Kelly not to make a noise and told him 
he would be well paid for his help. 

Martini was tel ling Kelly that he had not wished to frighten 
the lady, when he heard the sounds of pol ice mov ing in the front 
of the house. The trap was c losi ng in aga in. 

Picking up his guns, he forced Kelly back into the front room 
of the house. 

He asked Mrs. Roughley to look out the window to see who was 
outside. Mrs. Roughley, now thoroughly terrified at the situation, 

# looked through the window and told him that there were pol ice 
everywhere in the street. 

Martini  sa id:  " I  can't stav here," and ordered Kelly to open the 
front door for him. 

Detective Crowley, whose bullet had knocked him do'wn at 
Taronga Park Zoo earlier in the night, was standi ng outside, gun 
iri hand. 

As the door opened, Martin i  fired point blank at Detective 
Crowley. The bul let missed its mark and Crowley fired back, but 
by that time, Martini  was a moving target as he raced through the 
door in his bid for l iberty. 

Mrs. Roughley, describing the escape said: "He rushed out into 
the street firing from a gun in each hand. I never saw anyone 
move so fast before. " 

Bullets smashed into the front of the house as two uniformed 
police in  Arthur Street opened fire on i\Iartini. But he seemed to 
bear a charmed life. Dodging and z ig-zagging he raced through 
a hai l  of bullets towards a vacant a l lotment on the far side of 
Arthur StreeL 

30 



THERE'S NO ESCAPE 

Cun fire rolled and thundered down the street and the police 
fired at the twisting, darting figure. DetectiYe Crowley's gun ran 
out of ammuni tion, but the un i formed police kept on firing at  
i\Iarti n i  as he spr inted for the cover of the vacant allotment. 

Suddenly he came to an abrupt halt, wheeled about and firing 
w ith both hands blasted two more shots at  the constables. Then, 
in a fiash, he disappeared in to the darkness of  the allotnient. 

By now, the ent ire neighbourhood was i n  an uproar. Residents 
were ru nn ing out of their homes in n ight att ire and police were 
trying to warn them of the danger of the situation and shepherd­
ing  them to safety. A heavy cordon of police prevented other 
people from entering the danger zone and searched all cars moving 
out. 

That cordon probably saved the l ife of Harry Doyle, one of the 
residents of Arthur Street. · J f  he had not been prevented from 
returning to his home, he would probably have been i n  his bed 
when one of the bullets fired · during the gun battle smashed 
through h is window, skimmed across his bed and embedded i tself 
in the wall .  And if he had been in b@d, the bullet would have 
em bedded itself in Harry Doyle i nstead of the wall. 

But the North Sydney gun ba trle was far from ove1· yet. \ [auini 
,,·as st i l l  free, well armed and' un injured apart from a bru ise on 
his chest. 

\\Then he g:1 i ned the cover of the vacant a llotment, he raced 
through into  Little ,valker Street, crossed that street and clambered 
l ithely to the roof of a house fronti1 1g on to \Valker Street, the 
next street up. 

He was cl imbing across the rooftops when Mrs. P. Landers, of 
,\.alker Su eet, awakened by the sound of  the gunfight, came to the 
w indow of her upstairs room. 

At first she only saw the flashes of police torches as detectives 
and uni formed police moved across the vacant  allotment, searching 
for the elusive gunman. 

Then she saw ?\fartin i  jump on to the roof of the wash house 
below her l iving room window. There was silence for a moment 
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and then a terrific crash 0£ breaking glass as a downstairs w indow 
smashed inwards. 

l\frs. Landers' husband, Mr. Paul Landers, was awakened by the 
crash of falling glass and hurried out of the bedroom to discover 
what was happening. 

The combined house and shop below was pitch dark and silent. 
Mr. an[l l\frs. Landers crept down the stairs and switched on the 
light. Glass from a shattered window was lying all over the floor. 

Without warning, Martini darted in from the shop at the front 
of the premises and raced towards the stairs with the speed of a 
cat. 

He made no sound as he moved and, for some reason she has 
never been able to explain, Mrs. Landers grabbed him by the tail 
of the coat as he passed her. 

Martini swung round on her. Mrs. Landers, for the first t ime, 
· saw the gun in his hand and screamed as she let go her hold. 

Detective-Sergeant Norman Mijch was moving cautiously up 
Walker Street with 'his sub machine gun at the ready when the 
door ·of the Landers' shop was flung open and Mrs. Lander.s rushed 
out screaming: "Police! Police !" .  

Wi th Detective-Constable Raymond Paten in close support, De­
tective-Sergeant Mijch ran into the house. Martini was out of 
sight at the head of the stairs. Mijch shouted: "Come out, Martini, 
you're cornered." 

From the top of the stairs, Martini shouted back: "Come up and 
get me, you ---" 

Mijch gave him another chance to surrender. "\Ve've got you 
coverer!, Martini," he called. "Come on down." 

Martini, apparently trying to make the police believe that he 
was willing to surrender, shouted: "Give me a fair go." A heavy 
automatic pistol then came .oiling down the stairs. 

Mijch and Paten moved cautiously up the stairs. They were 
seasoned police officers who understood the warped mentality of 
ruthless gunmen like Antonio Martini. And they had good reason 
to be cautious. 
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As they mounted the sta irs, they saw �fart in i  peering around 
a door at the top with a heavy revolver in his hand. Next moment 
the revolver belched flame and a heavy slug whizzed past the two 
detectives. 

Detective Constable P<1ten fired once in return and then hh 
pistol j ammed. 

Almost at the same moment Detect ive-Sergeant ;\J ijch's Thomp­
son sub machine gun opened up .11',· ith a shattering blast. The 
noise was deafening in the confined space of the stairs. 

A deadly hail of bullets hammered into the door and wall at  
the top of the sta irs. 

M artin i  gave one dread ful scream.  A revolver came tumbling 
end over end down the stairs and the detectives heard the dull 
thud of a body falling to the floor abm e them. 

Antoni-0 Martini's fight for freedom was over. 
Detective Sergearit M ijch and Detective Constable Paten ran .. 4 

up the stairs a nd ha lted in  amazement as they saw the motionless 
body ly i ng i n  a collapsed heap on the floor. 

Blood was pouring from a wmfml in the middle of the man's 
forehead covering his face w ith a wet, glistening mask of scarlet. 

The features were almost completely obscured and unrecognis­
, able, but the hair a nd complexion of the man on the floor were not 

those of Anton io :\Iartini .  
Instead of the jet bl,ick ha ir and eyebrows and dark features, 

this man's ha ir and evebrows ·were practically platinum blonde 
a nd the features were t"a i r. 

A closer scrutiny, however, d isclosed th.it it was :\fartini without 
a doubt and that he was sti ll a l ive. 

He had made himse l f  a lmo�t unrecogn isable by bleaching his 
ha ir and eyebrows and heavily powdering his face to hide his dark 
complexion. 

A quick examination showed that he had had another almost 
mirnculous escape from death. The sub machine gun bullet, which 
had brought his sta nd to an end, had only struck him a glancing 
blow on the forehead and stunned him. 

1.. 
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Lifting the unconscious man, the detectives carried him down 
the stairs to the street where a police car was waiting. They hur­
ried him to the :Mater Misericordiae Hospital for medical treat­
ment and he quickly recovered consciousness . 

.\ la rtini, in his usual thorough manner, had armed himself well 
for h i s  battle with the police . 

. \part from the two weapons he had dropped down the stairs 
during the fight, police found ;i third which he had hidden beneath 
the mattress of the bed in the Landers' bedroom at the top of the 
stairs. 

In the pockets of his blood-smeared coat they found 70 rounds of 
live ammunition. An American shoulder holster was strapped 
beneath his coat and a bandolier of bullets was strapped around 
his body. 

A check on the serial numbers of Martini's weapons tied him 
in with the suburban post office robberies which had been reported 
during the previous week. 

The revolver which Martini had hidden under the mattress 
in the Landers' bedroom had been stolen from the strongroom 
of the Eastwood Post Office. The revolver which had fallen from 
Martini's hand and rolled down the stairs after he had been hit, 
had been stolen from the Concord Post Office. 

How no one was fatally hit during the various stages of the 
gunfight is one of the. minor mysteries of the century. More than 
100 pistol, rifle and sub-machine gun bullets had been fired i n  
one o f  the most densely populated areas of Sydney and only two 
men had been very s lightly injured. 

The walls of the administration building at Taronga Park Zoo 
were pockmarked with bullets. Shattered windows and bullet­
riddled walls of buildings in  the area where Martini was finally 
brought to bay, testified to the intensity of the final stages of the 
battle. 

Martini, who boasted that he had been handling a gun since 
he was 15, was almost apologetic over the fact that no policeman 
had been seriously injured. And he was quite unrepentant for his 
actions when he recovered consciousness. 
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"If I had not been on the run, my shooting would have been 
more accurate," he boasted to the police. 

Asked why he had tried to shoot i t  out, he replied shortly: 
"Self preservation." 

When Martini and the Garland brothers were brought before 
'" the court on charges of having attempted to murder various police 

officers, a sensational series of questions was asked, suggesting 
that a policeman had attempted to fire his pistol into Martini's 
body as he lay unconscious at the top of the stairs. The line of 
questioning was hotly attacked by tlie police and later an apology 
was tendered for any aspersions against the police. 

The outcome of the trial of Martini and the, · Garlands was 
inevitable. Each was found guilty on charges of attempted murder 
and · both Martini and Edward Garland were sentenced to death. 

Royce Garland, a father of six children, who only came into 
the picture when he and his brother tried to escape from the 
house in Little Arthur St., was sentenced to 14 years in!prisonment. 

Later the death sentences on Martini and Edward Garland were 
commuted to life imprisonment  and they were sen t  to Parramatta 
jail. 

But Martini had not lost his· burning desire for freedom and he' 
waited, 'Yatched and planned for the opportunity of escaping 
once agam. 

He . had been in jail for more than six years when the oppor­
tunity came i n  January, I 953. l\fartini planned the break with 
h i s  usual efficiency and daring. 

One of the members of the group who were to make the break 
with him was his old confederate, Edward Garland. 

The others were Sidney Grant, a murderer serving a life sentence 
for the killing of a police detective; Willialll Burnie, who was 
serving 14 years for attempted rape; and an habitual criminal 
serving a shorter sentence for assault and robbery. 

The men were all employed i n  the prison's tailor shop. The 
first move in their plan to escape was secretly to make themselves 
white shirts which �hey hid by wearing under their blue prison 
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shirts. Object of the white shirts was to enable them to d iscard 
their tell-tale blue prison shirts as soon as they made their break. 

On January 27, 1 953, they were ready to put their plan into 
operation; Under Martin i's guidance, it went like clockwork in  
the beginning. The would-be j ail breakers simply walked out 
of the ·prison tailor shop and locked the overseer and another 
officer inside. 

Then they proceeded to the prison engineer's office and 10(:ked 
him in too, to prevent him ra ising the alam1 .. Takinn a long ladder 
from the engineer's shop, they made for a door leading to the 
outer wall of the jail. 

The lock was qu ickly smashed off the door and the criminals 
hurried through and placed their ladder against the wall. 

l\lartini led the rush for freedom. 
The first i ndication the prison guards had that a jail break "·as 

in progress was the sight of Martini 's slim figure balancing pre­
cariously on top of the prison wall and the other criminals climb­
ing the ladder behind him. 

In a fraction of a .  second, the prison was in  an uproar. 
Carbines and revolvers cracked as the guards opened fire on 

Martini.  Other warders burst · out of the prison buildings and 
raced towards the escaping criminals. 

With bullets slashing the a ir  around hin;i and thudding into the 
wall beneath his feet, Martin i  stood poised for a moment and 
then jumped 35 feet to freedom. . 

He hit the ground heavily. Agonising pain shot through h im 
as bones in his right foot snapped under the force of the impact. 
He rolled over, clutching at his leg. 

But despite the pain ,  he struggled to his feet arid hobbled desper­
ately for cover through the grounds of the Parramatta l\lental 
Hospital adjo1ning the prison. 

Bullets whined around him and smacked i nto the ground at 
h is feet, but again he seemed to bear a charmed l ife, and he 
hobbled out of sight and range of the prison }Varders. 
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Martini was the only member of the escape team to get over 
the prison wall. None of the others even reached the top. 

Before any of them had time to climb the ladder after Martini, 
the warders were onto them. They tore the ladder away from 
the wall even as the men were trying to cl imb it, sending one of 
the would-be escapees crashing 20 feet to the 1nison yard below. 
The whole group surrendered wi thout resistance. 

But Martini was free and the general alarm for his recaptu11e 
was on again. 

As squad cars, loaded with detectives, converged onto the area, 
armed police and warders began a systematic search of the mental 
hospital grounds. They did not have far to search before finding 
the spot where he had collapsed, moaning in agony and clutching 
h is broken foot. 

Martini offered no resistance as the armed warders closed in  
on  him. 

They trundled him ignominiously back into the prison in  ? 
garden wheelbar_row. 

Antonio Mart ini's hard won freedom ha� lasted exactly 20 
minutes. 

That escape earned Martini 56 days "soli tary." The other 
criminals who were apprehe1.1tled attempting to escape, were each 
sentenced to 28 days. 

From there on, the prison authorities were not prepared · to 
take any more risks with the slippery Antonio. 

On January 3 1 ) 1953, witlJ his right leg encased in plaster, he 
was carried through the grim portals of Graf ton jail. 

He has his whole l ife bef.ore him to think up new methods of 
escaping. but he will have to plan well, for Grafton jai l  is one 
of the toughest . in  the world-a prison from which, i t  � claimed. 
no man can ever escape. 
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QU E ER C ARGO  
By J. H. 11. ABBOTT 

There was a nice touch of sentimentality in Sir 
Henry Browne Hayes action in importing Irish 
soil to surround his Australian home. However, 

there was more to it than met the eye. 

"I TELL ye, J im, ' l is gospel trulh," said :\fr. TLlomas Hunt to 
his friend :\fr. . James Dooley as they drank together in rhe 

frowsy taproom ol the Bunch o' Grapes in George-street. "Sam 
Break"wel l  told me himse l f, an' he"s Sir Hinery's confidential malrn. 
'Tis in  th' brig :\orah now, off of Benelong's Point. \\'e" l l  meet 
down at the CO\·e at n ine to-n ight and liorry me brother- in-la\\"·s 
boat an '  pu l l  off to th' :\orah, whin I ' l l  prove iv'ry worrud r m  
sayin' .  Sure 'tis the grand Irish gint leman is Sir H inery Hrowne 
Hayes, an ·  ye'I I sa� th' same ) 'sil l \\·h in  l '{e shqwn ) e."  

"\Vei l ,  seeins belay,· in ,  I suppose," repl ied :\ fr. Dooley doubt­
fu l ly. 'TH be there, an' good luck to Sir H inery, if 'tis true. " '  

The subject of their conversat ion. was one which_ caused some 
•st ir in  Syd11�y about the begin n ing of the second t�cade ol the 
n ineteenth centurv. One of the most notable characters i n  t he 
curious societv th.at d i,·ersi fied the Svdnev of \[acquarie's first 
years as Gove,:nor w;1s Sir Henry Brow11e H ;tyes, formerl y  a sheriff 
of Cork, and the wealth,• scion of an o ld-establ ished menan t i le 
family.  

The circumstances which led to his transportation-his a bduc­
tion i n  1 797 of the heiress :\ Cary Pike, his returning her unharmed 
after a mock marr ia�e, his offering to stand his tria l ,  hav ing seen 
to it first that the reward was �ecured by the fam i l y hairdresser, 
and then, to his surprise, his con ,, i, ·t ion-are wel l knO\nl .  H is 
exploits after his arrival in Port Jackson in July.  1 80'.!, ; ire not 
so often told. Sir H enry did not make the Yoyage under I he 
01·d inary conditions of a com·ict, for he paid the master of the 
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transport Atlas several hundred guineas to obtain exceptional 
favors, and grea t ly annoyed severa l  officia ls of the colony who 
were his fel low-passengers by monopolising most of the _available 
cabin space and nearly a l l  the possible comforts. 

During the first years of his exile he was constantly in hot 
water, mainly with Governor King, who could not be induced 
to see that Sir Henry's weal th entitled him to any extra privileges 
as a conviq, and was not very fond of any sort of I rishman. In  
· 1 803 he was ordered to be sent to  hard labor at  the settlement 
then being formed in Van Diemen's Land, but somehow managed 
to get out of this trouble, and on the 22nd of August, I 803, bought 
two farms near South Head-the famous Vaucluse estate. 

Sir Henry lived there for some years, a l though, as he was sti l l  
a convict, he could not obtain a legal title to the property. Gov­
ernor King firmly believed that he was concerned in the abortive 
rebel lion of the I rish prisoners at ·Castle Hill in 1 804, and in 
J u ly, 1 805, obtained from five magistrates an opinion that Sir 
Henry's exile would be of much advantage to the peace of the 
colony. The knight was then !lent to Norfolk I s land, but after 
a month there was brought back to Sydney for transporta tion to 
Van Diemen's Land. Bad weather delayed the departure of the 
ship in which he was to have sailed, and before he cou ld he 
sent away Captain Bligh had succeeded King as Governor. And 
Bligh took ra ther a liking to Sir Henry. 

Under Bligh he behaved with more discretion, and spent most 
of his time at Vaucluse, but, being regarded as a sympathiser w i th 
the deposed Governor, after the mutiny in 1 808 he was sent by 
the rebel officers of the New South ,vales Corps to Newcastle, 
where he had to remain in exile eight months before bein� 
permitted to return to Vaucluse. He ·was in hot water again in 
May, 1 809, and was once more forced into retirement at  the Coa l 
River, where he fel l  fou l  of the Commandant, Lieutenant 
lVil liam Lawson. By some means or other he managed to get 
back to Vaucluse, and in l\farch, 1 8 1 0, was busily memoria lising 
Governor Macquarie _as to the iniquities of Commandant Lawson , 
as well  as engaging himself in the meniorable and extraordinary 
undertaking with which this story i:; .:oncerned. Later his support 
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of Bligh st0od him in good stead, for on his return to England 
the ex-Governor busied h imself on Sir Henry's behalf, and in 
1 8 1 2  a free pardon allo""·ed the knight to go back to Ireland. 

The Norah lay in  darkness in the mouth of Sydney Cove, w ith 
only a single riding light in her mizzen rigging, when '.\Iessrs. 
Dooley and Hunt pulled off to her a l i ttle before 10 o'clock that 
night. As they drew ·alongside her black hull they were gruffly 
hailed from the poop. "Boat ahoy ! \Vhat's y'r business?' 

" 'Tis all right, M ick," replied Mr. Hunt. "\Ve've but come to 
call on our friend th' bos'n, Jack Roarty. It's Tom Hunt an' 
Jjm Dooley." 

"Aw, well, if ye're come to see th' bos'n I s'pose 't is  a11 r ight. '.\fe 
an'  Jack Sims has been put here to look after Sir He1:u-y's property, 
but we've naught else to do wid th' ship. I'll send for Roarty. 
Throw me a, l ine an' I'll make y'r boat fast." 

Mi:. Hunt led the way up the .Jacob's ladder hanging over the 
si�le, and he and Mr. Dooley presently_ stood on the quarter-deck 
of the Norah, confronting a giant of a man whom the light of a 
hurricane-lamp hanging at the break of the poop revealed as 
look!ng somewhat hostile and suspicious. However, when the 
boatswain arrived, accompanied by John Sims, another specimen 
of truculent and muscular humanitv, he was able to vouch for 

, the visi tors to the ship. · 

"Jack Roarty," said '.\Ir. Hunt , indicating his companion by a 
wave of the hand, "this is me £rind J im Dooley, who's afther 
d isbelayYin' me whim I tell him th' gran' thing's bin done be Sir 
H inery. Glory be-but 'tis wan o' th' fainest things has iver bin 
heard of, .an' I'm wishful that iv'ry Irishman in th' colony could 
be knowing of i t. Could . ye not let him see for h irnsilf-take a 
look at th' bar'ls o' th' bJ.essed sod?" 

"Faith, thin," said the boatswain a l ittle contemptuously, "an' 
that's nothin' but the tru th. 'Twas a grand notion, an' Sir Hinery 
does truly desarve iv 'ry good Irishman's thanks for what he's done. 
Here they are, thin-n\· iu ty-five o' thim-th' lasht o' five hunnerd 
what 's bin a-coming to Sydney in diff'nt sh ips this six months past. 
We brought fifty of 'em, but Sir H inery took away half this after-
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noon. He's coming for these to-night-I expect him anny moment 
now. Step this way, Mr. Dooley; an' see for y'silf."  

Holding the lantern above his  head, he led the way forward 
along the deck, and presently revealed to them, standing in orderly 
rows on the starboard side of the ship, between the open hatches 
and the bulwarks, a couple of dozen barrels, each of which had 
painted on the side and top "H.B.H." over "Sydney." 

"An' phw..it's i n  'em?' inquired M r. Dooley. " Is it D ublin stout?" 
"Stout be d�mned!"  said the boatswain.  "No! 'Tis nothin' more 

nor less than a shipment o' th' bl issed sod of ould Ireland itself 
what Sir Hi nery Brmrne Hayes is agoin' for to put all round his 
house for to kape th' shnakes Ollt ()f it." 

"Be th ' powers, th in ,  'tis thrnel" excla imed l\fr. Dooley i n  
an  awestricken whisper. "Beda<l, though, Tom, this'll surely ha' 
cost S ir  Hinery a pretty dollar or two?" 

"vVhat's money to him?" responded 1\Ir. H unt. "Sure, he's enough 
an' to shpare of it  for to buy th' half of Ireland, so he has. I'm 
thinkin"  "--

He was i nterrupted by a shout from the water close alongside. 
The boa tswain hurried wi th the lantern to the gangway . . 

" 'Tis S ir  Hinerv himsi l f ! "  he  cried to them. "He's come for th' 
r ist o' th' bar' ls. He'l l  tel l ye a l l  ye want to know, Mr. Dooley. 
Oh, good eYen in'  to ye, Sir Hinery ," he addressed a dapper gentle­
man who was setting foot upon the deck. "Ye're afther th' lasht 
o' y'r cargo, no doubt?" 

The · Kn ight of Vauduse, as his friends loved to speak of him, 
was a good-looking man of early m iddle-age, with well-cut features 
a nd a frir1ge of brown whisker below the chin.  He was dressed 
in a blue swallowtai l jacket w i th gold buttons and white buckski n  
breeches worn inside Hessian boots, whilst a beaver top-hat perched 
rakish ly on one side of his head. He shook hands with the boat­
swain ,  and bowed to the ship's visitors. The two guardians of the 
treasure stood at stnct "attention" beside the gangway, and 
knuckled their foreheads as he stepped on to the quarter-deck. 

"Good evenmg, Roarty. Yes, I have the barge alongside,. and 
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. we'll get the barrels aboard as soon as possible. 'Tis a long pull, 
and 'twill be almost daylight before we reach Vaucluse. However, 
this i s  the last of i t, and we' ll be in good time for to-morrow's 
ceremony. \Vhom have we here, though? Ah, 'tis Mr. H unt. A 
very good evening to you, sir." 

Mr. Hunt seize<l · Sir Henry's extended hand in both of his and 
wrung i t  fervently. "May H iven reward ye, sorr, for th' good dade 
ye're afther doin'. This i s  me frind James Dooley, S ir  Hinery. 
Permi t  me· to presint him, soor. He's come aboa1 ... 1 wid me for 
to see' th' bar'ls of Irish soil for h imsilf-hardly being able to credi t  
annywan .could be afther <loin' th' gr't th ing ye've done, sorr."  

" 'Tis a pleawre to make your acquaintance, Mr. Dooley , and I 
shall hope to see more of you , s ir. Pray, Tom H unt, my friend, i s  
there anything that would prevent yourse l f  and '.\ f r. Dooley from 
giving me the pleasure of your company at \'aucluse for to­
morrow's celebration? 'Twould delight me beyond measure. You 
have a boat alongside? Well, ii you "; ill accompa11y the barge 
down the harbor directly I shall be glad to offer you break fast at 
Vaucluse, and then, later in the dav, YOU will be able to w i tness 
the ceremony of placing the I rish s�il ' around the house." 

" 'Tis true th in, sorr, what Tom Hunt's been a-tellin' me, that  
ye're surroundin' y 'r  ris idence wid th '  ould sod for to  kape th' 
shnakes out of i t? Glory be to God, but ' t i s  th' enterprisin' gintle­
man ye are, so ye are ! "  !\ fr. Qooley gazed at Sir Henry Browne 
Hayes in admiration. 

" 'Tis  perfectly true, !\ f r. Dooley. The sni,kes at Vaucl use have 
been a plague and a curse ever s ince l\·e been there. \Vhy. I 've even 
found 'em in my bed. �ut this I r ish so i l .  I ' ve had a trench s ix­
feet wide and two-feet deep dug righ t round the house. and to­
morrow I 'm going to have i t  fi lled in with the contents of the five 
hundred barrels of good Ir ish sod that have been a rriv ing here 
during the last six months. I hope you two gentlemen w ill give 
me the pleasure of your company. And now, i f  you 'll excuse me, 
I'll see to getting these barrels into the barge, wh ich my hoat''I 
crew will tow down the harbor." • 

•sure, we'd not m iss it for all th' tay in Chiny, sorr," responded 
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l\fr. Hunt  gratef u l ly and delightedly. "Come, let's get out of the 
way, Jim. We'll wait in th' boat." 

The labor of transferring the heavy casks of �oil from the deck 
of the Norah to Sir Henry's �arge occupied a· considerable time, 
and the process of towing the large and heavily-laden craft down 
the harbor against a flood tide was a slow one, so that the long 
rampart of Sou th Head stood out against a red dawn by the 
time the three boats had reached the Bottle and Glass rocks at 
the entrance to Vaucl use Bay. As they were rounding the point 
a whaleboat came out to meet them, and with some alarm Messrs. 
Hunt  and Dooley noted that a corporal 's guard of red-coated 
soldiers occupied the sternsheets. The coxwain, standing at the long 
steer-oar, hailed Sir Henry Browne Hayes. 

"Lie to there, sir," he shouted. "I wish to examine your cargo." 
The whaleboat drew close alongside the barge, which Sir Henry 

was steering himsel f. The knight, with uplifted arm, signalled to 
the oarsmen in the towing boat to rest on their oars. He addressed 
the coxswain of the whaleboat. 

"And, pray, who may you be, sir, to hinder me from landing my 
own goods on the shores of my own estate?" 

'Tm Captain Piper·s, the :'.\'aval Officer's, deputy, Sir Henry. 
Name o' .Morrison, at y'r service. Cap'n Piper's away at th' Hawkes­
bury, sir, and I 've been in formed you've been landing barrels which 
might contain dutiable goods. So I 've come-- to investigate 'em. 

_ My duty, sir. ·what do these casks con tain ,  may I ask?" 
"Dirt, i\ fr. Coxswain ," responded Sir Henry with an affable 

smile. "vVould you like to see for yourseH? I£ so, come aboard the 
barge, and bring a hatchet. I 'm quite at your service, Mr. Naval 
Officer's Depu ty." 

"Did you say dirt, sir?" asked the coxswain incredulouslv as the 
whaleboat drew a longside the barge. "\Ve'II haul alongsi'de you, 
sir." 

The two boats lay presently together, members of the crews 
of the whaler grasping the opposite gunwale. It was a calm and 
still morning-the sun just rising over South Head-and the placid 
waters of Port Jackson stretched i n  glassy calm across to the 
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wooded shores of Bradley's and M iddle Heads. Open-mouthed, 
and a l ittle fearful, .\fessrs. Hunt and Doolev rested on their oars 
and watched these ominous proceedings. 

The coxswain stepped from th� Naval Ofhcer's boat to the 
gunwale of the roomy craft  in whose stern at the t iller sat Sir 
Henry Browne Hayes. The casks were stowed lengthways in the 
barge in two layers, and the Naval Officer's representa tive stared 
curiously down at them'as he leaned above the cargo. Doubtf ully 

· he regarded the smiling Sir Henry. 
"Are you serious, sir?'-' he asked. 
"Never more so, l\fr. Morrison. Perfecth• serious, my friend. 

Pray knock in the head of any one of the1� and you'll find the 
contents of the casks to be what I say. 'Tis I r ish soil wh ich I 've 

· imported for my garden-and I've been assured bv Captain Piper 
himself that such ari importation is not dut iable. But see for 
yourself if you won't take my word for i t ." 

"\:Vell, then, so I will, Sir Henry. I've got to. for 'tis my duty 
to make sure. Though I hope ye' I I  not be th inkin'  rm casting 
doubt upon your Honor's good faith." 

"Do your duty, Mr. Coxswain. But you mustn't m ind our sm iles . 
. Sure, ' twould make a cat laugh!" 

The coxswa in took his  hatchet  and knocked in  the end of a cask. 
A stream of brown loamy soil poured out into the bottom of the 
barge. He gasped with unsimulated astonishment. and stared at 
the smiling Sir Henry, who laughed aloud and nodded. "Well, 
me dear l\fr. l\ forrison. so ve see i t  is dirt. as I said i t  "·as. D've 
want anything further by \\;ay of proof of me bona fales? Or will 
that much sa tisfy ye?" 

"Good Lord, sir, you're righ t. I most humblv crave your pardon, 
Sir Henry. But i t  seemed to me incredible that anyone \\'mild 
want to import soil in barrels, considering "·hat a lot of i t  there 
is in New Holland. I 'd h a' sworn 'twas spirits or wine. or mayhe 
porter, tha t you were landing. No offence, I hope, Sir Henry. ln­
deP<I .  vou've fooled me completely." 

Sir Henry roared wi th laughter, and, stand ing u p  in the stern 
of the barge, stretched out his hand to the discomfited coxswain. 
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His  smiling face seemed posi tively to shine with genial appreciation 
of the joke. Coxswain \Iorrison grasped his hand diffidently and 
shook i t  in a ha l f-hearted fashion. 

"Oh, wel l ,  sir," he repeated himself, "I can only hope there's 
no offence taken.'' 

"None whate,·er, my friend. Won't you land and bring your 
men up to the house� I t  must have been dreary and tiring wait ing 
all these hours to make your capture. Bring your crew and the 
soldiers to the house and let them and yourself partake of some 
refreshment." 

The coxswain shook his head. ''Thank ye kindly, Sir Henry, 
but l must get back lo Sydney. I h(}pe the soil w ill do your 
garden credit, sir." 

"Credit !  The ble�se<J soil of Ould I reland would do credi t  to 
any country on earth . . Qh, well , i (  you won't"--

"Goo<l morning, to you, S i r  Henry." 
"'Veil, good morning to ye, then1 Mr. Coxswain, and a pleasant 

pull up the harbor in the coolth of the morning." 
\\'hen the boats had grounded upon the sands of the little b'ay 

at whose head was the beauti ful garden of Vaucluse, Sir Henry 
waited by the shore with his guests until the top layer of barrels 
had been l i fted out on to the beach. Then he directed four of 
the laborers who had been awaiting the boat's arrival to carry one 
of the casks from the lower tier up to the house. 

Accompanied by :\fessrs. Hunt and Dooley, he walked behind 
the carriers, descanting on a variety of topics as they walked 
a long the pathway,  and apparently in high good humor w ith 
h imse l [  and the world. He ordered that the barrel should be 
carried int o  the ki tchen at the back and placed u pon a table. 
They were astonished to see him set three big china mugs along­
side i t-and sti ll more so when he took down a mallet from a 
shelf and drove a spigot into a very obvious bunghole. He turned 
the tap and fi lled the mugs, one by one, wi th foaming brown 
stout. 

"Gentlemen," he said, wi th a wink at Mr. H unt, "we'll drink. 
to the blessed memory of St. Patrick in the liquid form o( the 
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soil of Ireland. 'Twas l ucky Captain Piper's man didn't tap the 
lower tier. There's four hundred and ninety barrels  of good I rish 
turf in the fire shipments-but ten of those by the Norah were 
\\'hat you see. The best Dublin stout, my friends. Sure I cou ldn't 
put Ould Ireland into the trench without wetting the precious 
soil-'twould never have done. Oh, not at al l !  Here's good luck to 
the Norah's cargo." 
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THE ANGELS OF ISLAM 
By ALLA iV BRE!Y\".-LV 

Tagh Mohammet was a good man, ·  known and 
respected throughout the Western Australian 
goldfields. What was the strange madness that 
seized, his employee and cast him in the role of 

killer? 

8.\C K 1 11 the Austra l i an - 90\ when . lol lo"· ing gold-discovery, 
deserts arid and briny  sprouted towns l ike Coolgardie and 

Ka lgoorl ie. a vast and varred "caste" gat hered to play their parts 
in the excit ing drama of a new goldfield. Across Austra l ia ,  indeed 
across the world, sounded the magic ca l l  o[ the "Golden vVest." 
Of that m ighty Band of H ope thus ca l led together the story 
wh ich fo l lows is concerned principal ly  with nm Afghans ; and 
when one was hanged for murdering the other every man on the 
scattered f ields of gold hoped that his sou l  had taken the right 
road-to Hel l .  For far and w ide ·across the lonely \\'estern expanses 
the name of Tagh l\,fohammet was known and respected. _Men 
farther out, who perhaps never saw the man,  yet honourec,l h is 
name;  and here let me remark that thev wou ld need to be verv 
far out, for the camel-teams of Tagh l\Iahornrnet ranged widely: 
nor. as I sha l l  show, was the load a lways a pay ing one. 

Gou l im Mahommet, who worked for Tagh .  was of a grasping 
disposit ion, covetous and miserly. Field opin ion of h im was that 
h e  would rather part w ith a pint of blood than give a man a match . .  

In every respect, physical and menta l ,  Goul im  d,iffered from h i s  
country11ian. Tagh was of generous proport ions, and  a powerful 
man.  H is ample w hite turban, roomy wh ite trousers, embroidered 
j acket and long gold chain with sequ ins, \\'ere a fami l iar sight in  
Coolgardie. He ,�as a keen business man.  but fa ir to  a small frac­
t ion in a l l  h is deal ings. Stil l .  he ne,·er let h is keenness get in  
the way  of a friendly gamble over the  "odd money." At that  Tagh 
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did not worry about mere shillings. Let an account for carriage 
run to (say) £ IJ 5, or even considerably more, then Tagh was 
a lways will ing to toss on a double or quits basis for the odd money 
above the century. Oft the toss of a coin meant a continuance of 
the game, and on one occasion a gamble of this sort in Bayley 
Street caught such attention that soon the street was crowded 
with interested spectators. Tagh emerged from the game about 
£200 to the good, whereupon he invited the crowd across to 
Charley Sommers' ho,tel and shouted champagne at 25./- a bottle. 
He would have taken an equal loss just as l ightly! 

Goulim was of scanty physique·, singularly knock-kneed and 
bony. Indeed his legs were more l ike turkey-supports, of approxi­
mately osteological formation; and he walked as if they -needed a 
trifle more grease in the hinges. 

Of course the scarcity of Goulim's legs was not a public incon­
venience. People were more concerned with the fact that he was 
a lways accompanied by a well-defined smell-that adhesive brand 
which advertises bodily uncleanliness. There were business-people 
in the goldfields towns who would have been pleased to provide 
Goulim with a cedar coffin, also a marble tombstone plastered with 
compl iments from lightning-arrester to ground level, in return 
for the pleasure of shoving him under it. As already hinted, the 
way of this story will  be to show how the day came when instead 
they "shouted" him a rope. In the meantime there was general 
regret that his father hadn't died at l east two years before his 
mother was born. _ 

Tagh l\Iahomet was deeply religious. He didn't know:_how 
could he?-that even the Angels of Islam have their limitations, 
and that in his greatest extremity they would fail him. This 
man .whose skin was dark, but whose spirit was as white as a snow­
drift, l ived up to h is surname. He was a good l\Johammedan, 
possessed of great faith in Allah and the angels whose duty it 
was to l isten to his prayers at sunrise. To be sure he had never 
seen those angels, but that did not matter. Was it not written in 
the Book? And who was he, Tagh Mahomet, that he should doubt 
that which was written? • 

A" I considered the career of Tagh Mahomet, a scrap here, 
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a nother there, iIT \Vestern journals, most of them retailing briefly 
some act of generosity, one a rescue in circumstances which de­
manded courage at its splendid top, a lso facts adduced at the 
tria l  of his murderer, I came grea t ly  to admire the man. Such 
as Tagh Mahomet come not often ! 

There was the time when the Coolgardie fire of '95 convened 
Bay ley Street into a mile-long avenue of flaming pine and hessian .  
Tagh ca l led out h is men a n d  set a l l  avai lable teams a t  work carry­
i ng water. Suddenly a yell went u p-a man trapped in a shanty! 
The shanty had more wood in its construction, also less hessian 
than common in hasty goldfield architecture, and hence hadn't 
burnt out with the murderous speed of the hessian structures. 
\Vi thout even a gleam of hesi tation Tagh disappeared in to the 
flari ng heat, risking h is l ife in courageous effort to save another's. 
Fif teen seconds dragged slowly by ere Tagh emerged, carrying a 
fel low-creature, mercifully u nconscious, far advanced along a track 
where the traffic is strictly one way. Nor was Tagh himself in  
much better shape. But  tanned from babyhood by the sun of 
Afghanistan, additionally toughened by the long marches with 
the camel teams across vVestralia's thirstv wi lds, he withstood 
the fiery ordeal, and held to consciousness. The heart matched 
the man .  

I think that ·we can take i s  as  a certainty tha t the angels 
employed in far-off Mecca _ to record the good deeds and bad of 
the faithfu l ,  marked Tagh's splendid action on the credi t  side, and 
a l lotted him a long rest u pon E lysian cushions in shady gardens, 
,,·h ere the m usic of murmuring waters mingles with the soft ,·oices 
of the dark-eyed Houris who a ttend upon the disciples of Allah 
in  the Heaven of I s lam. Be that as it may, Coolgardie decided to 
re,vard Tagh's brave deed on the spot. Indeed, celebra tions were 
immedia te, and for three or four davs cont inuous: That carried 
them over Sunday, but provided th,;t nobody was killed i n  the 
rush the goldfields police cared but litt le whether -a man took 
liq uid refreshment on the first day of the week or the second. 
Sing hey for the police of the vVestern gold-rushes, for they kne,� 
wel l  when the soft pedal was the best peda l !  

· 'iThe great carrying industry of  Tagh and Faiz Mahomet, which 
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might truly  be described as Cobb and Co. appl ied to camel-teams 
and freight, rather than passengers, carried water, tucker, tools of 
trade and indeed their every want, to prospectors far and wide, and 
it was also part of the firm's contract to carry a prospector's ore to 
the nearest battery. As Tagh employed only the kind of man who 
woul d  get through even though the heavens should fall, his teams. 
ran to timetable l ike an express. Regarded purely as a driver, a 
lot of abi l i t ies came to a focus in Goulim's skinny carcase. 

Every driver of the hundreds employed by the firm had i nstruc­
t ions that a digger i n  , trouble was to be assisted in every way, 
even if i t  meant delaying a load, or in desperate emergency cut­
ting their own water-ration. 

One day a curious doubt cropped up in Tagh's mind. He saw 
that an error of mere inches at Coolgardie · would at Mecca be 
measurable i n  miles, and the fact worried him. As Tagh looked 
at the matter the Great Arbiter of Mohammedan fortunes had 
been much too good to him to permit ot a mere chance shot acr<™i 
the world with his salaams and thanks. In point of riches Allah 
had raised him so far above the average of his  kind that he could 
not-would not!-tolerate the idea that his respectful thanks at  
sunrise should travel across the world fortuitously, a hit or  miss 
thanksgiving as it were. H is first reaction was :o engage another 
Imam, or priest, thereby as he thought doubling the chance that 
his worshipful thanks should reach the God of Mohammedani�m 
at Mecca, and for a time this satisfied him. 

An average Mohammedan would have been satisfied that his 
intentions were right, indeed doubly right, and so have left the 
matter to Allah, the All-knowing, to adjust. But Tagh was ,no 
ordinary Mohammedan, as he also was no 01 dinary man; and 
again doubts overcame him. If  one priest's prayers and thanks 
could miss the sacred city, then so might the other's, and i n  his 
deep sincerity the -possibil ity tormented him. 

Gazing at a map of the world one day it crossed his inquiring 
mind that the world was round, not flat; and then and there he 
decided that a flat map of a round world could at best be but 
a poor guide to direction. On that same day he enlisted the aid 
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of the Government Surveyor, stated his problem, and had the 
important matter of direction settled scientifically. At Tagh's 
request the surveyor marked the point on the compass which, 
extended across the world, would bisect Mecca. And at last 
certain that his prayers at day break, in the Mosque outside Cool­
gardie, were heard by Allah in Mecca, and borne witness to by the 
Angels of I slam, Tagh went his generous way in peace. 

Tagh's devoutness did not in any way detract from his popular­
ity. Rather it enhanced it, for as I have shown it was the man's 
nature to obey particularly the passages of the Koran which made ' 
for generosity to ' one's fellow-man. The goldfields population was 
not greatly concerned with causes. Widely derived, they also were 
widely tolerant, and contented themselves with effects. Not without 
excel lent reason was Tagh Mahomet, his skin browned by the 
splendid Australian sun till he was nearly as dark as a s·ydney 
surf-side sun-bather, known over the vast Westralian length and 
breadth as a "white man." 

"If Tagh l ikes having two priests to help him pray, , then that is 
Tagh's affair, and nobody else's concern at all," said a miner in 
Somer's Hotel one day, "and if he wants to be certain that his 
prayers are on the target, then that too is Tagh's business. If 
religion helped to make Tagh Mahomet the man he is, then 
Australia, Western Australia in particular, could do with a lot 
more of it. Let us drink to Tagh's prospects, both present and 
future." Whilst the "round" was being disposed of, Tagh walked 
in, and ere the "session" ended the initial round extended to 
scores. Happy-go-lucky days of gold! 

After Tagh's departure Goulim Mahomet's name came up. 
"'When I first saw Goulim I thought that a i'ew drinks might im• 
prove him," said a man, "but when I saw him drunk I wanted to 
shoot him." Charged with having failed to carry out a public duty 
on the second occasion he was declared guilty and sentenced to 
shout for the crowd. I t  seems to me that Australia could do with 
another goldrush! 

With the evidences, temporal and spiritual, of Tagh's excellent 
nature so strongly proved, i t  was no wonder that the angels went 
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right ahead with p lans to reward lum. Scan:e a week wtthout news 
of a new gold-strike; and into each of them, heavi ly laden, marched 
the camel-teams ' of the firm of Faiz and Tagh l\ Iahomet. Faiz 
spent most of his t ime in Geraldton. 

Tagh's teams were composed exclusively o f  Au�tra l ian-bred 
camels, bigger and heavier than those original ly imported, and 
much more powerful  and endunng. 

It  is, I think, historical ly interesting that the fame of the 
Austral ian-bred camel spread to India, and interested the Army 
authorities there to such an extent that six were purchased for 
shipment. On arriv,11 it was at once conceded that their appear­
ance, size and obvious strength matched best specifications. "Thev 
are a l l  I've heard about them," said a man of mi l itary a uthority, 
"and we' l l  have more of them." At that moment A ustralia was on 
the verge of an export trade in camels! But the rapid improvement 
of the petrol-driven vehicle strangled the idea. 

Goul im Mahomet was a fel low-Afghan who ·worked for 1.'agh. 
He had a grouch, as i l l -based in fact as a pyramid upside down. 
This grouch was twelve months old, and dated from the dav 
when he quarrel led with Tagh, whom he accused of try ing to get 
too prosperous to ki l l  him! Read it over aga in, j ust in case y1 1u 
missed the ful l  flavour of the lunatic statement, rendered bv 
Go�t l im Mahomet in \Vestern Austra l ia somewhere a long the h i 1 1-
derpart of the year f895·. J t  ,,·as indeed strange that such a queer 
thought shou ld have had birth, but not at a l l  strange that on<e 
born it shou ld l ive; for Gou l im's i nte l l ect barely matched miss i n�­
link level. 

If he rea l ly sets his mind to it, a mat� can conjure up some odd 
ideas. Did you ever' hear of a shiny burglar with bl ue-mou lded 
eyes? Or a dog with two tai ls  and a .boi ler-meta l head? Or a 
typhoid-headed vampire with 200 teeth? Or of the murderer who 
disguised h imself in a cough and stutter, and married his v i ct im\ 
wife? If  the foregoing ideas sound odd, as they were meant Lu. 
I think Goul im's of assessment of Generous Tagh Mahomet's mind 
sounds odder by far 

l'iot only -d id Gou l im l\Iahon�et's weird idea l ive. 1t also deve-
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lope<l, gaining strength as it grew, till at the end of 12 months it  
became an obsession .  Tagh's i ncreasing prosperi�y and wealth, as 
field after field beckoned with fingers of gold, annoyed Goulim, 
i ndeed tormented hun .  As he considered Tagh's ever-increasing 
bank account, gloomy Goulim's thoughts were possibly a mixture 
of venom, fire, blasphemy and cactus-spikes. �is glad raiment, his 
easy acceptance in any company, his easy smile, his hearty laugh, 
probably the fact that he inhabited the same earth as he, Goulim 
Mahomet, obviously annoyed the man. 

Came the morning of January 1 0th, 1 896. The angels who 
attended to the prayers of Tagh Mahomet were not yawning, nor 
rubbing their eyes, nor grumbling about early rising in their usual 
manner. Instead, there was an alert expectancy about them. I n  
spirit_ they reached the camel-camp at Coolganlie j ust as sunrise 
tame over the rim of the plain. Tagh Mahomet was already 
kneeling between his two Imams. 

Goulim also was at his prayers, and among other things he 
asked that Allah should prosper the morning's deed. Then, his last 
prayer over, he arose, walked across to where Tagh still salaamed, 
paused a moment or two behind his kneeling figure, pointed a 
revolver and fired. 

Past all power of feeling ere he completed his collapse on the 
floor of the Mosque, Tagh Mahomet died in less than a minute. 
What shall we say of his spirit? What CAN we say? Whence? 
Whither? Possibly th� dictiorary holds no other words to which 
such an amount of concentrated thought has been applied ; yet 
can we surely say that the problem which each subtends has been 
solved? For the balance of this story let the "ayes" have it! 

Doubtless the Angels of Islam welcomed the spirit of Tagh 
Mahomet as such an unquestioning believer deserved that they 
should, though whether he liked them for having hurried, him 
at the close must remain unknown. 

Just here let me edge in the gentlest of doubts! I submit that i t  
i s  distinctly possible th,i.t the spirit of Tagh Mahomet thought 
that on the I-0th January, 1 896, his prayers to be admitted to the 
Paradise of Mohammedanism had been taken a m ite too literally. 
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As of course you have divined, ragh Mahomet was a good em­
ployer. The wage-fixing Arbitration Courts of to-day date from far 
this side of 1 896; a nd if a l l  employers had patterned on Tagh 
:Mahomet they n eed never have been created. From the fact of 
Tagh's goodness now followed another-that immediately follow­
ing the fata l shot Goulim had urgent need to take every precau tion 
against his vengeful count rymen. As he had profaned the sacred 
bui lding by murder, so now he continued to profane i t  I by threat 
of · further murder. Facing with levelled revolver men prepared 
with their bare hands to beat the life out of him, he backed out 
of the temple and started at his best speed for the pol ice camp. 
Severa l of his .countrymen and a party of miners joined i.n the 
chase. 

Constable Percy Brown saw this humaq coursing match coming 
his way, heard vengefu l cries on the morning air, of course deduced 
trouble, recognised Goulim as the "hare," divined that i f  grassed 
he'd probably become a corpse in new record time, and ran to 
meet him. As he neared the badly scared Goulim that man 
�ol lapsed and fel l to the ground. 
· As the men came on Brown made it  clear that if necessarv he 

· ,;•wuld at l east attempt to defend the fal len man, but there ' was 
no trouble. Indeed no thought of it. For one thing. Brown was 
known far a nd "·ide as a good man. 

"\\That's the trouble?" asked the Constable. 
"Five minutes ago he shot Tagh Mahomet dead," sa id one 

Spruhan. "Shot him from behind at that." _ 
Brown looked down at  the cringing Goul im. "lt's a -- pity 

they didn't catch you," he said. 
And I j ust then said Brown was a good man! 
Like fire through hessian the news of Tagh's violent passing 

out of l i fe tore across the goldfields town.  As a mark of respect 
miners downed tools for the day. The sad n ews drifted out 
across the desert, and men came in  to know it  i t  were true. 
Though the hotels had a good day there was l i ttle hi larity. Men 
drank, as one said. hecause Tagh Mahomet woul d  have preferred 
it so; and they drank to Tagh's future pr�spects. 
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Finally a cloud of anger settled down on the fields. The miners 
became angry and excited that a "mangy brute l ike Gou lim :i\Ia­
homet had by his cowardly action deprived them of the society 
of the whitest m_an in the \Vest." 

"\Ye want just ice, and we want it now," sa id a speaker. "The 
pol ice are a l l  right and good men, but their way is too slow." 

Armed with pick-handles and such-like weapons, a l so a stout  
rope, a party of miners bore down u pon the pol ice camp; and the 
further they travel led the larger became the "army." Fortunately 
Inspector \IcKenna saw them <':omi ng, and at once went to meet 
them. 

:\'ow this same \IcKenna was a p icked man. He ruled the fields, 
not on his posit ion of Inspector of Po1ice, but on h is sheer manly 
merns. "You put me in a bad posi tion," said he, as he walked 
amongst the crowd of excited men. " If you determined to get the 
man and string him up-at that I'd not blame you-I'd have to 
fight the matter out, which would mean bloodshed, and that I'd 
detest. Gi,·e the damned wretch over to the law, and trial .  Re­
member tha t  a .Judge states only the law of the matter, but  that 
it i s  the j ur y  which judges the facts and gives i ts verdict. Goul im 
Mahomet wi l l  come into your hands, twelve' of you anyway, in the 
long nm. In the meantime I'l l  engage that he nei ther gets away 
nor gets out by the su icide's track. No man more carefu l ly watch­
ed! Now get back to the town, and when you think matters over 
I think that one or two ol you m ight even drink to my continued 
good health!" 
· I said that \fcKenna was a picked man. He was sorted out by 

no less a man tha t  John Forrest, and given what amounted to a 
blank cheque on the goldfields. 

The men gave three cheers for Inspector l\JcKenna, drank his 
heal th in  every hotel and shanty on the fields, and general ly 
agreed that Gou l im Mahomet cou ldn't be in  better hands. But 
there was l i t tle of h i larity 011 that  day of mourn ing, for on every 
hand man l i teral ly FELT · the presence of Tagh Mahomet­
Tagh, of the ever-ready help ing hand-Tagh, whose casual word 
was as a bond of steel-Tagh, whose genia l  l augh was now si lenced 
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forever--:--Tagh, ,rho�e greatest pleasure was to '\,hout for the 
crowd"�Tagh, whom they would never see aga in .  As this last fact 
sett led ever heaY itr on their thoughts they thought of the foul 
author of the i r  sadne'\s ; and i t  soon became clear that the miner's 
most scorch i ng and �cath ing  curse was the private property of 
Goul im :\Ia homet .  

\Vi thin t,,·o hours of  Tagh :\Jahomet's violent dea th. the electric 
telegraph c01ive,ed the  �ad news to Faiz Mahomet, his brother, 
at Geraldton. The Koran !  As Faiz l\Iahomet well knew, in its 
sol emn pages i t  i ;;  l a id dow n  that the murder of a Mohammedan  
must be  aven!led hy the  dead man's heir, i n  this i ns tance himself: 
And by speci a l  coat hes a nd special trains, expense no matter .. 
Faiz Mahomet tr�ne l led to the goldfields to carry out this sacred 
miss ion. But thoug:h he sympathised with Fa iz and his m ission, 
of course J nspec tnr ,fr Kenna could not accede to his requ est that 
Goul im be hall(.led o,·er for immediate execution. 

"The munler of � our  brother by Gouhm Mahomet appears to 
have been premetl i w ttd and deliberate, and there is l i ttle doubt 
tha t he w i l l  be hangtd for it," said the Inspector. "The best I can 
do for you . i, to gtt ) OU a permit  to witness the hanging. shou'ld 
it take place." 

And with that the disappointed brother of the· dead man had 
to be satisf ied. 

Coldfields opin ion �-a�  solidly behind Faiz and his request, which 
was genera l l ,  reganletl as a reasonable one! P la in ly Gou l im 
couldn " t  i n  h i �  n,t rrm,: (·e l l  be forever la id a dav too soon·  for the 
miners. "\\. hy '\11 ,l � te t ime tryi ng the --?" asked every second 
mii1er. "Doe�n· t  everybody know that he is as gu ilty as Hel l ?"  

Actua l l v  the t r i ,1 1  of Gou l im l\lahomet for murder matched 
popu lar op in ion, lor  it cannot be described other than as a steady 
slide towards the gr im and grey old gallows in Perth Ja i l .  There 
have been tri a l ,  wf.1 id1 t onsisted largely of an alleged fact or two 
and an ocean of � l i ppery theory, b1,.1 t this was not-definitel y  not­
the case when Gou l i m  laced his accusers. N eYer was murder more 
widelv sworn to. for lour  . .\.ustral ian Provinces-Oueen<;!and, New 
Soutl1 \Vales, Victoria and South Austral ia-supplied eye-wi tnes�es. 
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As the trial ad,,anced two l acts became e\'er clearer, the first of 
which was that Goulim would bloom with his Joss in the i\Ioham­
medan paradise at an early date, and the second that he didn't 
like the idea. I ndeed, from current account, it would seem that at 
any point in  the trial Goulim would have swapped his preseut 
prospects for a sandy patch out Southern Cross way. 

Unfortunate Goulnn ! H is jealousy of Tagh's prospects, pop1 1 -
Iarity and prosperity had nicked him towards d isaster; and at 8 
a.m. April 4, 1 896, in Perth Jail, he caught up with i t. 
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Dr. Belaney's Prussic Acid Remedy 
By ARNOLD SCRIBE 

In many cases Dr. Belaney's prescriptions had 

been most effective. Apparently, however, there 
was something wrong with the treatmen he had 

decided on for his ·wife with the result that he 

made his appearance in court as a widower. 

HIGH excitenient ruled in North Sunderland both during_ and 
after the hearing in London of the · charge against Dr. James 

Belaney, one of the residents of North Sunderland, of murdering 
h is wife with prussic acid. The inhabitants of that ci ty seem to 
have been al l  on the side of the deceased woman and dead against 
her survi\' ing husband, a v iew which was publicly and enthusiast ic­
a l l y  confirmed by their conduct after the hearing, as· w i l l  be deta i l­
ed later in this historv. 

The · Belaney case l1eard at the Old Bai ley fea t ured a long 
series of unusual l y  strong condemnatory circumstantia l  evidence; 
it was so strong indeed that it seemed overwhelming. 

D r. .James Belaney had been carrying on the profession of a 
medica l practitioner in Sunderland in the N orth of England for 
some time unt i l  November, 1843, when he married :\f iss Rachel 
Skel ley, the daughter and only chi ld of a well-to-do w idow who, 
among other substantia l  assets, owned a lime-work business. After 
the marriage Dr. Belaney and his wife went to reside with :Mrs. 
Skel lev, h is mother-in-law, and he then took over the sole man­
agement of the l ime-works. \Vithin a very lew months l\Irs. Skelley 
d ied, her onl y  medical attendant during her previous i l lness being 
her son-in-law. Dr. Belaney certified the death of l\ frs. Ske lley as 
having been due to a "bi l ious fever," whatever that expression 
may mean. At any rate Dr. Belanev's certificate of death was 
accepted by the authorities and the old lady was duly buried. And 
notwithstanding the suspicion caused by the circumstances of the 
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subsequent death of her daughter shortly afterwards, no one seems 
to have thought of having the mother's body exhumed and exam­
ined after the tragic end of the daughter, Mrs. Rachel Belaney. 

After Mrs. Skelley's death, her daughter came into possession 
of soq1e £ l l ,OOO worth of property (including the l ime-works), a 
very substantial inheritance in  those days, a� will be recognised. In 
June, 1 844, Dr. Belaney decided to take his wife to London. He 
informed friends i n  Sunderland that he intended to obtain lodg­
i ngs in London and to leave his wife there while he took a trip 
up the Rhine and then proceeded to Holland to view an exhibition 
of hawking which was to take place there, as he was deeply inter­
ested in the sport of falconry. 

In the month of �fay, and before Dr. and l\f rs. Belaney left 
Sunderla11d, each of them had made a will in the other's sole 
favour. 

I n  London, Dr. Belaney took lodgings for himseH and his wife 
in  the house of a �frs. Heppingstall in Stepney. They arrived a t  
l\frs. Heppingstal l's house on  4 th June. At this time Mrs. Belaney 
was in her seventh month ol pregnancy. 

It is not to be wondered at that in v iew of her then condition 
and the somewhat strenuous journey from Sunderland, l\frs. 
Belaney was not well on the day of her arrival at the lodgings. 
But on the next day, 5th June, she was undoubtedly very much 
better. 

On 7th June Dr. Belaney went to a London surgeon, Dr. 
Donoghue, ·and arranged for that doctor to procure for him a 
selection of drugs, including prussic acid, which Dr. Belaney was, 
accord ing to him, in the habit of taking for some internal nervous 
or dyspeptic complaint from which he stated that he suffered and 
which was aimed at rel ieving it. The next day, June 8, the land­
lady, l\frs. Heppingstall ,  was suddenly summoned to the Belaneys• 
bedroom. l\frs. Belaney was gasping for breath and her husband 
was standing over, her with a scalpel in his hand. A surgeon was 
immediately sent for; but before he could arrive, after one shriek 
(her last act of volition, as one medical witness put it) Rachel 
Belaney died. 
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\Vhile Mrs. Belaney wa·s lymg in the agonies of death Dr. 
Belaney told :Mrs. Heppingsta l l  that his  wife had had fi ts before 
but  t_hat she wou ld never get over that one. \Ve ,-vii i see in a 
moment how he knew that to be a certain ty. 

But Belaney told the surgeon called in to attend his wif�, Dr. 
Garrett, that his wife had only been taking a little salts. 

Before the arrival of Dr. Garrett ,  Belanev had a l lowed friction, 
cataplasm and such remedies to be applie�l on his wife, though, 
as it was deposed by experts at  the trial of Dr. Belaney,  they could 
have had no effect on her in view of the real cause of her 
despera te condition. 

Dr. Garrett at ,once recognised the cause ol �Irs. Belanev's death 
• as the consumptiqn of prussic acid, though at first he kept his 

conviction �o himself. 
An inq uest on the death of Rachel Belaney was held on June 

IO  and a post-mortem of the body was of  course ordered by the 
coroner. This disclosed the cause of death without anv doubt.  
But before the resu l t  of the post-mortem became known' to h im, 
Behrney in formed Dr. Garrett tha t he knew that the cause of h i s  
wife's death was  in  fact prussic acid. Belaney explained to Dr. 
Garrett that he had dilu ted some prussic acid in order to have 
i t  handy for his own use, and that, having accidental ly  broken 
the phia l in which it was usually kept ,  he had carelessly left the 
liquid in a tumbler and that his \-vile had drunk it in mistake 
for a dose of sa l ts. 

\Vhen Dr . . James Belaney came up for tria l for the murder of 
his wife ,rt the Old Bailey in London in S�ptember, 18H, though 
the Solicitor-General who led for the prosecution opened to the 
jury in q uite a restrained address, a number of witnesses deposed 
to a series of circumstantia l facts of such a na ture as a lmost to 
com plete conviction of the prisoner's guil t .  The fact that prussic 
acid had been taken by the deceased and tha t  that poison was 
the cause of her dea th was not denied; of course, it could not be 
denied by the defence. \,\That was denied was a l l  motive and 
anv active participation by Bel.:mey. 

ln addition to the n umber of facts a lready set out which told 
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so heavily aga inst Belaney, there was an e,·en more fo1:midahle 
array of incu lpa tory circumstances to be found in the tissue of 
falsehoods which came from his  mouth and his pen, which niade 
the case against him much more black and in some m inds would 
undoubtedly have turned any mere suspicion into complete 
certainty. 

Keeping 1 11 mind the few important dates g i ven and the 
short series of incidents already detailed, ,re have the additional 
incriminating proof tha t  on June 5 Beh1 11ey wrote to a friend 
of h i s  in Sunderland that his wife was verv unwell. The very 
n4tt.xt day Belaney wrote to the same friend tha·t. his wife was very ill 
indeed and that she had been a ttended b, t,rn doctors who 
expected that she would miscarry. All those statements were utterly 
false. ln

1 

a third letter posted, if not actu a l ! �  written, on June  8 
and a fter Rachel Belaney·s death, Belaney wrote to his friend that 
his w i fe was worse and that her medical at tendant  as well as 
himself thought that she had disease of the heart. A l l  these were 
equa lly false statemen ts. On June 9 in a letter to his friend in 
Sunderland .Belaney announced that his beloved Rachel was no 
more. That statement was c-0mpletely true. 

\Vhen Dr._ Garrell receivetl the "confession" o[ Belaney as to the 
tumbler of prussic acid left carelessly by him and the contents of 
which his wife had drunk to his knowledge, Dr. Garrett most 
natura l l y  wanted to know why the man had not at once acknow­
ledged that his wife had taken the poison prepared, according to 
his la ter story, for himsel f To that1 chal lenge Belaney rep l ied 

· w i th the surprising assertion that he was too much ashamed and 
enraged with himsel f to disclose the truth earl ier .  This same ex­
planat ion of the a lmost incredibl e  incident Belaney a lso made in 
pri\ 'ate letters to acquain tances in Su nderl and, adding tha t  he 
did not reallv know what he was about a t  the time of the tra2ic 
happen ing. ' ·  

Such "·as the e,·idence for the prosecution . 
Mr. W illiam Erle a ppeared as leading counsel for the accused 

Rela nev. Erle was a most able  and subtle adYocate. Like some 
other �1 u i te famous men bo.th inside and outside the law. Erle 
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suffered from a n  impediment in hi� speech which he had schooled 
himsel f  largely to overcome. And though he did not possess the 
art of eloquence as then genera l ly understood, the outstanding 
features of which were elaborate (if not over-elaborate) verbosity 
and vehemence. Erle had qualities which acquired for him a great 
and deserved reputa tion and took him a t  length to the importa n t  
post of (.;hief Justice of the Common Pleas. 

I n  the trial  of Belanev Erle most certainlv <lid wonders for his 
client in an enormously difficult case. In the 

1

defence Erle contend­
ed that his client had not the slightest motive for committing the 
imputed crime of the murder of his wife and that his �tory as�o 
the happenings on J une 8 was the t rue one. And a great number 
of witnesses were cal led for the defence. One of them was a mft11 
named Clarke who was a master mariner and a c lose friend of 
Belaney a nd who was sent  for by Belaney on that fa tal Saturday 
(June 8) a nd who, in  addition, was himself actua l ly present  a t  
t he death o f  Mrs. Belaney. Captain Clarke deposed that h e  had 
heard Belanev exclaim that his wife ,rnuld not recover, as wel l  
a s  declaring that it "·as entirely owing t o  his mrn gross negli­
gence that she was in her then dreadful condition. On 1\Ionday, 
June I 0, according to Clarke, Belaney told C larke the "·hole story 
of his awful mistake and how he came to make- it . 1\ Ianv witnesse-;, 
friends of both Belanev and his wife, ca me from Sumi'erland and 
�lsewhere to describe Belaney as a thorouf!;hly humane man  and 
as having been more kind and atten ti,·e to his  ,l"ife than husba nds 
usually were. And these witne,ses agreed tha t 1\ I rs. Bela ney was 
a woman of highly attractive appearance and the most engag-ing 
manners and tha t it had been a pparent that she reciprocated her 
husband's affection in the most unequivoca l fashion.  They a lso 
deposed that there "·as no doubt that a fter his wife's dea th 
Belaney's aspect was marked by al l the signs of profound and 
sincere grief. 

J\Ir. Baron Gurney was the judge who presided at the tria l of 
Belaney at the Old Bailey. I n  his summing-up that j udge c_om­
mented a t  length on the bad but perhaps erroneous 1 1npress 1ons 
·which the in tricate falsehoods (inexpJica ble, too, manv must have 
thought) of the prisoner were calculated to make. �atura l l y  the 
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j udge's a ttitude was by no means unhelpful to the accused's c.1se. 
I t  must be remembered that in those days an accused person was 
not permitted to give evidence on his ml.·n behalf and that therefore 
Bel aney had not the opportunity to make his explanations, if he 
had any, upon oath. Perhaps that fact redounded much to his 
advantage. Fm; one may well imagine what havoc a skilful cross­
examiner could have made of Belaney's story if . told by himself 
in the witness-box as well as of his string of u ndeniable and 
calcu lated falsehoods. 

After only a half an hour of consideration the jury returned a 
verdict of acqui t tal . of the extr�ordinary fortunate Dr. Jame�, 
Belaney. ,vhatever the freed prisoner himself really thought of the 
verdict, upon hearing it he displayed not the slightest apparent 
emotion but merely bowed to .the Court and retired from the dock. 

But that was not by any means the end of the troubles of Dr. 
James Belaney. I t  may be that he considered that the world v,:ould 
accept the j u ry's decision as concl usive proof of his innocence. 
Other accused . persons similarly charged have from time to time 
p ut on the airs of innocence after acquittal and have succeeded in 
inducing others to accept their attitude as j ustified and correct. 
But if that was Belaney's view it certainly was not that of a hi;>st 
of other people. 

Belaney, immediately after his court triumph, returned to his 
old home in Sunderland. The acquittal had occasioned the most 
i n tense excitement of popular feeling in the neighbourhood of 
Sunderland. The general populace, · hostile to Belaney almost 
to a man, collected in great numbers i n  the evening of his arriv:il 
at his home and paraded the streets and lanes in and near North 
Sunderland carrying th1�ee effigies, the first represen ting Belaney 
h imself, the second what was called " the arch fiend," whose identitv 
i s  easily understood, and the third a composite figure of Belane/s 
friends who resided mostly in Ne,\:castle and who had taken so 
prominent a part in assisting Belaney at his trial for murder of 
the woman who h�d been held in the district in  the highest 
regard and even affection. \'\'hen about 9 o'clock at n ight the 
huge procession reached the gates of Belaney's house they began 
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to set fire to his effigy outside the gates. Belaney rushed out and 
fired off a pistol in the direction of the crowd but he was forced 
to make a hurried retreat, dropping his pistol as he ran. The crowd 
was so incensed at the conduct of Belaney that it then began a 
general advance and attack upon the house itself, battered down 
and demolished the glass frames. Haying got inside the premises 
th�ey destroyed everything that came in their way. In  the confusion 
Belaney managed to make his e�cape and to elude his infuria ted 
pursuers by secreting himself somewhere in a field. This ruse 
was a lucky one for him, otherwise there is little doubt th!t t  if he 
had been found he would  have been instantly lynched by the mob. 
The mass of men then set fire to the gates and ro the other two 
effigies, and finally they suspended · the- remains of the effigy of 
Belariey by the neck from a chimney pot on a house opposite 
Belaney's, where they left it swinging in the wind. 

The next  morning Belaney's house looked, we are told, as if it 
had been assaulted by a small army and had been battered by 
h undreds of cannon balls. But that was not the finish to the viru­
lence of the populace. The next night they assembled again and 
deliberately set fire to the Belany's house with the result that the 

, whole structu.re was burnt completely to the ground. 

We are told that the situation of Belaney's house was very 
romantic. I t  had been erected at the end of the village, near the 
end of a cliff and directly overlooking the sea, the_ drawing-room 
windows being only a few inches from the summit of a fearsome 
precipice. - It had been built according to a plan prepared by 
Belaney himself and its unusual features had long afforded food 
for loc�t l gossip among the rustic population of the district .  The 
significance of the design of the house has never been explained 
and this certainly gave rise to many gruesome ideas in the minds 
of the Sunderland folks. These matters may even so affect the 
modern reader of this tragic story. 

Over a hundred years after this unique case we are still l�ft with 
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two questions wh ich still leave us with grave doubts. The first i� 
a'i  to how in fact Dr. James Belaney's unfortunate wife came to 
her death (includ ing, of course, that of her unborn child). The 
second is as to what testimony of what witnesses and what other 
factors, such as the effects of able advocacy and the judge's 
apparent partial summ ing-up, i nfluenced the j ury which tried him 
to acquit the husband of his  wife's m urder. 
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YVETTE LOST BER BEAD 
By C. KAY 

If M. Molinas had not been so vain it is likely 
Unt he might have got away with the murder of 
the lovely Yvette Boissieu. Fortunately for the 
authorities, however, his vanity was an emotion 

he could not control. 

JT is a well-worn adage that every criminal makes one mistake · that proves to be his last. This is a story of that fascinating 
city, Paris, which by and large, has produced over the century a 
greater crop of the most diabolical murderers than any other 
place in the world. 

And it was the almost incredible vanity of a certain business 
man who, though on the run after committing a nrnrcter, could 
not refrain from giving himself airs, that landed his neck under 
the guillotine. 

Early one morning in - the early eighties, Gendarme Gustav 
Dubois was on the beat in the Rue Dauphin. It was still dark, 
the traffic was negligible and 'the pedestrians few. 

Halting in a deserted doorway, he took out his pipe and, began 
to fill it . At the sari1e time, glancing across the street, he.noticed a 
rather furtive figure carrying a sack, halt outside the doorway of 
a small  cafe which bore the rather fanciful name of Le Loup 
Rouge. The figure commenced to rummage in a large box, but 
the gendarme did not trouble to investigate closer. The furtive, 
shambling figure was well known to him-it was old Pierre 
Mandel, a scavenger of garbage. Pierre, in modern parlance, was 
"not all there." A creature of the slums, kicked from pillar to 
post, he existed mainly on what he could scrounge from cafe 
waste. Quite a number of restauranteurs in the quarter often left 
tasty tit-bits wrapped tip in paper for him. 

66 



Y,VETTE LOST HER HEAD 
-----------

It was said  that old Papa, M andel was a veteran of the Franco­
Prussian war of 1 870 and had been a prisoner of war. \Vhat the 
Germans had done to him was nobody's business and i t  'had left 
h im with a deficient m ind. . 

· 

As the gendarme watched, he saw the old man take a parcel 
from the bin and stow i t  inside his  sack. He then moved off down 
the street. N egligently, Dubois began to walk i n  the same direc­
t ion, but keeping on his  own side of the street. Presently Mandel 

' crossed over and the gendarme gave h im a friendly hail. 
"Good business this morni ng, Papa Mandel?" he asked wi th 

a smile. 
"Ah, it is my friend the pol ice officer," said Mandel. "Non, i t  

i s  not s o  good this morni ng. I have b u t  very l ittle reward. Alas, 
they soon forget an old poilu who fought so bravely i n  the war. 
It was different when· we marched so proudly i n  our new u n i-
forms." 

"But you got something good from the Cafe Loup Rouge, did 
you not?" asked Dubois. "Did I not see you l ift  a large parcel 
out of the bin? Somed1iJ1g tasty, . I warrant myself. Emil Lacroix 
is not a niggardly man.'' 

"He i s  my best p11tron," assented Papa_ Mandel. "Never a n ight 
passes that he does not leave me something. As soon as he closes 
the Loup Rouge he leaves me a parcel-. He knows that I l ike ham. 
I have not yet opened the parcel to see what i t  contains, but by i ts 
weight i t  i s  excel lent. Come, we will look together, mon ami." 

It was only with the slightest interest that Gendarme D ubois 
watched the scavenger dive a hand into the sack and l ug out a 
newspaper parcel t ied with string . .  l\fandel placed i t  on the foot­
path and u ntied the knot with fumbling fingers. Careful ly  he 

. 1 . i led back the layers of paper and came to a p iece of black calico. 
He pondered over this for a space and then u nwrapped this too--
to reveal what appeared to be a tubular length of raw meat. 

Papa Mandel l ooked at it in disgust. 
"Tiens!" he exclaimed. "Does Emil Lacroix make a joke of me 

that he should leave me a p iece of raw meat? I am not a dog! 
Am I?" He ' looked appeal ing at D ubois. That officer had not 
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heard him. His whole a ttent ion was t-oncentrated on the "piece of 
raw n1eat." 

"\Jon Di�u!" he exclaimed in horrified tones. "You see wh;1 t 
i t  is, Papa l\fandel? 1 t  is a piece of human leg. Sacre nom de 
Dien!" 

And Gendarme Dubois undoubtedly was correct. It \VAS a 
piece of human leg-a length of sh in. 

"Bah!" snorted Papa 7\ fandel. '·This Lacroix is  a v illa in and a 
fool. Does he think I am a canniba l ?  I will go to his cafe and  
ram i t  down h is throat." 

"Dolt and cretin !" stormed Dubois. "Here, gave me that parcel. 
M unler has been done!" · · 

H astily he rewrapped the "exh ibit" in the black calico and 
n ewspaper and tied i t  with the string. 

"Come, we will see this Emil Laci·oix and discover what he is 
doing. Come with me. P,1pa " 

The old scavenger readi ly  agreed to be a witness of what 
might occur. He was host i le with the cafe owner. Apparent ly  i t  
had not penetrated into h is foggy m ind j ust what  the gruesome 
parcel actually portended. 

:Monsieur Lacroix was not too pleased at being dragged ou t of 
bed at 4 a .m. and he sard so. Gendarme Dubois pushed past h im 
in to the frowsy l i ttle ea ting hou�e and told him to shu t  u r> and 
J i sten. 

"\Vhen· did you put th is  parcel into vour garbage box?" he 
asked, thrusting the gruesome bundle u nder the cafe proprietor's 
nose. Lacroix replied tha t he did not put any parcels in any 
garbage tins. Tha t was the work <1f h is wa i ter, Paul Floret. \\That 
was it all about, anyway? Dubois unrol l ed the parcel. Lacroix 
was horrified. Loudly he protested his innocence and sa id that 
F loret must be responsible. 

"Does this Floret put out the scraps of food for Papa Mandel?" 
.iisked Du boi-;. " I f  so, 1 sha I I  ta I k to h im a bout this. \\!here is he 
to be found?" 
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Lacro ix  replied that Floret also l ived on the premises and 
would be produced immediately.  He was, The waiter denied a l l  
knmvledge o f  the parcel. He said that he  had  left ou t  for Papa 
:Mandel some fish wrapped in whi te paper. It was at the very 
bottom of the bin and, il Mandel had not col lected i t, should be 
st i l l  there. Dubois inspected the bin, watched by Papa Mande l  
h imself, a lso Lacroix  and the palpitating waiter. The gendarme 
dived deep into the ru bbish and, sure enough, located a whi te 
paper parcel which on being opened contained half a fish. Dubois 
grunted and handed it over to old Papa Mandel .  

"1 shal l  now require a l l  of you to accompany me to the Pol ice 
Commissary," sa id Dubois and away they went. 

To say that the d iscovery in a cafe garbage bin created a sensa­
t ion is to put it mi ldly. The Police Commissary <;>f the area, one 
Andre Jacqu inot, a very experienced , officer, knew that he had 
a case and a half  on h is hands. Of course, it need not necessari lv 
mean that a murder had been committed: i t  might be a prank: 
by a medical student. Such fel lows were well known for their 
jok-€5. Jokes in  bad taste, granted, but. they did these things. 

J acquinot's preliminary gri l ling of the waiter. F loret convinced 
h im that the man had not placed the parcel in the garbage bin. 
The restauranteur Lacroi x  seemed equal ly  innocent. Nevertheless, 
a spel l  in prison for a few days would do nei ther any harm. So 
Jacquinot charged them both with complicity" in the crime and 
threw them into a cel l .  This was j ust another sidel ight of the 
old French custom of. presuming everyone gui lty unti l  they can -
prove their innocence. 
·· The doctor to whom- the grisly exh ibit was turned over said he 
could not determine definite_ly whether i t  had belonged to a man 
or a woman, but he fel t  certain that i t  was that of  an adult  and 
possibly a woman. He would need more of the body before 
making a definite d iagnosis. 

And he got more-from the garbage bins of Paris. Before the 
day was out, Pol ice Commissary - .J acquinot had been presented 
wi th enough pieces of human body to make up two legs and two 
arms. These, nine pieces in al l ,  had a l l  been found i n  garbage 
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receptacles in the vicinity of the Rue Dauphin . Dr. Beaumarcha i s  
proclaimed that the limbs, - a frer he had arranged them, were 
those of a woman, aged, he j udged, between twenty and \liirty. 

Commissa1,y .Jacquinot was quite convinced now that a crime 
had been cori1mitted and energeti.cally set about trying to identify 
the corpse-or what there was of it. The absence of the head 
made this most difficult. There were no scars or birthmarks on 
a ny of the remains found. 

And then there· commenced a w ide search for the missing p ieces 
of the human jigsaw punle. Garbage tins for miles around were 
combed over, wells were probed, the river was dragged, hut noth­
i ng more was discovered. There was the usual crop of tales from 
scaremongers a 11<1 those suffering from imaginitis about mysterious 
figures seen dropping equally mysterious parcels i nto garbage bins  
at  dead of  night, but this got the police nowhere. 

Dr. Beaumarchais gave it as his opinion that the woman had 
died about 24 IH;>Urs before the discovery was made_ by Gendariue 
D u bois. The actual dismemberment had probably been done with 
a chopp�r soon after death. 

Turning his attention to the wrapping, .Jacquinot had a ta i lor · 
exa mine it. This. man stated that it was material commonly used 
by tailors and dressmakers, but cou ld be bought by the roll hv 
the general public. 

The Commissary had his a�sistants look u p  the list of women 
reported missing down the past two weeks. There were 23! H e  
had each one o f  these investigated to the full. Quite a number, 
he found, had disappeared voluntarily fqr various reasons and· 
were still alive. Two were fou nd to be in gaol. This narrowed it 
down to seven. But each of th is se\'en, he found to his dismav,  
had disappeared long before the 2 !-hour period set by Dr.  Bea (1-
marchais  as the time lapsing a fter death and before discovery. Of  
course the doctor might be wrong, but, .Jacquinot told h imself 
ruefully, he would not be five or s ix days out. 

So the body was of a woman who had not been reported m issing 
or "·as  not k nown to be m issi ng. 
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Of the tailors around the Rue Dauphin neighbourhood, J ac­
quinot had nothing but good reports. They were all respectable 
people. But even so-called respectable people ·had skeletons in  
their cupboards. l t  was a puzzling affair and, being French, 
Jacquinot at length dec ided that it  was a crime of passion. Very 
well then. He would have to wait until somebody provided h i m  
with a clue. Dr. Beaumarchais  had told h i m  that the victim had 
been a very beautiful woman, judging by her lower limbs ,  and 
no beautiful woman was without friends. One of them soon was 
sure to talk. l\Ionsieur Jacquinot knew his Paris. 

J nto h is office on �fay 1 1 , three days after the discovery of the 
remains, came a young wom'an who gave her name as Claudette 
Boissieu . She said that she lived with her sister Yvette in an apart­
ment on the Rue Princess. Her sister, who was 25 years of  age, 
was ,employed in a dress shop on the Rue de la Paix as a sales 
lady., Although Yvette lived with her (they were orphans) her 
sister did not ahrnys sleep at the apartment. Sometimes she 
·would be absent for a night or two. Now she was missing alto-
gether. 

"She has a friend, vou understand, Monsieur le Commissarv," 
said Claudette with a �light blush . .Jacquinot understood all riglit. 

"A lover, mademoiselle?" he inquired. Claudette admitted it. 
Yvette, she said, "had an understanding" with Monsieur Henri 
:Molinas, the proprietor of the dress-shop. Molinas lived in a 
luxurious apartment over his  dress · shop. 

"But,, Mademoiselle, forgive my apparent stupidity , but I do not 
understand why it is that ,you have come to me," said Jacqu inot. 
"You say your sister is missing altogether. How long is it since 
you have seen her?" 

"Nearly a week," said Claudette Boissieu. "She has never been 
away from me for so long-never more than three days-and then 
l always knew from her that she was going." 

"And you no doubt h ave made inquiries from this i\Ionsieur 
l\f  olinas of the dress-shop about your sister?" 

"l went there this morn ing before taking the liberty of seeing 
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you, .\Jonsieur le Commissary," responded Claudette. ".\Jonsieur 
� folinas told me that my sister Yvette had gone on a v 1 s 1 t  to 
N a n tes on  business for the shop. But I do not think that , i s  true." 

"And why not?" 
"My s ister is a saleswoman. She knows nothing of buy ing and 

selling from manufacturers and the like. I know :\ folinas i s  
lying." 

.Jacqu inot thought tha t  this was a rather illogical sta tement  a nd 
d id not place much reliance i n  i t. \faking allowances for Clau­
dette's na tu ral worry over a 5ister, he ,could not for the l ife of  
h im read a nything s in ister i n to Yvette's absence. However, he 
told his vis itor that he would look i n to the matter, and wished 
her a friendly farewell. 

Jacqu inot was i ncli ned to be a l i ttle cyn ical over the affa ir. 
He was about to d ismiss the matter from his mind wll!fn a 

sudden thought struck him. Yvette Boi ssieu was reported missing. 
She worked i n  a dressmaker's shop. Remnants of a woman's 
body had been found wrapped up in material used in a dress-
maker's shop. \Vas it a mere coincidence? · 

.Jacqui i10t decided _to have a word with Monsieur Henry .\folinas 
of  the Rue de la Pa1x. 

Molinas was a tubby li ttle man with a fierce-looking mou�tache 
a nd a wealth of black hair pa.rted in the middle with ari thmet ical 
exacti tude. He gave .Jacyuinot a cordial welcome. Yes. he said. it 
was true that Mademoiselle Boissieu had not been in the shop for 
some days. Possibly she was ill. · 

"1 have been told that you sen t  her to Nan tes on business !or 
your shop," sa id .Jacqu i not. "ls that not so?" 

".\fa is non, monsieur! Nantes? I have no business connections 
in N an tes," sa id :\ folinas, exhibiting surprise. "Who told you 
that?" 

"\\'hen d id ,ou last see .\Ille. Boissieu?" asked J acqu inot, dodg­
i ng \ Jolinas' question. 

"Two days ago,'' sa�d \ folinas. "That would be \ £a y  �)."  
"You are most precise," commented Jacqu inot. 
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l\ Iol inas repl ied that Yvette was his best sa leswoman and natu­
ral l y  he fel t  her absence keenly. He knew to an hour when she 
was last on the job. 

Remembering that the bi ts of body had been found on l\Iay 8, 
a day before :Mo l inas said he had last seen Yvette, J acquinot rea l is­
ed tha t  i l  what he said was correct, then he had a perfect a l ibi  and 
in any case the rema ins could not poss ibly be those of Yvette 
Boissieu. 

"You have not been to her apartment to learn if she i s  i l l?" 
he asked. 

"But why should I?" asked Mol inas. "I am a busy man. I have 
no t ime." 

"But you said that she i s  your best saleswoman and you mis5 
her presence keenly," said Jacquinot, to whom things did not 
add up. 

"That is so," assented Molinas. 
"And you cou ld not send anyone else to see Mle. Boissieu?" 
"Jt is too bad of her to l eave me l ike this!" said Mol ina,;. 
"\ [ol inas ,  you are not being honest with me," sa id .Jacquinot, 

tak i ng direct action. "Do you deny that you told Cla udette Bois­
sieu, the sister of Yvette, that you sent Yvette to N antes on busi­
ne;s?" " 

"Tiens� Of course I deny it. 1t i s  not so," excla imed Mol inas. 
".-\ml do you deny that this Yvette Boissieu is iomething more 

to you than j ust a sa leswon�an i n  this shop. I s  she not, in fact, 
your m istress?" 

" \Vha t of that?," snorted l'violinas. "Most gentlemen have their 
mistresses. I am not an exception. That i s  not a crime, Monsieur 
le Comm issary. As to this story of N antes, that i s  such l ies. The 
l i t t l e  Cla udette i s  dreaming. I told her no such thing." 

' ·Y\·ette Boissieu i s  your m istress, but you make no attempt to 
inq uire of her i l lness?" demanded .J acquinot. 

··Monsieur le Comm issary," sa id l\Iol inas, getting w ild, "what is 
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it that you want to know? vVhy are you here asking these 
quest ions? Has anything happened to Yvette?" 

' ;Not as far as I know," said Jacquinot. "But she is definitely 
missing. She is not at her home and her sister has not seen her 
for a week. She has vanished completely." 

"A.nd no doubt wi l l  return. Her sister, the l i ttle Claudette, is 
not a great one to tel l  the truth, though. And she does not l ike 
n1e." 

"Why not?" 
"Because her �ister is  my very good friend she asks for dresses 

from me for nothing. I tel l  her that she must pay l ike any other 
customer. I t  is not good business to give away your stock." 

.J acquinot asked h im a few more questions but got nothing of 
interest, so he returned to h is office. He could not understand 
,d1y Claudette had told h im about the al leged trip to l'\antes, but 
passed i t  over. Obviously l\Iolinas had noth ing to do with the 
"rema ins" affair and, a fter al l ,  that was the most important item 
on .Jacquinot's agenda . He decided to d ismiss the Boissieu episode 
as �o much time wasted. 

The person responsible for the k i ll i ng must be insane, .Jac­
qu inot felt convinced. 

Severa l days pased and then Jacquinot got a break. He deserved 
i t . ,\ fel low doing a spot of fishing in the Seine snagged his hook 
on something and when he at l ength got i t  free he was in terested 
to fi n d  that it carried most mysterious "bait" in the shape of some 
h uman hair and a piece of  scalp. He took his  find · to the  local 
pol ice station and in next to no time the gendarmes were dragging . 
t h e  spot. lJp came a human head-a woman's head crowned wi th 
long dark hair. 

Though the head had been in  the river a week or so, i t  was in  
a la ir  state of preservation and had once belonged to a very 
handsome woman. ,vhen it came into the possess ion of ,r. 
Jacqui not, he at once turned Dr. Beaumarchais loose on i t  with 
i:he obvious q Liest ion-did i t  belong to the same body as  the 
legs and arms? Dr. Beaumarchais said he hadn't got, the foggiest 
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notio 1 1 .  Mon Dieu, how could  he fit a head on to bits of l imbs? 
Give him the i n tervening trunk and then he might do a job. But 
wi thout that !  "'el l ,  he was not the magician. N on! 

.J an-1 u inot got a brainwave. He sent for i\fademoise l le  Claudette 
Boissieu and a fter warning her to prepare for a shock, let her 
loose on the head. Did she recognise i t  as belonging to anyone? 
M l le.  Cla udelle took one look at the gris ly exhibit, let  out one  
long shriek and threw a w i l ly on the  Commissary's carpet. Jac­
qu inot looked grimly sati,;fied as he ral l ied round with the sme l l ing  
sa l ts .  So! I t  looked as i f  the  missing Yvette Boissieu had, in l i fe, 
worn that head on her shapely shoulders. 

And when the girl  came romid she confirmed the fact. Yes, 
without doubt, the head was that of her sister Yvette and, she 
added hvsterica l lv ,  she had been done to death bv that monster 
l\folinas.' Ah, the' v i l lain! Why didn't M . .Jacquinot

1 

go immediate­
ly a nd arrest h im? 

. J acquinot was a fast worker when he l iked, but this was going 
a h i t  too fast even for h im. H e  wanted a b i t  more to  work on 
fir �t. 

' · \rl iy do you accuse l\L �folinas of k i l l i .-ig your sister?" he asked. 
"J  do not know, but I am sure he did i t," moaned Claudette, a 

trif le i l logica l l y .  
"A few questions, mademoisel le," sa id the Commissary. " I  have 

spoket1 to M. Mol inas about the disappearance of your sister. H e  
says he knows 11othing about i t .  He says, too, that h e  did not 
tel l you that  he had sent her to Nan tes on business for his firm. 
H e  says that she just fai l ed to arrive for work one day and he 
has not seen her s ince. Your comments, p lease?" 

C la udette said that Molinas was a l iar and the .  father of l i ars. 
She repeated tha t he had told her that Yvette had gon e  to Nantes. 
There was no quest ion about that. If l\Iol inas said differently, he 
was the greatest l iar in France-in Europe, come to that. Mark 
her words, she said, that double-dyed v i l lain had. murdered Yvette. 

"?\L l\folinas has told me that you disl ike him because he 
refused to give you c lolihes for nothing," said Jacquinot. "That 
is incorrect?" 
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"Oh, the l iar and rascal ! "  exclaimed the i ndignant Claudette. 
"Never have I asked him for free clothes. But the foul wretch 
has offered them to me." 

"Why?" asked the i n terested pol ice of-l icer. Claudette blushed 
rosi ly .  .. 
· "He desired me, toe/. to be his m istress, but I would have none · 

of  his unwelcome attent ions," she said. ' ' I  am only a young gir l ,  
not yet 1 9, but I know these men. They would ruin a girl  i f  
thev could. H f  has ruined my poor sister." 
, ' acquinot lelt that he was gett ing somewhere. He pl ied the 

girl with questions as to Mol inas' habi ts and friends. D id he have 
any oth�r women in tow? \Vas he married? \Vhat did she know 
about him at a l l ?  D id her s ister know of his advances towards 
C laudette? 

Claudette repl ied that a man l ike l\fol inas probably had a dozen 
women on the string. No, he was not married as far as she knew. 
No, she had not told Yvette about Mol inas' atten tions because 
she did not want to cause any trouble. Oh, how she now w ished 
t hat she had done so. Perhaps the grea_t tragedy could have been 
thus averted! 

facquinot thanked her for l�er assistance and got rid of her .  He 
had work to do. He fel t  a lmost convinced that there was a t ie-up 
between the corpse and Molinas. The remains found among the 
garbage had been wrapped in black and white cal ico. The head 
had been anchored with a Aat-iron. These articles a l l  could be 
found in a dressmaki ng establ i shmen t .  Yvette had worked in 
such a place. I t  was more than possible that she had been done 
to death by Mol inas: The fact that he had said that he had seen 
the woman the dav after the remains had been found, did not 
mean a thing. Nat{iral ly  he would have an al ibi .  possibly a dozen 
a l ibis, already l ined up. Ah, but he must be a cunn ing one, this 
Monsieur Mol inas! 

Rut what could the motive he? Firstly. he may have gro\vn 
t i red of her and wanted somebody else; secondly, she may have 
found out somethi np; so much tu his discredi t  that the onlv s:i fe 
wav was to e l iminate her. Of course. there was the nossibi l i ty 
that he had ki l led her in  a fit of  temper dur i ng a quarrel .  

76 



YVETTE LOST HER HEAD 

Before in ten ie"· ing \ fo l inas, Jacq ui not decided to find out what 
he could about the man. By patient inqu iry he establ ished that 
Molinas was aged -J O, a native of Tou lon and moderately wealthy. 
He did not h;n·e a criminal past. As a young· man he matried, 
hut his  "· i fe d ied two years later. He had the reputation of 
being a ladie�· man, but no more or no less than any other French 

;; businessman of hi s  standing. As far as he was able  to ascerta in, 
Yvette Boissieu was his onl y  "heart-throb"; officia l ly, anyway. Of 
course there may ha,·e been one or more in the background. 

I t  was not much for .Jacqu inot to work on so he determined to 
take the bu l l  by the horns and have it out with l\ fo l inas in person . 

.J acqu inot drew a blank when he  visited the shop on the Rue 
de la Paix. ,\ fonsieur \Jol inas was away, he was told by an 
aristocratic looking madame. No, she did not know where he had 
gone or how long he would  be absent. She was in charge of the 
shop, she said. \\' ho was she? She was Madame 1.Lamaisor1 and 
she was employed by \ fonsieur Molinas. She created garments for 
monsieur, among ocher things. Yes, she knew Yvette Boissieu, 
l\ l l le. Boiss ieu was also away. Could madame do anything for 
monsieur? 

.Jacquinot told madame that h e  was a pol ice officer and he 
. wanted to know where \ Jo linas w�s. Madame repeated that she 
did not knm\'. \fol inas l ived on the premises and usual ly  opened 
the establ ishment each morn ing. \Vhen she arrived th is day she 
had been met b,· :\Iol inas' housekeeper, an ancient dame who 
kept h is rooms dean. This woman had · given madame a note 
wh ich mere ly  �tated that her employer would be absent for a time 
but that madame should keep the business going as wel l as she 
could. .Jacq u inot demanded the note and it was given to h im. 
Jc read as madame had stated. 

"Are you a persona l friend of Monsier Molinas?" asked Jac­
quinot. \ fadame replied firmly that she was not-that she ·was 
just employed in the place. 

" It is not yet kno,rn · to the publ ic," said the Commissary, "but 
Yvette Boissieu has been murdered and I desire to question l\I. · 
l\Io l inas on the matter." 
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:!\fadame was genuinely horrified. La pau\Te \\·ette! \Vho had 
done such a deed? Did · :!\I . le  Commissary suspect l\l .  l\ Jol inas? 
\Vei l ,  it was possible. Ah, the quarrels those two had had! '.\L  
M ol inas had a v i le  temper and  often struck her. I t  was a bad 
affa ir, undoubted ly. 

l acq u inot, not u nnatural_ly ,  pricked up his ears and pl ied '.\ fa­
dame with questions. Yes, it was true. l\ f l le. Boissieu and :\L  
Molinas often quarre ll ed. :Mais certainment,  they ,,·ere lovers and 
even lovers quarrel l ed, but these, they fought l ike t igers, n'est pas? 

Jacquinot felt tha t he was about to strike o i l .  Had madame 
actual ly seen any of these brawls? Yes, madame had seen l\fol inas 
str ike Yvette in the shop, embarrass'ing her before customers. 
Yvette was often in tears at his  treatment. No, madame d id not 
know the reason for these differences. No, she had no idea where 
Mol inas was at the moment. He m ight sti l l  be in Paris or he 
m ight not. 

Deciding that a search of :\Iol inas' private quarters \\'as overdue, 
the detective mounted the stairs and had a good look around. 
The place appeared to be in good.order. D id madame knO\ewhere 
the housekeeper was to be found? Madame did .  \\ 'ould madame 
send a messenger for her at once? Madame "·otdd and did . It \\·as 
ha l f  an hour before the ancient woman appeared. l acq uinot asked 
her to have a look at the place and tel l  h im,  if she cou ld ,  wha t  
property o f  :\Iol in as' was m issing. The woman poked around i n  
n1pboards and drawers and other pla(es and then announce<l 
tha t certa i n  personal artic les were gone. Yes. the� were the type 
of th ings a man wou l d  take if he were going on a holiday . She 
had arrived that morni ng co c lean up and had found the note lor 
her on the dressing table. No, the bed had not been slept i n .  
]\f .  Mol inas mw,t have departed the pre,·ious n ight. No ,  she d id 
not know "·here he had gone. 

I t  seemed plain to the detective that the bird had flown .  
H e  doubted if � I .  ?\Jol inas would b e  seen around ·that fia t  o r  shop 
for a long time. He must have taken fright and bolted ; yet why 
should he? He cou ld  not know that the murdered woman had 
been identified as Yvette Boissieu-or that he was suspected. 

78 



YVETTE LOST HER JIEAD 

Jacquinot could not get any inspiration or clues from the shop 
or the apartment and at first, precious little information from the 
old housekeeper. The woman admitted that she knew the rela-
t ionship between Mil. Boissieu and her employer, but thought 
nothing of it. Yes, they had often stayed the night together i n  
the flat. She herself had seen them i n  b�d together when she 
arrived to clean up the place. 

"And they quarrelled at times, no doubt?" asked Jacquinot. 
"Oh, yes, monsieur," said the old woman. "Sometimes they ,vere 

v iolent. , They did not seem to care that I was in the apartment. -
But it has only been these last few months that the quarrels have 
beeH . what do you call it, most tempestuous." 

Invited to describe some of these set-tos, the woman sa id that 
she had seen Molinas str ike Yvette over the head with a hair­
brush and once he had knocked her to the floor and tried to drag 
her about by her long hair. Yvette was weeping and crying. 

"There was another man, I am sure. I th ink l\f. Molinas was 
jealous," said the housekeeper. J acquinot was doubly i nterested. 
He felt more than ever he was getting a motive .aga inst Molinas. 
But the old woman did not know who the other man was. And 
of course there had been that time when Yvette had reproached 
h im for his attentions to her young sister, the little Claudette. M. 
l\fol inas was very angry over that and had chased Yvette round 
.the room with a carving knife, threatening to k i ll her. 

"1 told him to stop his foul work and he turned on me, telli ng 
me to get out_ of the place or I should kJ';e my situ ation," added 
the housekeeper. . "I did not want to lose the situation, which 
is a well paid one." 

"Do you think that l\ l .  Mol inas would be capable of riiurdering 
'! M lle. Boissieu?" asked the detective. 

"Oh, but certainly, monsieur," repl ied the ancient dame. "\Vhen 
he was in his terrible. temperhe wou ld be capable of any v iolence." 

.Jacquinot then told her about the finding of the remains, which 
she a lready knew, and of the d iscovery of the head wh ich was 
undoubtedly Yvette's-which she did not know. She took it re­
markably well; in fact, she nodded her own head vigorously. 

79 



FA)fOUS DETECTIVE STORIES 

"M. Molinas did it," she said decidedly. "He stabbed her. He 
did it with the carving knife as he of ten threatened he would <lo. 
Wait, I shal l  show you the very knife." 
. She went to a drawer and extracted a wicked-looking carving 
knife which she handed to Jacquinot, saying that  it was the knife 
Molinas had once cha6ed Mlle. Boissieu with. Jacquin6t examined 
the thing narrowly. I t  was perfectly clean. He then asked the 
woman if Molinas possessed a meat chopper. She said he did­
that it was in the cupboard. She looked for it but could not find it. 

Returning to his office, the Commissary set about spreading 
the news all over France. \Vithin a day or two the newspapers 
talked about nothing else but the identification of Yvette Boissieu . 
But  they said nothing of l\I. Molinas, because the astute Jacqui­
not did not let it out tha t he was suspected. He did not want the 
man to go into th� strictest hiding. But the police in all the l arge 
cities and towns were supplied with Molinas' description and 
habits and asked to keep a strict look out for him. 

This bore fruit, but in an unexpected manner. A few days 
after Molinas's disappearance, the Paris police received a message 
from tlieir opposite numbers at N antes, that they were holding a 
man on suspicion of theft. He was a tubby little man with black 
hair parted in the middle, but was clean shaven. He had been 
arrested w}1ile sel ling dresses .in a hotel. There had been an argu­
ment over the price of one of the garments. A customer had said 
that it was rubbish and not worth what the man had demanded. 
The man had retorted fiercely that the dress had been made by the 
finest artiste in Paris, the House of l\folinas. More words had 
led to blows and a free fight had started. The local gendarmes 
had arre�ted both customer and dress seller for disturbing the 
peace and when taken to the police station, the hawker had given 
his name as Het1ri Gaston. Asked where he got the dresses 
from, he refused to answer, so he was charged with having stolen 
them. 

But-and it was an enormous BUT-in the bag containing the 
dresses, the police had discovered a meat chopper, wrapped up in 
black calico. The man Gaston explained that he had botwht it 
for protection against possible thugs. . 

0 
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.Jacqu inot lost no time in making for Nantes and when he met 
the so-called Henri Gaston, he kne\\· h im at once for Henri l\fol inas 
of the Rue de la Paix, m inus h is Kaiser Bill moustache. 

Questioned closel y  about his movements, "Gas.ton" -stated that 
he had j ust arrived from Toulon. He was not Mol inas and he 
had never even been in  Paris. As for the dresses, he had . bought 
them from a shop in Toulon. As for the_ tag on them bearing 
the name of Henri Molinas. he had put that there h imself to 
enha nce the value of the garments. 

"You regard Henri :'.\lolinas as the greatest dressmaker in Pari.,?" 
asked J acquinot. 

" I n  the whole oi France, i f  not the whole of the world," sa id 
"Ga'>ton" vaiQ.gloriously. 

"But," said the sly Jacq uinot. " I .  too, am a j udge of dress 
material and I say that these articles are but cheap rubb ish, which 
no d iscerning ladv would . btl\' in  mistake for Molinas dresses. 
They are rubbish, '1 repeat." 

He was h ardly prepared for the grea t gust of anger to wh ich 
"Gaston'" gave birth. He swore- like a Montmartre gamin and 
declared tha t thev were true Molinas dresses and no rubbish . 
How dare Jacquinot say that they were such? There were n� 
better dresses i n  the whole world. 
_ ·"\'et, Monsieur Gaston, you bought them from a shop i n  
Tou lon and put the tabs o n  them yourself to pass them off 
as ;\ [olinas dresses," said Jacqu inot qu ietly . 

1\ fo l inas saw that he '\\'as trapped and wisely kept his mouth shut. 
"Why d ie! you m urder Yvette Boissieu?" demanded Jacqu inot. 

· "Do not trouble ·to deny i t . You are Henry Molinas, not Henri 
Gaston. You ran away from Paris  to elude your crime, hut you 
cannot elude Jacquinot." l\L le Commissary apparently l iked 
h imself as much as Henri Molinas l iked HIMSELF. 

" I t  is a dastardly lie!" excla imed Molinas. "Yes, I am Molina<., 
but I did not kill Yvette Boissieu." 

"Srnundrel and !tar," said Jacqu i not in good old French fashion. 
"You are her m urderer and you shall go to the guillotine. You 

81 



FAMOUS DETECTIVE STORIES 

shall lose . your head even · as Mlle. Boissieu lost hers. You are a 
doomed man." 

"So you say," said Molinas more calmly. "But I am an innocent 
man, and even in France the innocent do not suffer." 

J acquinot did not venture an opinion on THAT optimistic 
statement. He knew better! Not that he had any doubts about 
the murderer of Yvette Boissieu. 

Molinas was carted back to Paris �nd lodged in a cell. Jacquinot 
had the goods on him all right, but had no evidence of the actual 
dismemberment of the body. Molinas refused to make a statement 
about anything, maintaining his co1nplete innocence. The Com­
missary went over the apartment above the Rue de !a Paix shop 
inch by inch but could find 110 signs of the murder having been 
committed there. He was certain that it had not been. The first 
discovery had been made by Papa Mandel on May 8 and Dr. 
Beaumarchais said the body had been dead for about 24 hours, 
That would make the murder date May 7, probably that night. 
Questioned, the old housekeeper said that Molinas was at the 
apartment on the morning of May 8, but not Yvette Boissieu. 
Apparently she had not slept there. Neither had she stayed with 
her sister Claudette that night. The more he thought over i t, 
the more Jacquinot was convinced that Yvette had been murdered 
on the n ight of l\fay 7-and not at the Molinas apartment. 

Jacquinot thought it more than l ikely that Molinas had lured 
the girl to some lonely spot and then killed !1er. Tiens! What a 
villain! 

The Commissary decided to give Molinas another working over 
and did so. In this he was assisted by a most tenacious examining 
magistrate, one Jacques Charpentier. Between them they third­
degreed the s�spect until Molinas did not know whether he was 
coming or gomg. 

They succeeded in breaking him down a l ittle. He admitted 
that he and Yvette had often quarrelled and that on one occasion 
he had threatened her with a carving knife. But these were 
ordinary lovers' tiffs. 
· "Most gallant," observed J acquinot. 
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"But I did not kill my little Yvette. Why, messieurs, I loved 
her!" said Molinas. 

"Men have been known to kill those they loved," stated Jac­
quinot profoundly. 

"As Molinas killed Mlle. Boissieu," nodded M. Charpentier. 
"l did not kill her," said Molinas quite calmly. "You have no 

proof. This is a diabolical conspiracy which I refute." 
"You killed her!" 
"I accept the death of Yvette, but it was not_ I who killed her. 

It must have been her other lover, the man from Lyons." 
"Ah, and who is th is man?" asked Jacquinot. 
"I have never met him, monsieur. Had I done so I undoubtedly 

would have killed him," said Molinas calmly. 
"As you killed Yvette Boissieu," said Charpentier. 
"I know nothing of that matter," retorted Molinas. 
"Oh, undoubtedly you killed her," said Jacquinot, "but perhaps, 

who knows, it might have been an accident! Come on, mon ami, 
we waste our time here," he added to Charpentier and the two 
officers left Molinas to sweat in his little cell. 

M . .Jacquinot was a sly dog. He deliberately had planted an idea 
into the mind of M. Molinas. He hoped that Molinas' mind was 
receptive to the idea. 

It was! 
Molinas must have done a lot of thinking overnight because 

next morning he sent for Jacquinot. That astute officer took 
along the examining magistrate with him. Molinas was ready to 
talk. Yes, he said; the killing of Yvette Boissieu was, indeed, an  
accident, a most sad affair. He would tell the truth and the court 
would be most lenient with him. 

lt was an interesting l ittl£: tale that he told and both J acquinot 
and Charpentier accepted parts of it with more than one grain 
of salt. 

The whole miserable affair, Molinas stated, arose out of the 
fact that Yvette. Boissieu had taken unto herself a new lover who 

83 



FAMOUS DETECTIVE STORIES 
------------- ·-------- ----- ·- - - - - - .. -------

resided in Lyons and who journeyed to Paris on occasions to  see 
her. On the night of l'\Iay 7, during an argument, Yvette had 
taunted him ahout the Lyons fel low a ll(l a .bitter q uarrel had 
developed. During the row, Yvette had sei1ed a water carafe from 
the dressing table and had bashed h i m  over the head with it. 

.Helas, but it was a tremendous b low which,  tempo1;ari ly ,  deprived 
h im of his senses. 

Recovering his equil ibrium, he had remonstra ted with her upon 
her hard-heartedness, pointing out tha t he had practica l l y  taken 
her from the gutter, given ' her a good job and-supreme gift­
had bestowed upon her h is own . fa \'ors. 

"She laughed at me, mes amis, la ughed at me!" he exclaimed . 
··she told me that I was getting old and fat and was no longer 
attractive to her, whereas her lover from Lyons was young, rich 
and handsome. Bitter · words fol lowed and I became enraged. 
I took the carving k ·1ife from the drawer. Then I remember 
nothing more unti l  I see her l ying· on the floor. I had stabbed her 
to the heart in my b lind rage." 

JVfolinas took time off, we are told, to burv his [ace in his hands 
a nd indu lge in a morsel of sobbing. J a�·quinot and the j uge 
d'inst1yction were not impressed. 

Continuing his narrative, Molinas said that, terrified by what 
he had done, he was at  a loss what to do next. \Vhat was he to 
do with the corpse of his beloved? I t  must be removed and 
disposed of. But how? I n  what way? Then he remembered that 
he owned a smal l  house j ust across the back a l ley. Thank heavens, 
this house was unoccupied. He wou ld remove the body there. 

Going down to the shop workroom, he secured some lengths ol 
bl i1ck and of white ca lico and a couple ol l a rge pieces of sheeting. 
He took these back into the apartment, secured the meat chopper 
from the kitchen and wrapped it up in the calico. Then he 
swathed the body in the sheeting and ca rried it down the back 
sta i rs and in to the deserted a l ley at the rear of the shop. Luck 
had been with h im and he had succeeded in gett ing the bodv 
into the unoccupied conage, or rather shack, across the way ; an(l 
there he had hacked it up. 
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First of all, he parcelled up the pieces o[ legs and arms in the 
calico, with an ou ter wrapper of newspaper secured with string. 
Returning to the shop, he went to the storeroom again and there 
collected a smoothing iron. He took this back to the old house 
and fixed it to the head with lengths of string. He put the head 
and the parcels of pieces in a sack, and. sneaking from the house, 
reached his own apartment without being seen. It was then nearly 
dawn. 

He had locked up the shack before leaving and could only hope 
that it would not be _visited by anybody before the following night. 
He visited the place surreptitiously several times during the day 
to assure himself that all was well and that night, well after mid­
night� he went to the house, took the bag containing the parcelled­
up legs and head and went along various streets dropping the 
former into garbage receptacles. The head he threw into the river. 
Once again luck was with him, for he was not observed. He 
buried the trunk in the small backyard of the deserted · house, 
wrapped in the sheeting and, he presumed, it was still there. 

' 'That is the truth, messieurs," he wound u p. "It was, you will 

agree, a most regrettable accident." 
"It was a brutal m urder," said .Jacquinot sternly. 
"That is for a court and jury co decide," said Molinas with 

supreme confidence. 
"Now you will tell us, please, why you went in haste to N antes 

and in disguise, using a name that is not your own," said Jac­
quinot. 

"I had business to transact in the town, that is all," said Molinas. 
"You will tell us the truth, monsie\ir," said examining magis­

trate Charpentier, taking over. "You committed this foul crime 
and you ran away, hoping to elude the police. But your vanity 
betrayed you." 

"You speak in riddles," said Molinas. "I  am not a va in man. 
It is not vanity, but the truth, to say that I am the most famous 
and best dress designer in all Paris." 

"Why did you go to N antes under another name with your 
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, moustache removed, i f  not to try to avoid the hand of justice? 
\Vhv did vou sell dresses in a common i nn-these famous creations 
of y�urs �f which there are no e_quals in France?" ask.ed Monsieur 
Charpen tier, probably with a cyn ical sneer. · · 

" J  needed money. I had left Paris insufficiently provided with 
funds," said Molinas. 

" I t  does not matter, except that i t  shows your  gu ilty beha­
vior," said Charpentier. "You will go to the gu illotine for this,' 
]\fo l  i nas ." 

"That we shall see. 1 rely upon French j ust ice," retorted the 
dressmaker. 

"And that you shall get," said the examin ing magistra te grimly. 
A \'is it  by the police to the deserted house in the back alley 

proYed that at least portion of l\folinas's statement was correct. 
J acqui not's only comment to Charpentier over the statement 

was that i f  Yvette had cracked Molinas over the skull with a 
hea\'y water bottle, 1nearly knock i ng h im silly. i t  was strange that  
the man had shown no marks or other evidence of the blow a 
few days later when Jacquinot had first interviewed h im . 
... That Molinas was an optimist i n  thinking tha t a jur y  would 
be kind to h im was shown when the trial took place at the Paris 
Cour d'Assizes. He was found guilty in qu ick t ime and, in due · 
course. per medium of the guillotine, joined Yvette Boissieu. 
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WHO KILLED COCK ROBIN? 

The author gives a thrilling analysis of a murder 

carried out in a royal household. It is a true story 
with a plot that outrivals the best efforts of fiction 
writers, and reveals the amazing methods of the 

legal lights of more than a century ago. 

THE middle of the night between tlie last day o� � ray and the 
first day of .J une-one,ot those warm sti l l  nights when sound 

can carry a considerable distance. The scene-the ancient Palace 
of St. James and the apartments of Ernest Augustus, Duke of 
Cumberland. 

The Palace as a whole was wrapped in si lence: on ly a night 
watchman here and there and the sentries at  the gates were astir. 

Sudden ly there was a terrible outcry: a door was flung open 
somewhere in the upper storeys and the voice of His Royal 
H ighness was heard crying out to his Engl ish valet, "Nea le, l am 
murdered, I am murdered!"  

Hurrying from the room adjoining the Duke's bedroom where 
he had been s leeping, N eale was about to enter when the Duke 
added, 

"Don't go in. The murderers are in mv bedroom and they 
wi l l  murder you as· they have murdered me!" 

N eale might have questioned the hysterica l  overstatement, but 
at that moment he trod on a sabre which the assassin or assassins 
had dropped. In obedience to the D uke's command not to enter 
the bedroom, he went to "'.aken Sel lis ,  a Corsican, who was an­
other of the royal valets. 

By th is t ime, of course, other persons in the palace had been 
roused and a more . or l ess general a larm had been given. 

11 



FAMOUS DETECTIVE STORIES 

To h is surprise, Neale found that the door of Sel l is's room 
had been locked. He cal led out to him throug·h the door crying 
"The Duke is murdered! "  which again should have attracted some 
sort of reply. But there was not a sound from· with in. Rather 
a larmed, Neale fetched help and the door of the room was broken 
down. 

\Vithin, Sel l is was found on his bed, with his  throat cu t from 
ear to ear. 

Here was a pretty kettle of fish! \Vho had been m urdered hy 
whom and who had been the protagonist in the struggle? 

\Vhen it came to an inquest, a l l  the blame was la id on the 
dead valet, who was supposed acGordi ng to a contemporary report 
to have k i l led himsel f  when he heard Neale banging on the door, 
because he knew that he wou ld be taken i nto custody. 

That was the officia l  suggestion. Unfortunately, however, the 
doubtful character of the Duke of Cumberland was common 
knowledge and it was openly  stated that he had murdered Sel l is 
and had tben tried to put  the blame on to him as the assassin. 
The general inference was so strong that damaging charges to 
this effect were printed and sold quite openly. 

Looking back from the dispassionate standpoint of more than 
a hundred years la ter-the episode in question took place in 18 1 0  
--one may perhaps consider the mental aspect of the Duke's 
actions in \'arious circumstances. I t  is no good assuming, even with 
the most char i table incl inations, that the Duke was a pleasant 
person. Not e,·en the most syncophantic courtier has been able 
to adduce much suggestion of personal charm. He was Queen 
Victoria's "Wicked l'ncle Cumberland," whom the Engl ish people 
and h is own fami ly  disl iked so hearti ly that there was great re­
joic ing when he was at last elevated to the throne of Hanover and 
lelt this countrv for ever. I t  was as wel l that he did so, for 
h is m isdemeanot; rs and indiscretions were growing more than even 
a Royal Duke could carry. In a period when al l the Royal Dukes 
-and the Prince Regent-were i n  the u tmost disfavour with a 
nat ion which had paid their bi l l s  unt i l  i t  was thoroughly  si<:k of 
the lot of them-the Duke of Cumberland held  pride of place as 
the most hated of the whole lot. 
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He was born in I 77 1 ,  the fifth son of George the Third;  his 
second brother, Frederick, d ied young after a home l ife of peculiar 
unhappiness; the eldest brother was the Prince Regent and even­
tually George IV.  Then came ,vill i am, Duke of Clarence, familiar­
ly known as "Puffing Billy" and "The Sailor K ing," according to 
the temper and temperament of his well-wishers, and then Edward, 
Duke of Kent, the father of Queen Victoria.  

In an unpopular family, the fifth son-the Dukes of Sussex 
:rnd Cambridge were his juniors-outstripped all the others 111 
his attempts to secure the contempt and dislike of the nation. 
From �arly years he showed a disposit ion to \1iolent fits of temper 
and to an i ll-regulated mind and brain which to-day would no 

· doubt be treated by a psychologist and e ithe, cured or alleviated 
or else so· guarded as to render them incapable of hurt ing others. 
H�s father went out of his mind for long periods at a tirne. and 
was for several years unfit to g·overn the country of which he still 
remained ti tular head: i t  was perhaps not surprising that the sons 
should have inhented to some degree the paren tal disahility . 

Privately educated at Kew Pa lace, in 1 78fi the y,oung Duke was 
sent wi th two of his brother� to the Un iversity at Gott ingen and 
four years later he began his mtli.tary service. Like his uncle, 
"Butcher" Cumberland of the '45, he sh0wed himself to be no 
mean soldier and in another four years he was in command ot a 
bngade -ol cavalry in the armv of Marshal Walmoden. In  a battle 
near Tournay he lost his left eve-over which he wore !or ever 
after a large black patch which rendered h is  extremelv pla in  
features even more repulsive than nature had in tended-and was 

· so severely wounded in his arm� that he was inval ided hom e. 
However, as _ a keen soldier-which seems to have been almost 
his one redeeming feature-he hurried back to the army helore h is 
health was ful ly  restored and performed a feat of remarkable 
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valour during a sortie from l\finnegueux. His sword having been 
broken in combat, he parried a blow at his head with the hilt, 
seized his enemy round the ·waist, and carried him bodily into the 
English lines. This amazing feat of strength would bear out the 
supposition that his menta l  processes were far from normal, 
since such terrific bursts of power are well known to be one of 
the signs of madness. 

Having had a sufficiency of active service for a time. the Duke 
was appointed to a command in England, but in 1 807 he went off 
to the Continent again and fought in several engagements, his 
sword being usually offered to the Prussian Army, then actively 
opposed to the common enemy. 1'apoleon. 

The Duke of ,vel l ington l oathed him openly and heartil y  and 
said of him on one occasion that "there never was a husband 
and wife, nor father and son, nor brother and sister, that he 
did not strive to set one against the other." 

Royalty had been growing more and more unpopular. The old 
King, once familiarly known as "Farmer George," was liked and 
pitied , since his inadness was growing on him; his Queen, born 
Charlotte of Mecklenburg-Strelitz, was respected and to some 
extent Jo,·ed, while the popu lace appreciated the devotion she 
showed to the unhappy King. Her daughters came in for their 
share of the public affection. But for the band of brothers there 
was nothing but hostility, more or less openly expressed in varying 
degrees. The nation was very tired of them: their debts had to be 
paid, they were entirel y  careless of their duties to the State which 
kept them, and they thought of .nothing but their own pleasures. 
The appal l ing treatment which the Duke of \'Vales meted out to 
his unhappy consort, Caroline of Brunswick, was common know­
ledge in 1 808 and 1 809, while  the Duke of York, Frederick, had 
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been actual l y  i mpea<.:hecl for peddl ing commissions m the Army 
and ecclesiastica l preferments for bribes at the instigation of his 
mistress, Mary Ann Clark. The resu l t  of this was that he had 
to be removed from his command of the Army. 

And it was on top of this succession of d isgraceful episodes that 
in I 8 1 0  the a f-fo irs of the Duke of Cumberland became pub l ic 
property. 

That even ing the Duke-who had dined at Greenwich the day 
before-came back to town and went to a concert for- the Benefit 
of the Royal Society of l\fusicia ns. About half-past tweh·e he 
returned to St. .James's Palace and went to bed about one o'clock. 

According to his own story, he was awakened a bout two o'clock 
in the morning by a heavy b low on the head wi th a sabre, wh ich 
severed the padded n ight-cap he was luckily in the habit of wearing 
and in fl icted a deep cut. He sprang out of bed and con l'.J;onted 
th-e vdlain,  who had his arm raised · for a second b low: the Duke 
took this on his own a rm, having triocl to protect h is  head. Other 
blows followed, one of which pract ica l ly  severed his finger. Not t i l l  
then was  he able to get to the door of  the room and cal l  out for 
N ea le. .. 

I t  is usua l ly  difficul t  after a lapse of years to get at the rea l truth 
of such a story, especia l ly  when one of the chief actors i s  a Royal 
Duke and the general  tendency has been to exculpate h im,  should 
he be blameworthy. But it so happens that in  1 8�� the Lady 
Anne Hami l ton publ ished privat_ely a book enti t led "Secret H istory 
of the Court of England from the Accession of George I I I to the 
Death of George J V." Althoug·h the book was publ ished private­
ly ·· i t  was obtainable by the publ ic, and, since i t  was not the 
work of a mere scurri lous mud-sl inger, but was signed by the lady 
who was herself a Lady-in-\Vait ir,g to Queen Carol i ne, it attracted 
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a great deal of auention. Indeed so much scandal was evoked and 
so much rumour clung round the name of the Duke of Cumber­
land, that more than twenty years after the event he ,•.ras obliged 
to call on the Courts of Law to suppress the p ublication. 

At the inquest an attempt_ was made to prove that Sel lis had 
had murderous intentions on his master and that the Duke had 
only saved himself from assassination by a piece ot personal 
courage, coupled with the greatest good fortune. In her book 
Lady Anne quotes liberally from the actual reports of the inq uest 
and then interpolates her m,;n notes on the various events. Her 
logical and inquiring mind at once drops on the inconsistencies_ of 
the evidence. As she truly says, it is "contradictory." 

l\rr. Adams, a well-known coroner of the day, addressed the 
j ury and informed them that there was little doubt but that the 
attack on the Duke had been committed by the deceased (Sellis). 
He stated that the matter had been fully investigated by the Privy 
Council on the Thursday aqd that the depositions of the numer­
ous witnesses had been taken before Mr, Justice Read: after 
reading the depositions, the witnesses would be called and the 
depositions read oYer again to them: at this poiJ,1t they wou ld 
be able to a l ter or enlarge the original statements and the j ury 
would be able to put q uestions. 

This procedure is interesting because it reveaJs some of  the 
pri v i leges of royalty. Because the murder had been committed in 
a Palace the Privy Council must examine the witnesses before they 
are a l lowed to meet the jury and their depositions taken by a 
j udge under the inlluence of 'the suspected party. The coroner 
was able to tell the j ury that there was very little doubt but that 
Sel lis attempted his master's life and had then cut his own throat. 
As Lady Anne remarks: "Merciful heaven! can this be called an ixu-
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panial administrat ion ol j ustice? Are such careful prnceedings ner 
adopted in the case of a poor man? To be sure, the jury were told 
they ri1 ight ask  any question they thought fit :  but is is to be sup­
posed that, a fter the 1 1': QU I RIES they had undergone, the wit-
11:esses would let slip anyth ing likely to crim inate themselves 
or their  royal master?" 

Lady Anne evidently had. no doubt as to the way the wind 
was blowing. There must have been some very nervous moments 
in St. James's Palace du1·ing those early days of J une, 18 1 0. 

His Royal Highness was the first witness cal led to give evidence. 
He deposed that that he was wakened by two v iolent blows and 
cuts 011 the head and assumed that a bat had got into the room, 
but was soon undeceived by receiving a thi rd blow. "He then 
jumped out of bed and received several more blows: from the 
gl immering light afforded from a dull lamp in the fireplace, and 
the motion of the instrument that inflicted the blows, they appear­
ed l ike f lashes of l ightning before his eyes." He stated that he tried 
to get to a smal l  room leading from his  own, that he cou ld not 
find his alarm-bell, which, it  was suggested w ith charming ingenu­
ousness, "no doubt the villain had concealed." Then he called out 
for N eale. 

Lady Anne comments with dry humour on the violent blo\vs 
that could be mistaken for the beating of a bat about a man's 
head. She a l,i;o point s  out that Sel l i s  was known to be a' 
l ittle man, one whom tl_1e gallant Duke could eas i ly  have O\'er­
powered. .\ foreon·r since Sellis had been in constant personal 
attendance on him for fi\'e years it was rather odd that he should 
not ha\'e been recognised . 

.\ J  oreover, a further part of the Duke's deposition ·says that 
after he got out of bed the a�sassin followed him across the room 
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and cut him across the thighs. Yet the room was so dark that the 
assassin's face could not be seen! Lady Anne adds bitterly:  

"The D uke of Cumberland is a field-marshal and a Braver 
man, it is said, never entered the Field: but in a dark room, with 
a man little more than half his weight, it would have been 
cowardly to fight, particu larly as his royal highness might I F  
H E  HAD SO 'WI SHED have taken the weapon out of Sel l is's 
hand and broken it about his head. No! N o! The Duke of 
Cumberland knew what was due to his honour better than to 

I -

take so m_ean an advantage of a weak adversary, and therefore 
cool ly endeavoured to ring his bell ,  that a more suitable anta­
gonist might be procured in his valet, Neale." 
There is a fine flavour of sarcastic irony in those phrases. 
Neale was next brought into the witness-box. He  deposed to 

the Duke's cal l ing to him and the words he had used, and added 
that he suggested fol lowing the assassin with a poker, with which 
he armed himself!'- but that the Duke told him to stay. Neale 
recounted how he had trodden on something in the dark and 
found it to be the Duke's own regimental sword. The household 
was then alarmed and Mrs. Neale was told to cal l  Sel lis. Neale 
returned with the Duke to his bedroom, the latter being faint from 
loss of blood. In the adjoining sma l l  room they found a pair of 
s lippers with the name of Sel lis on them and a smal l  dark lantern. 
Neale further deposed that Sel lis had taken out the Duke's regis 
mentals recently and had left the sword on a sofa for two or three 
day·s. and it was on this sword that he had trodden. In  reply to a 
question from the foreman of the j ury ,  he said that Sel l is had every 
reason to be gratefu l to the D uke, who had recently stood god­
father to one of his children, Princess Augusta being godmother, 
and had given him apartments for his wife and family ,  together 
with coa ls and candles. 
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Further enq u iries e licited a statement that two or three years 
earlier there had been a rearrangemen t  of wage concerning a n  
adj ustment o f  board-wages a nd travel ling a llowances. Sel lis had 
objected to this and had refused to sign his name to the paper 
expressing satisfaction ,  on ,\·hich the steward had told him that 
if he did not sign he would have to give up the apartments a l lotted 
to his fami l y  as a l l  the other servants had signed. But for that, he 
had nev-er hear�! Sel lis com plain of anything and he had actua l ly 
been the recipient  of numerous sma l l  favours and considerations 
from the Duke. 

As Lady Anne truly remarks, N ea le's evidence should be taken 
with ca ution.  He slept in a room next the Duke, offered to pursue 
the a ssassin with a poker and was prevented by his master'.s " fear 
ol being left a lone! "-not quite what one would ha,·e expected 
from so val iant a soldier. 1\eale  thereupon trampled upon a sword 
which , in spite of the tota l darkness of the room,  he knew was 
covered with blood! Apparent ly a good m,�ny people were surpris­
ed_ at his facil ity for seeing in the dark. · 

She a l so points out that it was strange that Se l lis should have 
so conveniently lel't his slippers with his name on them .1 1 1d she 
says quite open ly  that i·n her opinion the affair "was a planned 
a ffair" though bad ly  executed ; apparently so careless was the at­
tention to detail that the slippers were placed the wrong way 
1·ot1 1 1d .  

To add to the con fusion of this extrao1Ainary m atter, it  would 
appear that a [ew mo1Hhs before his death, Sel lis had written a 
letter to � rr. S tephenson, who was in authority m·er the household 
of ,t he Duke of Cumberland: to the effect that he knew :\: eale to 
be a rogue ''"ho could have been sentenced to transportation for 
seven years for falsifying the household accounts and pecu latiNg, 
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and that Neale was also entirely unreliable in his spoken and 
written word and was knovm to be not averse to the use of threats 
of exposure to those who had mistakenly given him their confid­
ences. These were serious charges which Sellis was prepared to 
substantiate by the production of witnesses who were ready to give 
evidence on oath, and he furthermore implored Mr. Stephenson 
to allow him to resign after hi_s twelve years of service, in spite of 
h is affection for His Royal Highness, rather than condemn him 
to live in closer contact with Neale. 

This letter was quoted in  full in  the newspaper reports of the 
inquiry and should, one m�ght imagine, have caused people to 
look a little askance at Neale's evidence. It is not clear why the 
Duke retained Neale in his service, unless, perhaps, it was safer 
to keep 11tm than to let him go: there were a number of secrets in 
the Cm�berland household  which would have been surprising to 
the public. 

One of the extraordinary things about the whole business as 
reported in the journals was the amount of blood that was spilt 
in the Duke's bedroom. I t  was apparently impossible to discover 
even the material of his night-cap, so spaked was i t :  the pad��!� 
r ibbon which he wore round it  and the tassel that hung down 
from the top had apparently saved him frqm what would other­
wise have been a fatal cut. The bedclothes were- covered in blood 
and blood sprinkled the walls of the room, the pictures and the 
door into the ante-room. Altogether the place resembled nothing 
more nor less than an obscene slaughter-house. 

Lady Anne is aga in caustic in her comments on this pretty state 
of affairs, for' she points out that i t - would have been impossible 
for Sellis to have rendered the place in such a condition given 
tl1\:! time and the weapon which he was said to have employed, and 
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the relati,·e posi tions of the Lwo people most concerned. 
"The duke was in a modern high bed, his head well protect­

ed with a 'padded r ibbon bandage,' the only vital pai·t of him 
that was ..-<1 bove the bed-clothes and the curtains drawn around 
him. Sellis was not ta l ler than the level of the bed-clothes and 
yet he chose a sword to attack his recumbent master! I n  a contest 
so unequ.t l ,  the duke might have annihila ted Sellis in a minute_" 

I t  certa in l y  seems dithcul t  for a little man,  armed with a regi-
• mental sabre, to strike downwards from a n  angle which in itself 

m ust have taken a good dea l  of the po"'er out of the blpw in a way 
w hich should i n flict such amazing damage. 

Later on,  the J ur y  were invited to see Sellis' bloodstained corpse 
in his own room_ The body, save for the head and feet, was, ac­
cording to th� newspaper aq:cun t,.covered in blood and the blood­
stained razor was stil l in · evidence_ Sel lis's neckcloth was cut 
through in severa l places and, in addition to this remarkably thor� 
ough way ol committing suicide, the drawers, the wash-ha9d stand  
and the basin itsel f were a l so bloody. Surely a case for one of our 
detective novelists ! How cotJ ld a man v.·ho had cut his throat in 

. the singularly effective manner employed by Sellis get up and 
wash his hands in the basin, and then compose himself on the bed, 
with his hands covered once more in blood? Yet, in spite of this 
peculiar evidence, it was asserted that Sell is at tempted to murder 
the Duke and then took his qwn life_ 

Sergean t  Creigh ton of the Coldstream Guards, who was on 
duty, went into the Palace with several men on the alarm being 
given and, since the men did not like to �en ter the valet's room, 
he went in himsel f with a ca nd le. He deposed th�t he found Sel lis 
with his throat cut and the razor a bout two yards from the be<L 
His hands ·were quite straight down at  his sides and there was no 
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appearance of a struggle. When to this is added the evidence of 
the surgeon that on examining the body he found the windpipe 
completely  divided, with the arteries on both sides severed and 
no other wounds on the body, it  i s  still more ditlicult to believe 
in suicide. Lady Anne tells the world that one or two other pro­
fessional men were allowed to examine the body but were not 
allowed to testify to what they had seen : one of them, a Dr. Carpue, 
apparently said frequently thereafter that "the head of Sel l is was 
nearly severed from his body and even the joint .was cut through," 
while he added that "no man could have the power to hold an 
instrument ,in his  hand to cut one-eighth of the depth of the wound 
in the throat of Sellis!" But Dr. Carpue was not called as a wit,ness 
at the i nquest. 

Various evidence was then presented as to the home life of 
the Sellis fatnily, which appea�ed to be very happy. Sellis was 
contented, except for a sl ight anxiety as to the health of one of h is 
children, and was on generally satisfactory terms, not only with the 
Duke but with the rest of the Royal Family. In addition to ;oyalty 
standing as godparents at the christening of the last child, Prin­
cess Elizabeth had given Mrs. Sellis some p ieces of muslin and 
Princess Augusta had given her several presents of some value. 
He and the family were in so much favour that every court day, 
when the Queen came to St. James to dress at the Duke's apart­
ments for the Drawing-Room, Sellis' wife and children were sent 
for, so that the royal ladies m ight s('.e them. Moreover, as an extra· 
mark of favour, so that he might spend as much t ime as possible 
w ith h is family, the Duke had permitted a bell to be i nstalled from 
the royal apartments to Sellis's rooms. Sellis only slept i n  the 
D 1,1ke's quarters when he was i n  close personal attendance. The 
n ight of the murder he had eaten a hearty supper at home and 
taken an affectionate but usual farewell of his wife. 

98 



WHO KILLED COCK ROBIN? 

And so the story went on, contradictory evidence which was 
published by the Press without comment and was ignored by the 
jury: confusion as to times and events, as to who first entered 
Sell is's room, as to whether the candles were lit or whether it was 

. . . . 

broad daylight-all leading to the same conclusion fo the impar: 
tial reader-that here were a number of concerted stories not 
sufficiently well rehearsed for the details to be in order. But did 
the jury pounce on these faulty connections in a story that already 
bristled with impossibili ties? They lay low and said nothing, 
being no doubt well primed as to their duty in the case. 

Thomas Creedy, one of the soldiers who accompanied Sergeant 
Creighton, produced a very odd bit of evidence when he informed 
the Court that he went into the room and did not see a coat there, 
but that there was a coat in the room (which was very small) 
belonging to Sellis, with blood on the left cuff and blood on the 
side. It  seems odd that he should be able to describe so minutely 
a thing which he swore he had never seen. Moreover, i t  was 
hardly likely that he would know Sellis or his clothes sufficiently 
well to be able to state that the mythical coat did in fact belong 
to him! He also reported the suspicious nature of the washstand 
and added that Sellis's head was "against his watch at the head 
of the bed" :  to which Lady Anne adds: 

"Indeed, the poor man's head only hung by a small piece of 
skin and his murderers had therefore placed i t  in  that position 
to keep it from falling off altogether! Is it not monstrous then 
that men could be found so lost to honor as to record a verdict 
of f elso de se?" 
It certainly does sound odd on the face of it when the bits of 

evidence are sorted and constructed to make some sort of pattern 
-a crazy quilt of facts, one might _ call i t, since there can be no 
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satisfactory design to be contrived out of them. 
Two of the privates who were on duty opposite the Duke's 

house in St. James's at the t ime of the alarm, deposed that no 
one had left the prem ises, thus narrowing down the inqu iry to 
those who were in residence that night. 

T he housema{d produced evidence of no great value about the 
dark lantern, for although she had not seen it  when she went to 
the small ante room or closet in which it was found, there is no 
reason why it should not have been placed there later. As Lady 
Anne points out, it was most thought[ ul of the person who put it 
there to write Sellis's name on it, as was also done with the 
slippers-in case there might be any mistake as to the ownersh ip . 

.J;mes Paulet, another or the Duke's valets, produced � pleasi'ng 
touch when he told the j ury that as soon as Surgeon Home had 
dressed the Duke's wounds he was sent to attend to Sellis, for 
,,·hom his Royal master had repeatedly asked. Mr. Home re­
turned and said there v.·as no doubt but that Sellis had k illed 
himself. This valet also brought out the fact of the bad relations 
between Sellis a·nd Neale, wh ich would appear to be entirely due 
to Neale's untrustworthy habits. 

It is Mr. Home's evidence that rouses Lady Anne to the grea test 
heights of sarcasm. Having commented on the D uke's th�rnght­
fulness in sending his own surgeon to see to the servant she 
goes on: 

" �fr. Home soon returned and said there was · no doubt that 
the man had killed himsel. Oh, talented man, who cou ld 
perceive at a glance that 'the man had killed h imsel f'. Dr. 
Carpue must never more pretend to a knowledge of surgery 
when h is opinion can be set aside by a single glance of a man 
of such eminence in his profession as M r. Home! As to the 
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joint in his neck being cut through, Mr. Home easily accounted 
for. Wha t! a man cut his own head off, and wash his hands 
afterwards! "  
And one must confess that i t  a l l  sounds rather odd! 
Mrs. Sel l is was called and her evidence showed that Sellis was 

entirely aware of the friendship with which the Royal famfly 
treated him and that he had had no more intention , so far as 
she could see, of doing anything out of the usual when he left 
her that night than of flying. He was normal ,  as thoughtful of her 
comfort before he left as usual, and chatting about the little 
domestic detai ls, such as the dress and cap in which the child 
should be presented to the Queen on the occasion of the next 
Drawing-Room, when her Majesty came to St. James's. 

The evidence of Mrs. Sellis should have done much to shake 
the confident opinion of the jury that her husband had taken his 
own life, but unfortunately they seem to have had their minds 
made up for them. However, apparently some of the powers that 
were felt that the wornan might become dangerous if she were 
allowed to continue to talk about her husband. She and her 
mother were not in the least disposed to moderate their language 
or their opinions, and it was considered advisable not only to 
pension them both but to ship them out of England. Germany 
was believed to be their destination, but Lady Anne admits that 
she has been unable to trace their w�nderings. ' 

Although the jury brought in  this amazing verdict, the public 
was by no means satisfied and there was a great d(!al of talk not 
only between persons but also in one or two. of the newspapers. 

The impropriety of the whole proceedings, the travesty of justice 
and the suspicions that must inevitably be attached to a chain of 
evidence which was both ludicrous and contradictory, gave rise 
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to the darkest suggestions in  regard to the Duke. 
The Royal Family and their supporters grew a good deal 

troubled by this and it became clear that something drastic must 
be done. 

Sir Evarard Home, now made a Kn ight, at presumably the 
request of persons in authority, published a declaration in respect 
of the whole business which effectively confused the issue aga in  
and gave Lady Anne a chance to use her barbed wit once more. 

The published statement ,,·as  as fol lows: 
" \Tuch pains having been taken to involve m mystery the 

M U RDER of Sellis, the l ate servant of his Roya l  H iglrness the 
Duke of Cumberland, I feel it a pub l ic duty to record the cir­
cumstances respecting it that came with in my own observation, 
which I cou ld not do whi le the propagators of such reports 
were before a public tribu nal. 

" I  v isited the Duke of Cumherl·and upon h i s  being wounded 
and found my way from the great ha l l  to his apartment by 
reason of the traces of blood which were left on the passag·es 
a nd staircase. I found him on the bed, still bleeding, his shirt 
del uged with blood, and the coloured drapery above the pillmv 
sprinkled with blood from a wounded artery, which puts on an  
appearance that cannot be  mistaken by  those who have seen it. 
This could not have happened had not the head been lying on 
the pillow when it was wounded. The n ight ribbon,  which 
,vas wadded, the cap, sca lp  and skull were obliquely div ided, so 
that the pulsations of the arteries of the bra in  .were distinguished. 
\Vhile dressing this and other wounds report was brought that  
Sellis was wounded, if not \f LJ R DE RED. His  royal hig-lrness 
desired me to go to h im,  as I had declared h is royal highness 
to be out of immediate danger. A second report came, that 
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Sel l is was dead. I went to his apartment, found the body ly ing 
on his side on the bed, without his coat and neckcloth, the 
throat cut so effectually that he could not have survived about 
a minute or two. The length and direction of the wound were 
such as left no doubt of its being given by his own hand. Any 
struggle wou ld have made it irregular. He had not even changed . 
his position: his hands lay as they do in a person who has 
fa inted: they had no marks upon them of violence: his coat 
hung upon a cha ir, out of the reach of the blood from the bed: 
.,:rhe sleeve from the shoulder to the wrist was sprinkled with 
blood, quite dry, evidently  from a wounded artery; a�d from 
such kind of sprinkling, the arm ot the assassin of the Duke of 
Cumberland could not escape! 

"In returning to the duke, I found the doors of a ll the state 
apartments had marks of bloody fingers on them. The Duke 
of  Cumberland after being wounded could not have gone any­
where but to the outer doors and back again, since the traces 
of blood were confined to the passages from the <:>ne to the 
other. 

Everard Home." 

So that was that! Lady Anne agrees that it is regrettable that 
so much trouble should have been taken to inv<?lve the death of 
Sellis in mystery, but adds pertinently that that trouble was taken 
by the pahce and not by the public. But the published account 
of Sir Everard lea,·es confusion worse confounded, as she is quick 
to perceive. For example, he now reports that. he found the body 
l ying on its side, the throat cut so effectually that the man cou ld  
not have l ived more than a minute or  two_. It seems very difficu l t  
for a man to cut his throat when l ying l ike this and accord ing to 
the published report "He Had Not Even Changed His Posit ion.'' 
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Yet Sir Everard says that the length 
1

and direction of t_he wound 
gave no doubt but that i t  was made by the man's own hand. 

Now :\ fr. Pl ace, the forema n  of the j ury at  the inquest, had 
a conversation with Lady A nne Hamilton herself and i n  tha t  
h e  told her that "the man l ived twen ty minutes after · h is throat 
was cut !"  \Vithout wishing to compare the relative knowledge 
of the foreman and Sir Everard Home, Lady A n ne stresses the 
point as one urged by :\fr. Place as "confirm_atory of Sel lis having 
murdered himsel f." I t  seems therefore, she says, somewhat strange 
that Sir Everard d id not set :\fr. P lace ril$ht  upon this very impor­
tant point  of time , ... ·hich might have l ed to an en tirely di fferent  
verdict. She then proceeds to compare the report with other 
pieces of evidence which were given in the inquest, w i th a ttent ion 
drawn especia l ly to the fact that " the hands having no marks of 
v iolence on them" is entirely contrary' to the wi tn esses' reports, 
since the hands and wrists both bore every evidence of violence. 
The remark also in regard to the sleeve of S� l l i s\ coa t, which the 
doctor asserts to have had on . it j ust the k i nd of sprink l ing  
of blood which m ight be expected from the a�sassin of the Duke, 
is en tirely a t  variance with the rest of the a l leged !acts. Sel l is 
was supposed to have attacked the Duke w i th a sabre-a regi­
mental sword-and the length of this, coupled w i th the pos i t ion 
in which the Duh was ly ing when the at tack is supposed to have 
taken place, would have rendered i t  impossi ble lor any blood 
from the v ictim to have reached the assa i l an t. Blood a lso \ras  
found a l l  over the room ,d1ere Sel l is l ay, inc luding the curt a i ns, 
severa l parts of the floor and the wash-bas in ,  and yet the coa t 

1 

was hung on a chair "out of �he reach of the blood from the 
bed ." \\Thy should blood not have been snri n k led on the coa t 
also? 
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The description of the · wounds incurred by the Duke hardly 
coincide with the Duke's own statement that he thought at first 
i t  was a bat beating about his head, which is hardly credible i f  
he were as  badly damaged as  the surgeon suggests. The other dis­
crepancies in respect of the household, the alarms given to the 
various persons concerned and so on are all, taken together, more 
than odd in the sum of the whole. 

Every effort had now been made to throw the s ins of attempted 
murder and suicide on to Sellis by those in authori ty, wi thout the 
smallest regard for the probabili ties or poss ibili ties of the case. 
And it is interesting to notice that apparently no suggestion was 
ever made that the two privates on sentry duty had been mistaken 
and that an i ntruder had made his way i nto the palace, attacked 
the Duke and murdered his valet. From the very beg,inni ng no 
effort to sh ift the responsibil ity outside the inmates of the Duke 
of Cumberland's apartments seems to have been� made-perhaps 
even the fertile brain of sycophan tic  authority jibbed at such an 
impossible task. �Iuch easier to lay the blame a t  the door of  the 
dead! 

Lady Anne has then a bombshell to cast. She secured the 
deposition of a Mr. Jew, who was at the time of the attack i n  
the household of the Duke and who then, twenty years later, was 
i nclined to tell the truth, "alleging as -t1is reason the very severe 
pangs of conscience he endured through the secrecy he had mani­
fested upon this most serious affair." 

l\ fr. Jew's deposition is  of such i nterest that it is worth quoting 
in  full, 'since i t  i s  reasonable to suppose that it  i s  true. He had 
nothing whatever to gain by keeping silence any longer, and 
indeed he had nothing to lose. He must have known that l\Irs. 
Sellis and her mother had been shipped abroad - to keep thei r · 
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tongues quiet, and he was aware that the Duke of Cumberland '· 
was sti l l  a power in the land. Will iam IV was on the throne 
of England, and if anything happened to the only daughter of 
the I.ate Duke of Kent, Princess Victoria, the next ruler would be 
,Ernest Augustus himself. So to i ncriminate the heir-presumptive 
was a bold deed.-

The Deposi tion runs as follows: 
· "I was in the Duke's household in May, 1 8 1 0 : and on the 
evening of the 3 1st, I a ttended His Royal Highness to the 
onera-this was the evening previous to Sell is's death. That · 
n ight it was my turn to undress His Royal Highness. On our 
arriving at St. James's, I fou nd Sellis had retired for the night, 
as he had to prepaH: his master's apparel, etc., and to accompany 
h im on a journey early in the morning. 

"I slept that n ight in my usual room: but N eale, another valet 
to the Duke. slept in an apartment very s lightly div ided from 
that occupied by His Royal Highness. A few days previous to 
t h i s  datf', I was commanded by my master to lay a sword upon 

one of the sofas of his bed-chamber, and I did so. After u n­
dressing His Royal Highness, I retired to bed. I had not long 
been asl eep, . when I was disturbed by Neale, who told me to 
get up immediately, as my master, the Duke, was nearly mur­
dered! I lost no time, and very soon entered His Royal High­
n�ss's bedroom. His Royal Highness was then standing nearly 
in the middle of the chamber, apparently q ui te cool and com­
posed, his  shirt was blo�y. and he commanded me to fetch Sir 
Henry Halford, saying, 'I am severely wounded.' The sword, 
which a few days before I had laid u pon the sofa, was then lying 
on the floqr and was very bloody. I went with a l l  possible haste 
for Sir Henry, and soon returned with him. I stood by· when 
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the ·wounds were examined, none ol which were of a serious 
nature or appearance. That in his hand was the most con­
siderable. 

"During thi� period, which was nearly two hours, neither 
l\'eale or Sel l is had been in the Duke's room, which appeared 
to me to be a very unaccountable circumstance. At length, 
when a l l  the bustle of dressing the wounds (which . were very 
inconsiderable) was over, and the room arranged, the Duke said 
'Cal l  Sel l is'. I 'went to Sel l is's door and, upon opening it, the 
most horri fic scene presented i tself :  Sel l i s  was l y ing perfect ly  
straight in the bed, his head raised up against the headboard, 
and nearly severed from the body: his hands were lying qu i te 
straight on each side of him, and upon examination I s�tw him 
weltering in blood, i t  having covered the under part o! the 
body. He had on his shirt, h is waistcoat and his stockings: the 
inside of his hands were perfectly clean, but on the outs�de were 
smears of blood. His watch was hanging up over his head, 
wound up. His coat was careful l y  folded inside out, and laid 
over the back of a chair. A razor, covered with blood, was ly ing 
at a distance from his body, but too far to have been used by 
himself, or to have been thrown there by him in such a muti­
lated condi tion as i t  was very apparent death must have been 
immediate after such an act. 

"The wash-basin was in the stand, but was half full of bloody 
water! Upon examining Sellis's cravat, i t  was found to be cut. 
The padding which he usually wore · was covered with s i lk  and 
qui l ted: but, what was most remarkable, both the padding and 
the cravat were cut, as if some person had made an atte;npt to 
cut the throat with the cravat on: then, finding the wool len or 
cotton stuffing to impede the razor, took i t  off, in order more 
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readily to effect the purpose." 

Duri ng the tune the Duke's wounds were being dressed, the , 
deponent believes Neale was absent, i n  obedience to arrange11 1eqt, 
and was employed in laying Sellis's body i n  the form i n  which 
i t  was discovered, as it was an utter impossibility that a self­
murderer could have so disposed of h imself. 

Deponent further observes that Lord Ellenborough undertook 
to nianage this affa ir, by arranging the proceedings for the inquest: 
a nd a l so that every witness was previously examined by h im: also 
that the F I RST J U RY, being unanimously dissatisfied with the 
evidence adduced, as they were not permitted to see the body in  a n  
u ndressed- state, positively refused to return a verdict, i n  conse­
quence of which they were dismissed, and a SECOND .JURY sum­
moned and empanelled, to whom, severally, a special messen�er 
had been sent, requesting their attendance, a nd each one of who1i1 
was d irectly or i ndirectly connected with the court , or the govern­
ment. That, on both i nquests, the deponent had been omitted, 
a nd had not bee� called for to give his evidence, though it mtl ';t 
h ave been known, from h is personal attendance and situation upon 
the occasion,  that he must necessarily ha,·e been a most material 
w itness. The second jury returned a verdict against Sellis, and the 
body ,,.-as immediately put i nto a shell and conveyed away a certa in  
d istance for interment. The Duke was privately removed from St. 
James's Palace to Carlton House, where H is Royal H ig-hnes� 
manifested an impatience of manner, and a perturbed state of 
m ind, evidently arising from a conscience ill at ease. But, in a 
short time, he appeared to recover h i s  usual spirits, and be ing 
hurt in  but a very tri fl ing degree, he went out daily i n  a seda n 
cha ir  to Lord Ellenborough's and Sir  \\' illiam Ph ipp's, although 
the daily journals were lamenting his very bad state of health, and 
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also enlarging, wi th  a considerable expression of sorrow, upon 
the magnitude of h is wounds, and the fears entertained for h is 
recovery ! 

That l\ fr. Jew was fully aware of the conseq uences of any 
unru ly tattling on the part of h is tongue is evidenced by the further 
deposition which he made. 

"I was applied to by some noblemen shortly after this dread­
ful business and Yery strongly did they solicit me to make a 
fu l l  disclosure of all the improper transactions to which I m ight 
have been made a party upon this solemn subject. I dec l ined 
many times, hut at length conceded, under a binding engage­
ment that I shou ld not he left destitute of comforts or abridged 
of my liberty :  and, under special engagements to preserve me 
from such results, I have given my deposition. (Signed) Jew." 

And now what was the truth of the story? · D id Sellis really .. 
attempt to murder the roya l  master for whom he always professed 
gratitude and a fa ir  lik ing, who had evidently shown h im a good 
deal of kindness and consideration-more than was shown to 
most servants in those days? Or, and this seems the more probable, 
taking the history of the case into account, did the Duke of 
Cumberland suddenly become afflicted with a mental clouding 
which caused him to attack h is own servant, m urder�or half­
murder him and then real ise the horrible position i n  which he 
had placed h imself? The mental condition of the Duke -ancl his  
past history m ust be take_n into account in weighing up these 
amazing stories of the n ight of May 3 1 st, 1 8 1 0. History has i t  on 
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record that he was a valiant soldier and gfren to deeds of great 
braYery . . .  the bravery one m ight think of a madman or a man 
subject to fits of mental aberration. One might incl ine to belie,·e 
that on this dreadful night he suddenly became "possessed of a 
deYil," in the bibli�,d phrase, and that in  that condi t ion he at· 
tacked his valet. Whether he a lso attacked h imself, whether Sellis 
defended himself and so inj ured his royal master, will never be 
known. And no one ·will ever know j ust what part N eale played 
in  the whole proceedings. That he was stage-manager and pro­
ducer of the tragic comedy that was enacted before the j ury woul<l 
. seem to be fai rly clear. The deposi tion of Jew is l i kely to be 
accura te, for he had nothing to gain by telling h is story, especially 
at  that period, and everythin� in the world to lose. 

There i s, of course, another · s ide to the ston wh ich has not 
, been suggested. Did Neale, who we know had every reason to 

d isl ike Sellis and to wish him out of the way, actua lly -romtni t  
the murder? \Vas the Duke aware of  this exposure or hjs favorite, 
wh ich must lead him to take action to get rid of h im from about 
his person, and did he acquiesce in the removal ol the man who 
was not a fraid to commi t  his knowledge of Neale to paper to a 
th ird party? And i l  so, how did he get his mrn superficial wounds 
-in attacking Sellis, in repulsing an attack? And was the matter 
premeditated since the sword was ly ing on the sofa for three days 
or more? 

No one probably w ilJ ever really . solve the l\hstery of St. 
James's, but that the valet Neale and H is Royal Highness, Ernest 
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Augustus, Duke of Cumberland, were in some way or other party 
to the kil ling of Sel l is seems to be beyond dispute. 

It was a very long time before the hubbub created by the affair 
died down, and the popul arity of the Duke, never anything to 
weigh in the balance, d ied down to complete nul l ity. It was 
thought advisable to get such a storm centre out of the country: 
as a soldier he had virtues, as a domestic brother he had few. In 
1 8 1 3  he was again  put in comniand of the Hanoverian Army, and 

·remained on the Continent for another year. 
Unti l  1 8 19 it seemed more than possible that he would inherit 

the throne of England, s ince none of his brothers had legitimate 
issue save the Prince Regent, whose only daughter, Charlotte, 
was to marry Queen Victoria 's "Uncle Leopold" and d ie with 
her baby i n  childbed in I 817. The Duke of Clarence had two 
daughters who both died in infancy, and there ·was no one e lse t i l l  
the Duke of Kent, abandoning l\Ime. de St. Laurent, who had 
.been his faithful "wife in the eyes of God" for many years, mar­
ried the widowed Princess of Leinigen, herself a Princess of 
Coburg, and became the father of Queen Victoria. 

Something had to be done for the ugly, i l l-tempered D uke of 
Cumberland, a lways at variance w ith the rest of h is family,  with 
the l\ f inisters and Court, and the bogey of the Engl ish chi ldren 
of the day. 

Hanover stil l  went with the Crown of England, 'but  fortunately 
it ·was becoming real i sed that it was not advisable for the K ing 
of England to be also King of Hanover. vVhen Queen Victoria 
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came to the throne the opportunity for a shelving of England's 
continental responsibi l ities arrived. She relinquished any claim to 
the throne and it passed to her eldest surviving u ncle on her 
father's side-the Duke of Cumberland. 

And so the Wicked Uncle vanished from the history of England 
to ,make himself as unpopular in Hanover as he had been here: 
a reactionary of the worst type, he opposed every reform with t!ie 
u tmost bitterness and died unmourned on November 1 8th, 185 1 ,  

• after a troubled reign of fourteen years. 
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O C E AN MY S T ERY 
By F. J. L YNCH 

The mystery of the disappearance of the "Mada­
gascar" wjth all hands off the Chilean Coast of 
South America has never been solved. In this 
story the author offers a particularly plausible 

and dramatic solution. 

f N marine history for a century the fate of the full-rigged ship 
"i\fadagascar" _has figured as an ocean mystery. Officially no 

·word of her was ever rece ived fol lo'wing the day in August of 
1 8:>3 on which she left Port l\felbourn·e for English ports. Even­
tua lly the vessel was written off as a total loss, cause unknown, 
whereupon Lloyds of London signed a cheque covering everything 
-except heartbreak! In this storv it is my intention to reopen 
the inquiry sentence by sentence and tell the story of how it came 
about that the "l\Jadagascar" vanished from human ken, scuttled 
and afire and fell to the ocean bottom some 20 m iles off Isla 
Clarence, Chilean coast of South America. In that sizzling plunge 
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she took with her everybody who had sailed from Melbourne, less 
only the gang of murderous wretches who joined her for the ex­
press purpose of robbing and sinking her with all aboard. 

It would be reasonable to ask how a mystery of a century's 
standing could at this late date be cleared up; and as such a 
question is entitled to an answer I shall attend to i t-in about 
4,000 words! 

In 1 947 whilst dredging a New Zealand newspaper file of the 
'70's for what I might find I noted a paragraph telling of the 
death it1 Wellington of a woman, name unknown, and some queer 
discoveries thereafter. Among her effects was found a paper on 
which was set forth in writing a brief account of mutiny ·at sea, 
of officers overpowered and knifed by some of the passengers and 
crew, and of the robbery of a great amount of gold and specie 
on board. 

After locking the passengers in their cabins so that none niight 
escape (the account went on) a boat was launched and the gold 
transferred to it, and the robbers pulled away. But Joe Grey 
saw a man on the deck and asked to be set on board. 

"We don't want any witnesses," he said. "As soon as he stepped 
on the gangway the boat pull ea away and le£ t him on the scuttled 
and burning vessel. We never saw Joe again." 

The account went on to · tell of frightful privations after the 

boats reached the shore, also of the loss of a box of bullion which 
slipped over a ledge of rock into the sea. On occasion one of the 
party died. 
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Nothing in all this, it might be said. Any fanciful woman with 
a trifle (?f reading behind her could have written the foregoing. 
But the paper the woman had used in her diary exposed one 
clinching fact-a fact which powerfully suggested authenticity. It 
was a page torn from a ship's log. It was indeed, a page torn from 
the "Madagascar's" log book! The paper y ielded an even more · 
definite scrap of evidence. On the back of it was written a date 
ih 1 854, accompanied by the vessel's · position on the ocean, and 
that position was just where a navigator would have expected 
the "Madagascar" to be about that time and i n  the weather re­
corded by other vessels on the England-Australia run just then. 

M ention of Grey's name assisted greatly to prove that the 
woma.n who died in New Zealand knew where9f she wroto. This 
same Grey was the man in charge of the attacking- party when the 
Mcivor Escort was robbed i n  '53. It extends hyperbole not in 
the slightest to state that Joseph Grey cared not the fift� part of 
an imprecation for human life-of course, other than his own-and 
his method of attack· on the Escort party proved it. There was 

. . 

no time-honored "stand "about it. Grey's way was swift murder-
without warning whatever a fusillade from behind a leafy screen 

· dropped every man, some in  death, others wounded and helpless. 
I n  contemptuous disregard for their agonies the gold boxes were 
removed, taken to a _distance, burst open and the cont�nts appor­
tioned. Whereupon the men went their several ways. 

Melville, Wilson and Aitkens were m en of about Grey's cal ibre, 
and for some time the police were completely baffled. But one 
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Francis weakened under the stra in and gave the show away. The �  
three mentioned ,,·e1:e taken where Francis sa id they would he 
found, but Grey was not on hand: nor was he ever _ picked up. 
The best place N OT to look for h im was "·here a l legedly he had 
slept the night before, for he never slept in the same p lace twice. 

- Information that might be described as the echo of a rumor 
reached the police that Grey was try ing to get out of the counu;y 
by the _ "?\Iadagascar," shortly lea,· ing for Eng-land. Al l  sh ipping 
had been watched, but the ";\ fadagascar" in part icular was 
searched, indeed nearly taken to p ieces, every cubic foot of her 
structure duly accounted for. 

An unexplai ned skeleton of a man was found, eaten clean bv 
rats nionths before, but neTer a s ign of Joseph Grey. 

"The "Madagascar" was an early example of the c l ipper type 
of vessel-lofty masts and sail bv the acre-sa i l  wh ich cou ld not 
be rechrced at sea. To meet suc h stra ins as a fu l l  ga le would 
infl ict masts and bowsprit  were very he;1vily "stepped" in large 
b locks of timbe1: strongly bol ted to the keel ,  or in  the case of the 
bowspri t  to the stem of tbe vessel. 

lVho would look for a man beneath a hea,· i l y-bol tecl tie-beam? 
Nobody! Yet, by the .conn i vance of the sh ip\ carpen ter, one such 
beam h id Joseph Grey. Fortunately for h imsell ,  if venomous, he 
was a lso shrivelled!· 

Short ly after the "Madagascar's" departure  a rumour went 
wh isperi ng about l\Ielbotn-ne that Grey. leader of the l\fclvor 
Lcort robbety, along with several other desperadoes travelling a.i 
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passengers, had in fact got away with the vessel ;  and the same 
rumour also carried a hint that the "Madagascar" would never 
reach port. 

In · the nature of things nothing could have been done to warn 
the allegedly threatened vessel. To send anything to try to catch 
her was hopeless, for the heavily-driven sailing machine had a 
two days' start, and in any case she could have outsailed her 
pursuer! Even had there been available a vessel of the necessary 
speed it would have been found, as often since, that even the 
largest ship is but a very small ·  needle in the vast haystack of 
the ocean. Helpless! 

As I have written, the prophecy proved true. The "Madagascar" 
was never again sighted. Truly had she sailed into the void. 

How comes it then, it might be asked, that I am engaged in 
writing a story abo�t the vessel, a story in which I intend to relate 
in detail the manner of her foundering and of the truly frightful 
incidents which preceded that plunge to the ocean floor, two miles 
of water down! 

Now I have grown grey-haired in the pursuit of a wide variety 
of criminal operations. So used have I become to handling news­
paper files of ancient date, therefrom by turning die pages glean­
ing the whole story of �ome bloodstain of the past, from discovery 
of the body right through to the murderer's final appearance in a 
lofty position with a rope curled around his neck, that a current 
issue of a newspaper looks queer and incomplete! 

Therein will be featured only one phase of a crime, whereon 
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the final curtain wi l l  not fal l  for four or five months. in the 
meantime, if I depended on current issues, how would l earn my 
dail�- bread and dripping? 

In another newspaper excursion that dropped me into the 13y­
gone l noted· an article in which a mining engineer recorded the 
ravings of an old recluse he had met on the Tiebaghi River in 
N ew Caledonia in the '90's; My attent ion was litera l ly  magnetised 
by the word "�Iadagascar." 

Taken alone the old man's ravings might have amounted to 
·mere leverish fantasy, but in the most definite sense they did not 
stand a lone. Instead, with strange completeness they buttressed i n  
greater detail the scrappy story l eft by the woman who died in  
N ew Zealand in the '70's·. The mining man said that in h is saner 
periods the old man said that his name was Conley, but that in  
his ravings he used often say that the man who tried to hoodwink 
Joe Grey stood in danger of his life. 

It is my opinion that taking the old man's statements in con­
junction '"ith the New Zealand woman's post-mortem confession,  
adding known fa_ct and a sma l l  amount of rumour, a true story 
of the H \ fadagascar's" last voyage and her final p lunge into the 
depths can be set forth. 

ln the da\S before the "l\fadagascar's ... departure from Mel­
bourne ,  Joseph Grey experienced no diffin�lty in recru iting a suffi­
cient number oi men for the desperate enterprise he had in mind 
-the robbery with a l l  necessary violence of the quarter-mil lion 
in gold wh ich the vessel carried, follm,ved by sending her to the 
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bottom with her passengers and crew, including some of the 
latter whom he intended, if possible, to enlist in his service! 

Incidental ly ,  fol lowing gold discovery in Australia in 1 85 1  the 
British jail authorities· revived a practice common in Austra l ia's 
lash, loop and l eg-iron babyhood. Prisoners whose offence fel l  
short ol hanging quality were offered remission of their sentence 
if they would  consent to work their passage to l\ le lbourne. 
Natural ly these outpourings of England's criminal  popu la tion 
amounted to so much human s lush, ready for any in iquity ; and, as 
stated, Grey had no trouble in securing volunteers. That breeding 
tel l s  is exemplified in innumerable ways and instances. 

Natural ly criminals come to know a good deal about each 
other. In particular Grey's stark indifference to the lives of others 
was. perhaps his best known quality. Certain ly every man enlisted 
for the attempt on the "�fadagascar" knew of his record of violent 
death. "Dead men don't turn up in court, says Joe" quoted one of 
them one day. Yet_ it seems that not · one member of the party 
developed a thought that the man who so carelessly planned the 
deaths of others might with equal cal lousness put a period to 
their own. As J look at it, it was particularly unlikely that such a 
fiend would leave alive those members of the "Madagascar's" crew 
who had been cajoled in to joining in the a ttempt on the vessel's 
golden cargo. Reader, even before one of them had joined. the 
awful Grey had decided that they would never reach port. Nor 
did they ! 

If ever a man was born to die at a rope's slack end-the end 
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that blows in the wind till it i s  ballasted-that man was Joseph 
Grey! Of course "·e all are the heirs of our ancestors and i f, as 
alleged, our eYery quality is inherited, then i t  seems to me that 
Grey's ancestors should have been strangled a t  birth. Plainly 
there are times when ProYidence misses the bus, or is off guard, or 
something. 

Yet i t  seems tha t Grey's character was obvious enough. The 
min_ing engineer of Xew Caledonia knew nothing for certain, but 
had deep suspicions of the man. He recorded that Grey was of 
shac!y and suspic ious aspect ·wi th lack-lustre eyes like a dead eel. 
"Even in death (we are told) Grey looked deadly." 

Incidenta l l y  i t  is by way of the documents from N ew Caledonia 
that I am able to state tha t  Grey's l ieutenant in  villainy was one 
Geary, also that two women participated in  the attack on . " the 
doomed "�[adagascar." \\'omen pirates! ·who would doubt that 
the woman · who died i : 1  � ew Zealand was one of them? 

Three others in the plot signed on in Melbourne as ordinary 
seamen, in order to "sound"' the forecastle and try to enlist sufficient 
men of the crew for the success of the scheme. Four came i n­
the doomed four!  

The manner of their deaths is ,uncertain. If  Joe Grey didn't 
shoot them, then they later had a choice between burning with 
the ":Madagascar"' and drowning in the Pacific Ocean. As .Joe 
seldom missed, particularly when the target was human, I lean to 
shooting. How ever they arrived at their latter end no sympathy 
lies. 
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If s,veeping in its deadliness, Grey\ plan of attack was simple. 
Its deadly nature is amply covered by the statement that the 
scheming wretch in charge intended the deaths, either by fire or _ 
drowning, of the passengers and crew to the last man and woman. 
Simultaneousness, without which the attack had no chance of suc­
cess, was achieved by using a certain chime of the ship's bell as a 
starting signal. 

Each man was allotted his part in the onslaught. Because their 
presence about the deck would excite no comment the renegade 
members of the crew were told off to deal with the ship's oHicers. 
On account of the comparative silence of a knife attack, as com­
pared with firearms, knives were to be used. For a reason ad­
vanced later, two hours before the attack was timed to begin the 
vessel was to be scuttled. 

I 

In fact eve_rything was arranged m nice sequence; and when 
success had smoothed the way the survivors-Grey and his party 
of criminals-were to pull their boat to the nearest point on the 
coast in one of the "Madagascar's" boats, tell some settlers a care­
fully rehearsed story of disaster at sea, and then proceed to live 
happily ever after. The presence of two women in the boat 
naturally would tend to allay suspicion. In fact the scheme lacked 
flaw-except as Grey ·was destined to see it. HE WASN'T IN THE 
BOAT! 

\Vith her unsuspected cargo of treachery all went well with the 
fast-sailing ".\Iadagascar" till she ·was nearing the South American 
coast. 
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Captain Harris, a young man, never even dreamed of trouble. 
Piracy had long gone out of fashion, and though he was carrying 
a record consignment of gold he had seen nothing .to indicate foul 
play. The vessel was now far to the southward, down where the 
westerlies work at their endless circlings of the globe; and before 
their long, strong, and changeless pull .c:he "l\fadagascar" drove 
onward through the smother of wind and water. \Veil within a 
week the vessel wou ld have been involved in a contest with foul­
fanged Cape Horn. I hope you noticed that I wrote "would have 
been." The "Madagascar'' had fought her way round Cape Hora . 
for the last time. 

Secretly and covertly Joseph Grey had gone- into action; and 
by that, awful man's decree the ":\fadagascar" was now bound for 
the Port of Sa(jness, the Port of Hopes that are Hopeless.........:the 
Port of Missing Ships! For his own dreadful ends Grey litera lly 
decreed that instead of rounding the Horn the ,·essel should pro­
ceed up the Chilean coast and make for the handiest port, which 
was Valparaiso, or at least so Captain Harris thought. Grey had 
scuttled the vessel, not so badly as to render her immediately 
dangerou�, but seriously enough to render a Cape Horn tussle out 
of the question. 

Just here "One-legged Nevin" stumps into the "Madagascar" 
picture. On the goldfields he had slept out with the starry "Cross" 
overhead; and by comparison with this open-air roominess the 
cabins of the ":\ fadagascar" appeared to him as little bet_ter than 
butter boxes. As he had occas ionally done before, so on this night 
he decided to sleep on deck. 
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The plans for the capture of the vessel by Grey and his party 
were so arranged that every man of the gang had a set victim. 
As previously stated, firearms were to be used only as a last resort, 
in case of a general fight. 

It was said of Napoleon I (and only) thaf he always planned a 
battle two ways, one for victory and the oth�r for defeat; �nd so 
with Napoleon Grey. The awful scheme worked with the smooth­
ness of modern machinery. At the moment chosen, and indicated 
by the ship's bel l ,  the sk ipp�r was stand ing near the wheel. Grey 
came up silently behind him. There was a flash, a grunt  occasioned 
bv the fierce energy put into the blow, a groan of agony, a crash 
to the deck and Captain Harris was dulv accounted for. The man 
at  the wheel looked around, said nothing, and kept a t  his business 
ot steering the "Madagascar.". 

At the self-same moment on ·other parts of the ship knives went 
into deadly action and men fel l ,  some dead, some wounded. I n  
one o r  two instances there were struggles, but other attackers who 
in on.e ghast ly stroke had settled their al lotted victims hurried to 
the aid of those less successful .  Anything resembling real resistance 
was impossible. 

Within five minut�s of the �ki j'.>per's death the "l\fadagascar'' 
was in the hands of the mutineers, and the man at the wheel 
brought the vessel's head straight for the land, plainly visible to 
starboard. 1 t  was the swift and deadly . success of the Mcivor 
Escort Robbery re-enacted in a wi ld oce�n sett ing, l'> the shrieking 
C>f a swift westerly gale through the tangle of cord.age overhead, 
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and the thunders of heavy seas as they heaved their vast bulk at  
the doomed vessel, now notably low in  the water. 

Some of the pirates immediately went to work getting up their 

boxes of gold, each box containing 1 ,000 oz. For a reason not 
at first clear others worked at  removing the hatches. Meanwhile 
Grey and another ,�ere busy robbing and imprisoning the pas­
sengers in their cabins. A woman ,vho objected was_so spiteful ly  
trea ted that her screams were distinctly audible even over the vast 
tumult of the vessel. 

At last a l l  the treasure and some provisions were loaded into 
one of the boats, and it was swung outboard. Next a curious 
tragedy was enacted. The traitors who had joined the gang were 
smashed to the deck, and kicked into u nconsciousness. This of 
course cut down the number of pirates left to share the gold-the 
inner circle, so to speak,  of the attackers, who were now in com­
p lete control .  Thus were the traitors paid. 

Grey and the others stood by die boat while Geary returned 
belmv. The ship had begun to settle by the head. But the blood­
dripping brutes wanted to be certain that no?ody l ived "to turn 
up in court." As you know, the vessel had been scuttled. Soon 
smoke rol l ing up from the open hatches sho�ed that she had been 
set afire as well .  Flames that soon followed reinforced the fact. 
The ship indeed was wel l ablaze, · and the cabins aft in which 
living men and women were stil l  imprisoned had become ovens 
of death .  Grey-that shrivelled and venomous being! 

Soon Geary emerged, rejoined the other desperadoes, whereupon 
• 
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arrangements were set in motion to lower the boat. But there 
came a yell from the poop. It came frorn "One-legged N ivei1 ! "  He 
stood in plain view, then with astonishing agility he made his way 
down the companionway to the main deck and there stood 
irresolute, as well he might. He gazed momentarily at the fire, 
down at a dead body, then at the water, now menacingly close . 

.... 

Grey had no intention of allowing even one man aliYe who 
might escape ,vith news of the piracy. Knife in hand and followed 
by his companions he advanced toward Niven.  That man re­
treated t,ill he was fetched up by the poop bulkhead. He then 
did a mad but Homeric thing . .  With a gesture of defiance he let 
his crutch go, grasped a length of timber ·from the poop, steadied 
himself on one leg and the woodwork behind him, faced unarmed 
his six attackers, cursed them for a lot of poltroons and invited 

� 
them to come on. He did more. He walked into the opposition 
a perfect hurricane with his length of 3 x 2. For a few seconds 
there was a terrific melee. Two fell. Niven didn 't. Grey sprang 
·at him� N iven ,  a powerful man despite his terrific infirmity, 
grasped the wrist of his knife hand, and played a trick that threw 
his attacker heavily against a staunchion. Grey struck it with h is  
head and lapsed into -imconsciousness. But the iorce of his  own 
effort sent the crippled ma n down-and five scarcely human de\·ils 
dealt "·ith him. Vale "One-legged Niven ! "  He went down 
colours nailed. 

\Vhen Grey recovered consciousness he was still in the scuppers 
into \\·hjch he had s l ipped-and alone. To get an extra �hare of 
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the spoil his followers had left lum on the burning, scuttled, and 
rapidly sinking "i\fadagascar!" 

You will remember that the four traitors also were aboard, but 
of their fate the weak-witted thing of New Caledonia never gave 
any definite h rnt. 

Grey staggered to the side, whence he could see the men who 
had deserted him r owing for the shore, a somewhat darker shadow 
afar oft, whereupon he shook his fist and filled the cloud-studded 
vault of Heaven with an assortment of yells and curses. 

Euchred at last! Tbe prop and pillar of the whole structure of 
villainy knocked from under him! Instead of his share, and if he 
could arrange it with a knife jn the darkness or by any other 
method that might suggest itself, the shares of most of the others, 
he had be�eath h:m a staggering vessel which he himself had 
scuttled and set ablaze Which element would win the race for 
possession of the reeling "Madagascar" mattered not the feeble 
end of a curse to Joseph Grey. 

Napoleon, who once had galloped all over Europe, finally con­
fined to a rock, knew a historic fall; but at least the rock of St. 
Helena never caught fire or threatened to founder with all hands. 

Flames were rapidly making their way forward. Also the vessel's 
heavy upper structure of masts and yards was pulling her into a 
steep list. Grey's thoughts! 

Still dazed and uncertain of his movements the m'arooned man 
cut one ol the smaller boats adrift, launched it as well _as a land-
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lu bber might, and scrambled a board. �or had he more than mere 
seconds to spare, for he was only yards clear when two things 
happened-the ":\Iadagascar" burst i nto flame like a ,·olcano and 
the great Pacific c la imed her for its own.  She sank by the head. 

It was then that Grey discoYered that there ·"·ere no oars in the 
boat! 

The others made a landing at a low and swampy point. Had 
they moved off next day they had a good chance, but suspicion 
and quarrels delayed them. feyer looked in and commenced to 
cut them down. 

The last man among them spent his l ast fe,·erish days working 
hysterica l l y at burying the dead and having completed h is self-
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imposed task he col lapsed and died. Meanwhile the two women 
faced the same privations but held to l ife. One day one said that 
she was going to see if she could find somebody who would  help  
them and never returned. A Chilean shepherd found the other, 
delirious and half insane and took her to his home, where she 
l ived for about 12 months. Later (he related) she travel led nor�h­
ward by a fishing boat and reached Valparaiso. 

It is reasonable to suppose that this is the woman who later 
drifted to New Zealand and confessed when dying the story she 
had not dared tell before and left a somewhat scrappy record. 

Meanwhile Grey for five days drifted in the open boat, drenched, 
frozen, starving. Then he was picked up by a west-bound whaler. 
Somehow, never explained in- his meanderings, he reached New 
Caledonia, a fever-stricken wreck, possessed of a twisted, brain 
filled with horrors and strange stories of the terrific battle of "One­
legged" N iven. Ever he. babbled of burning ships, of sinking ships, 
of the Mclvor Escort Robbery, and indeed of a series of outrages 
that a l l  go to prove that the man was none other than Grey 
himself. 

Then, it might be asked, why wasn't he apprehended. In this 
regard it should  be remembered that in 1854 there was no trans­
ocean cable, _and of course no radio communication. In the United 
States of America there was but one telegraph l ine. It was experi­
mental and measured a mile! News didn't circulate, but stayed 
where it happened. At that scrappy notes in a disrespectful old 
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woman's diary, �O years alter the "�Iadagascar's" disappearance, 
scarcely amounted to ne,,·s. J t  was not t i l l  I fluked across the New 
Caledonian mining engineer's account of a demented old man's 
ravings that the New Zealand ·woman's diary assumed any impor­
tance. Meanwhile another �O years had elapsed, or• a total of -10 
since the doomed vessel came to rest on the Pacific floor. 

In the early '90's the world's news service was but l ittle better 
organised than in the early '70's, when the New Zealand diary 
was brought to l ight. In  any case 40 years is a goodish ·while. Only 
direct relatives of the missing ones would now be concerned, and 
how few they would be . .  -\gain, how smal l  a proportion of that 
reduced number would e\'er hear of the revelations of the years 
mentioned. 

\Vhat a calamitous failure was the attempt on the ·"Madagascar." 
Al l  concerned reaped but death and disaster, as they deserved. 

?\Ianf a heavy tragedian of the past has had his history recounted 
in this magazine, but I think the "cast" has l isted nobody worse 
than Joseph Grey. J wish it to be distinctly understood that I 
speak without bias, bile, or prejudice, but when I think of Joe 
Grey I become convinced that the hanging penalty is too kindly, 
and indeed fu l l  of faults. One trouble is that early in the ceremony 
the patient falls dead and is at once clear of a l l  troubles. J n a 
word or two, it is too rn·ift: 

Even in death was there forgiveness for Joseph Grey? Had he a 
friend in the entire world? Can't say for certain, but this I ' l l  
swear to-that 1 can think o f  nobody more difficult to imagme 
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under a violet strewn mound, 'neath the clustering foliage of a 
fashionable cemetery, where on occa:sion some kind friend went 
to sorrow a little for the man who had gone before, maybe leave 
a token of everlasting remembrance. 

THE END. 
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